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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
MARKET DATA SUMMARY
TSX (SYMBOL: EZM)
CURRENT MARKET PRICE: (August 25,

AMEX (SYMBOL: EZM)

52-Week

2006)

High:
CDN$ 3.49 /US$3.25
Low:
CDN$ 0.77/ US$1.05

TSX: CDN$ 3.31

AMEX: US$ 2.97
STOCK RATING:
MARKET OUTPERFORMER

INDUSTRY OUTPERFORMER

EZM VS. S&P TSX COMPOSITE

EZM VS. S&P TSX CAPPED MATERIALS

VALUATION SUMMARY
MARKET MULTIPLE APPROACH
(Based on 2007P)
CAPM Assumptions: Cost of Capital: 8.8%
MULTIPLE APPROACH

Based on Industry P/E Average
(Value in US$)
Normal Forward P/E (Based on CAPM)
Normal Trailing P/E (Based on CAPM)

UNDERVALUED

2 YEAR
FORWARD
P/E
(Industry
Average 7.6)
9.3

2 YEAR
FORWARD
P/CF
(Industry
Average 5.5)
7.2

2 YEAR
FORWARD
P/SALES
(Industry
Average 2.9)
8.6

2 YEAR
FORWARD
EV/EBITDA
(Industry
Average 4.8)
9.2

4.36
4.18

VALUATION BASED ON MODELS:
UNDERVALUED
Assumptions: Cost of Capital: 8.8%, Sustainable Growth Rate: 6.5%
(Value in US$)
MODELS
Based on 2006P
Based on 2007P

2006 YEAR END
CONSENSUS
PRICE US$ 5.8

DISCOUNT
CASHFLOW MODEL
4.35
6.75

FREE CASH FLOW
MODEL
4.65
7.80

TARGET ACQUISITION PRICE RANGE
US$ 4.00-4.25

1

RESIDUAL INCOME
MODEL
8.44
16.90

DOWNSIDE RISK
PRICE US$ 2.38
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EUROZINC: LONG-TERM VALUATION INDICATORS
VALUE (US$ '000)
MARKET
CAPITALIZATION
(CURRENT, SEPT. 6, '06)
NET WORTH
ENTERPRISE VALUE
MARKET CAP/2005P NETWORTH
MARKET CAP/2005P EV
MARKET CAP/2007P NETWORTH
MARKET CAP/2007P EV

2007P

2006P

2005

2004

1,653.10
670.04
764.94

545.45
639.25

231.03
420.99
7.16
3.93

137.25
390.61

2.47
2.16

BASED ON RESERVES
PROVEN, MEASURED & INFERRED TONNES
RESERVE VALUATION
('000)

L-T
AVG. VALUE (US$ '000)
PRICE(US$)

COPPER
ZINC
TOTAL

1.04
0.53

23913
32720

NET POTENTIAL
EARNINGS OVER
LIFE* (US$ '000)

54,128,510.28
37,743,992.40
91,872,502.68

22,049,400.64

PROVEN RESERVE/

CURRENT MARKET CAP MULTIPLE

55.6

13.3

2006P NET WORTH MULTIPLE
2006P EV MULTIPLE

168.4
143.7

40.4
34.49

PROBABLE & INDICATED RESERVE TONNES
VALUATION
('000)

L-T
AVG. VALUE (US$ '000)
PRICE(US$)

COPPER
ZINC
TOTAL

1.04
0.53

29448
67454

TOTAL PROVEN AND PROBABLE
RESERVE/

66,657,314.88
77,811,224.43
144,468,539.31
VALUE (US$ '000)

NET POTENTIAL
EARNINGS OVER
LIFE* (US$ '000)
34,672,449.43
NET POTENTIAL
EARNINGS OVER
LIFE* (US$ '000)

236,341,041.99

56,721,850.08

TOTAL
CURRENT MARKET CAP MULTIPLE

143.0

34.3

2006P NET WORTH MULTIPLE
2006P EV MULTIPLE

433.30
369.72

103.99
88.73

Note : Net Potential Earnings Over Life has been calculated at a net margin of 24% against 38.8% of
2006P net margin.
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KEY FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL PARAMETERS AT A
GLANCE
SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS
Property/Plant/Equipment, Total - Net
Total Equity
Total Long Term Liabilities

(MILLION US$)

700.0
600.0
500.0
400.0
300.0
200.0
100.0
0.0

2007P

2006P

2005

2004

YEAR

REVENUE AND INCOME INDICATORS
Total Revenue

(MILLION US$)

1000

Operating Income

Net Income

800
600
400
200
0
2007P

2006P

2005

2004

YEA R

RETURN INDICATORS
350%

Return on Investment
Return on Equity
Return on Share Capital

PER CENT

300%
250%
200%
150%
100%
50%
0%
2007P

2006P

2005

2004

YEAR
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70.0%

MARGIN INDICATORS

60.0%

PER CENT

50.0%
40.0%
30.0%
20.0%

EBIDTA Margin
Net Profit Margin

10.0%

EBIT Margin

0.0%
2006P

100%

2005

YEAR

2004

350%

DUPONT ANALYSIS

300%

PER CENT

80%

250%

60%

200%

40%

150%
100%

20%

PER CENT

2007P

50%

0%

0%
2007P

2006P

Net Profit Margin
Return on Equity

2005
YEAR

2004
Revenue to Total Assets
Total Assets/Total Equity

CAPEX/ASSET RETURN INDICATORS
250.0%
PER CENT

200.0%
150.0%
100.0%
50.0%
0.0%

2007P

Return on Investment

2006P

Net Earnings/CAPEX

2005

2004

Operating Cash Flow/ Gross Fixed Assets
YEAR
Operating Cash Flow/CAPEX
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500%

GROWTH INDICATORS

400%

Revenue Growth
Net Earnings Growth

PER CENT

300%

CAPEX Growth

200%
100%
0%
2007P

2006P

2005

-100%
YEAR

ASSET/ASSET DEPLETION TO REVENUE INDICATORS

100%

PER CENT

80%
60%
40%
20%
0%
2007P

2006P

2005

2004

YEAR
Assets

Revenue to Total
Operating Cash Flow/ Gross Fixed Assets
Dep. & Dev. Expenses/Revenue

LIQUIDITY INDICATORS
250%

PER CENT

200%
150%
100%
50%
0%
2007P

2006P

2005

2004

YEAR

Current Ratio

Quick Ratio
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LIABILITY SUSTAINABILITY INDICATORS
160.0%
140.0%

Debt to Total Assets

120.0%

Long-term Debt to Shareholders' Equity

100.0%

Current Liabilities to Shareholders' Equity

80.0%
60.0%
40.0%
20.0%
0.0%
2007P

2006P

2005

2004

YEA R
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BASIC FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL DATA
Annual Income Statement
PARTICULARS
2007P
878.5
217.0
661.5
18.6
12.3
67.8
4.8
13.9
27.9
21.6
383.9
494.6
494.6
132.6
362.1
362.1
362.1
362.1
574.3
0.63
295
1.23

Total Revenue
Cost of Revenue, Total
Gross Profit
Selling/General/Administrative Expense
Research & Development
Depreciation
Interest Expense - Operating
Investment Income - Operating
Unrealized Losses (Gains)
Other Operating Expenses, Total
Total Operating Expense
Operating Income
Net Income Before Taxes
Provision for Income Taxes
Net Income After Taxes
Net Income Before Extra. Items
Net Income
Income Available to Com Excl ExtraOrd
Basic Weighted Average Shares
Basic EPS Excluding Extraordinary Items
Diluted Weighted Average Shares
Diluted EPS Excluding ExtraOrd Items

2006P
610.9
162.5
448.4
12.0
9.8
42.2
12.8
8.4
38.9
12.6
299.2
311.7
311.7
74.8
236.9
236.9
236.9
236.9
560.8
0.42
574.3
0.41

Year Ended 12/31
2005
2004
314.93
123.18
112.98
49.68
201.96
73.5
8.88
4.99
0.53
0
23.22
13.3
10.81
8.95
26.52
-6.97
7.56
22.13
5.44
11.28
195.94
103.36
118.99
19.82
118.99
19.82
30.66
4.14
88.34
15.68
88.34
15.68
88.34
15.68
88.34
15.68
523.61
394.91
0.17
0.04
533.23
412.95
0.17
0.04
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Annual Balance Sheet
PARTICULARS
Cash and Short Term Investments
Accounts Receivable - Trade, Net
Total Inventory
Prepaid Expenses
Total Current Assets
Property/Plant/Equipment, Total - Gross
Accumulated Depreciation, Total
Property/Plant/Equipment, Total - Net
Intangibles, Net
Other Long Term Assets, Total
Total Assets
Payable/Accrued
Current Port. of LT Debt/Capital Leases
Income Taxes Payable
Total Current Liabilities
Total Long Term Debt
Other Long Term Liabilities
Total Long Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Common Stock
Retained Earnings (Accumulated Deficit)
Other Equity
Currency Adjustments
Total Equity
Total Liabilities & Shareholders' Equity
Shares Outs - Common Stock Primary Issue
(Million)

2007P
167.2
126.8
48.5
7.9
350.4
524.3
-137.5
386.8
122.4
72.6
932.2
68.2
7.5
85.5
161.2
25.5
75.4
100.9
262.1
95.4
534.2
16.2
24.2
670.0
932.1

2006P
125.5
94.5
36.3
5.2
261.5
386.5
-69.7
316.8
129.7
56.8
764.8
58.4
17.2
64.6
140.2
15.3
63.8
79.1
219.3
178.6
319.7
14.56
32.6
545.45
764.75

295

574.3

Year Ended 12/31
2005
2004
27.6
29.25
66.03
35.07
8.52
17.12
3.04
3.51
105.18
84.94
230.18
224.7
-31.83
-13.51
198.35
211.19
103.03
68
42.03
55.73
448.59
419.86
47.41
42.96
11.23
27.98
21.98
8.23
80.61
79.16
38.91
103.94
98.04
99.52
136.95
203.46
217.56
282.61
150.78
128.39
82.79
-5.55
4.49
4.11
-2.54
14.41
231.03
137.25
448.59
419.86
537.6

479.54
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Annual Cash Flow
PARTICULARS
2007P
362.1
46.8
-22.1
386.8
-114.2
-59.5
-173.7
36.7
37.9
-12.4
-242.9
25.5
-180.7
9.3
41.7
125.5
167.2

Net Income/Starting Line
Net Non-Cash Items
Changes in Working Capital
Cash from Operating Activities
Capital Expenditures
Purchase of Investments
Cash from Investing Activities
Financing Cash Flow Items
Long Term Debt Issued
Long Term Debt Reduction
Equity Buyback & Div.
Long Term Debt, Net
Cash from Financing Activities
Foreign Exchange Effects
Net Change in Cash
Net Cash - Beginning Balance
Net Cash - Ending Balance

2006P
236.9
26.8
-54.9
208.8
-98.9
-58.1
-157
9.5
29.5
-14.2
0
15.3
40.1
6
97.9
27.6
125.5

Year Ended 12/31
2005
2004
88.34
15.68
16.98
38.62
-5.02
-11.82
126.4
42.11
-27.72
-32.06
-9.64
-3.1
-62.21
-223.57
-2.7
-4.05
75.88
172.46
-162.18
-50
0
0
-86.3
122.46
-67.55
205.86
1.71
0.58
-1.65
24.98
29.25
4.27
27.6
29.25
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SHARE STRUCTURE
Shares Issued: 560,849,510
Outstanding: Options: 13, 743,338 exercisable at an average price of $1.19
Fully Diluted: 574,592,848

KEY VALUATION ASSUMPTIONS
Production Estimates:
2006: 195 million pounds of copper, 27 million pounds zinc
2007: 320 million pounds of copper, 48 million pounds of zinc
(1 tonne = 2176.5 pound)

Silver not included in estimates
Price Estimates:
2006: average price $2.8 per pound copper, $1.3 per pound zinc
2007: average price $2.4 per pound copper, $0.9 per pound zinc
Upside Potential:
Beginning July 2006, significant upside potential exists at production
level both from Neves-Corvo and Aljustrel mines. Potential additional
production of lead and silver exists;
Significant exploration opportunities in Iberian Pyrite Belt will add to
further production of copper, zinc, lead and silver, beginning 2008.
Downside Risks:
Though we expect average price/pound of copper and zinc to be range
bound between $2.8 and $2.4, and between $1.3 and $0.9
respectively, further decline in prices of copper and zinc may bring
down valuation levels;
We expect the US Dollar to further strengthen against the Euro during
2006 and remain more or less stable during 2007. Any further
devaluation of US Dollar may impact profitability by 8-12%;
Though exploration and mining cost estimates are based on industry
standards, depending upon the availability of labour and other related
issues, cost of production may increase by 4-5% from the estimated
levels.
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BACKGROUND
EUROZINC IS A CANADIAN-BASED METALS COMPANY, ENGAGED IN THE
ACQUISITION, EXPLORATION, DEVELOPMENT AND MINING OF BASE
METAL DEPOSITS INTERNATIONALLY
EuroZinc owns and operates the Neves-Corvo copper/zinc mine and the Aljustrel
zinc/lead/silver mine. Both mines are located in southern Portugal and are
approximately 40 km apart. The Neves-Corvo mine is currently producing
approximately 200 million pounds of contained copper annually, and in July of
2006 also began producing zinc concentrate at a rate of approximately 55 million
pounds of contained metal annually. The Aljustrel mine is currently on care and
maintenance, however, the mine is expected to be in production by the second
half of 2007. When Aljustrel is in full production by the second half of 2008, it will
be producing approximately 176 million pounds of contained zinc, 40 million
pounds of lead and 1.2 million ounces of silver annually.
History
EuroZinc has been active in Portugal since 1994. The company first became
interested in acquiring control of the Aljustrel zinc project in 1997. At that time,
Pirites Alentejanas, SA ("PA") the company that has title to the Aljustrel Mining
Assets, was owned 75% by Empresa de Desenvolvimento Mineiro, SA ("EDM"),
the state owned mining company, and 25% by other shareholders. PA had
previously spent US$160 million to develop a new mine, mill, tailings complex,
rail line, port facilities and other assets to produce zinc, lead and copper
concentrates. Operations were suspended in March 1993 after only 18 months of
operation, due to poor metallurgical performance and weak metal prices. The
poor metallurgy was the result of failing to mine to a grade cut-off and grinding
deficiencies.
In 1998, EuroZinc signed an option agreement with EDM and PA to acquire up to
75% of PA by completing a bankable feasibility study aimed at resolving the
previous metallurgical problems and optimizing production. Since that time,
EuroZinc has completed a bankable feasibility study whereby annual production
would be increased from 1.2Mt to 1.8Mt. Zinc and lead ore will be mined
separately from copper ore, with mine production focused on the higher grade
Feitais deposit.
In 2001, EuroZinc completed the acquisition of EDM's 75% interest in PA. More
recently, in November 2002, following a financial restructuring of PA, EuroZinc
increased its ownership to 99% of PA.
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In June 2004, EuroZinc was the successful bidder for the Neves Corvo copper
mine located 40 km south of their Aljustrel project. The operating company that
holds the mine, Sociedade Mineira de Neves Corvo, S.A. (Somincor), was
purchased from Empresa de Desenvolvimento Mineiro, SGPS, SA (EDM) and
Rio Tinto Group (RTZ) for a total price of 128 million Euros.
In December 2004 and January 2005, EuroZinc purchased the price participation
rights for Neves-Corvo from RTZ and EDM for a total of US$48 million. The price
participation was agreed to under the terms of the original purchase agreement
for the mine. The effective date of the purchase was October 1, 2004, so the
second quarterly payment of US$12.4 million, was used to partially pay down the
$48 million loan arranged for the total price participation purchase.

OPERATIONS, RESOURCES AND EXPLORATION
The Neves-Corvo and Aljustrel mines are conveniently located in southern
Portugal, a member country of the European Community. The mines are within
40 kilometres of each other and easily accessed by a new motorway from
international airports at Lisbon and Faro. Rail lines connect the mines to a
concentrate storage facility at the port of Setubál. The mines are well positioned
to provide concentrate to EuroZinc customers around the world.

(Figure1: Location Map of Portugal)
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Iberian Pyrite Belt
The Neves-Corvo and Aljustrel mines are located within the western sector of the
Iberian Pyrite Belt (IPB) that extends from Seville in Spain to south of Lisbon in
Portugal. The 250 kilometres long by 60 kilometres wide belt of rocks is host to
some of the largest volcanogenic-hosted massive sulphide (VHMS) deposits in
the world. The belt contains more zinc and copper per square kilometre than any
other massive sulphide district in the world. Over 85 volcanogenic massive
sulphide deposits are identified in the belt with a bulk tonnage in excess of 1.7
billion tonnes. Seven of the deposits are in excess of 100 million tonnes, which
include Neves-Corvo and Aljustrel.

(Figure 2: Geology of the Iberian Pyrite Belt)

Neves-Corvo Mine
Neves Corvo is an underground polymetallic base metal mine located 40 km
south of EuroZinc's Aljustrel mine. It is one of the largest and highest grade
massive sulphide deposits in the world that was discovered in 1977, put into
production in 1989 and has operated continuously since that time. Mine
production peaked at 2.3 Mtpa in 1998 and is currently 1.8 Mtpa. Annual
production of copper in concentrates is currently around 90,000 tpa.
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Looking Forward - 2006
•
•
•
•

Copper production of 2.01 million tonnes at a projected grade of 4.88%
copper.
Commission zinc plant in July 2006.
Zinc production of 150 thousand tonnes at a projected grade of 9.97%
zinc.
Underground drill program (19,000m) to upgrade inferred resources to the
indicated and measured categories.

Surface drill program (20,000m) to identify extensions to ore-bodies and infill
areas with sparse drilling.
Aljustrel Mine
EuroZinc's owns the Aljustrel Mining Lease, which covers 4 of the 6 massive
sulphide deposits located around the village of Aljustrel. The mining lease
includes associated infrastructure such as a modern mill, underground
development, offices, stocked warehouses, machine shop and use of a
dedicated port storage facility
Looking Forward - 2006
•

•

•

Once the project commences, it is estimated that modifications to the
process facilities would take about twelve months to complete and ready
the plant for start up. Ore from the fully developed Moinho deposit would
be available immediately and would allow for production of approximately
1.4 million tonnes in the first year of production. The higher grade Feitais
deposit would be developed concurrent with the processing facilities and
ready for production in twenty four months, thus bringing the processing
production to 1.8 million tonnes annually in the second year of production.
The current mine life, estimated to be 10 years based on known reserves,
could be much greater when inferred resources are upgraded to indicated
and measured categories, and all deposits have been fully delineated.
Exploration potential in the Aljustrel mine area is considered excellent with
the known deposits open at depth and along strike. Extending the
deposits, as well as upgrading inferred resources to indicated resources,
will be part of an ongoing resource delineation program once the mine is
in production.
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Eurozinc Mineral Resource And Mineral Reserve Statement
Operating Properties
Contained Metal (x1000)
Tonnes Cu
Deposit Category (x1000) %

Pb
%

Zn
%

Ag
g/t

Cu
Pb
Zn
Ag
EZM
Tonnes Tonnes Tonnes Ounces Interest

Mineral Reserves1
NevesCorvo
(Copper)

Proven

6,835

5.73

-

-

-

392

-

-

-

100%

Probable

9,975

5.29

-

-

-

528

-

-

-

100%

16,810 5.47

-

-

-

920

-

-

-

100%

-

7.96

-

-

-

846

-

100%

6.33 0.28 1.44

-

473

21

108

-

100%

Indicated 11,201 5.73 0.24 0.87

-

642

27

97

-

100%

18,672 5.97 0.26 1.1

-

1,115

49

205

-

100%

7,357

-

291

22

42

-

100%

Indicated 26,183 0.58 1.25 6.4 62.48

152

327

1,676

50,885

100%

Inferred

99

338

1,341

46,650

100%

Total
NevesCorvo
(Zinc)

Probable 10,628

-

Mineral Resources2
NevesCorvo
(Copper) Measured
M+I
Inferred
NevesCorvo
(Zinc)

7,471

3.96 0.3 0.57

24,170 0.41 1.4 5.55 62.05

1

Mineral reserves were estimated by Somincor and reviewed by Qualified Person James Drake, P.Eng.
Copper reserves were estimated using a 2% cut-off based on a long term price of US$1.04/lb copper. Zinc
reserves were estimated using a 6% cut-off based on a long term price of US$0.53/lb zinc.
2
Mineral resources were estimated by Somincor and reviewed by Qualified Person Garnet Dawson, P.Geo.
Copper resources were estimated using a 2% cut-off and zinc resources were estimated using a 3.3% cutoff. The measured and indicated mineral resources are inclusive of those mineral resources modified to
produce the mineral reserves.

14
Prepared By:
Dr. S. S. Mohanty
President & CEO
SMART Intl. Holdings, Inc.

Private & Confidential
August 28, 2006

Development Properties
Contained Metal (x1000)
Tonnes Cu
Deposit Category (x1000) %

Pb
%

Zn
%

Ag
g/t

Cu
Pb
Zn
Ag
EZM
Tonnes Tonnes Tonnes Ounces Interest

Mineral Reserves1
Aljustrel
(Zinc) Probable 14,353 0.27 1.78 5.49 62.62

39

255

788

Aljustrel
(Copper) Probable

27,957 99.90%

1,612

2.16 0.26 0.97 14.26

35

4

16

715

99.90%

3,510

0.38 1.72 4.93 49.52

13

60

173

5,588

99.90%

Indicated 16,290 0.24 1.85 5.89 65.81

39

302

959

34,465 99.90%

19,800 0.26 1.83 5.72 62.92

52

362

1,133

40,052 99.90%

5,040

0.3 1.73 5.68 56.64

15

87

287

9,178

99.90%

260

1.82 0.4 1.26 20.33

5

1

3

164

99.90%

Indicated

6,660

2.08 0.35 1.08 17.07

138

23

72

3,536

99.90%

M+I

6,920

2.07 0.35 1.08 17.2

143

24

75

3,702

99.90%

Inferred

1,990

2.11 0.22 0.75 11.65

42

4

15

721

99.90%

Mineral Resources2
Aljustrel
(Zinc) Measured
M+I
Inferred
Aljustrel
(Copper) Measured

1
2

Mineral Reserves were prepared in previous years by Steffen Robertson and Kirsten (Canada) Inc.
and reviewed by Qualified Person James Drake, P. Eng. Zinc reserves were estimated using a
4.5% (Feitais) and 4.0% (Moinho) cut-off. Copper reserves were estimated using a 1.5% cut-off.
Mineral Resources were estimated by Steffen Robertson and Kirsten (Canada) Inc. and Amec
Americas Limited and reviewed by Garnet Dawson, P.Geo. Zinc resources were estimated using a
4.5% cut-off (Feitais) and 4.0% cut-off (Moinho). Copper resources were estimated using a 1.5%
cut-off. The measured and indicated mineral resources are inclusive of those mineral resources
modified to produce the mineral reserves.

Significant Exploration Potential
While the Neves-Corvo deposit has large, high grade copper and zinc resources
and the Aljustrel deposit has a large zinc resource, mining reserves are finite and
they need to be replenished. In the latter part of 2005, the company embarked on
a major exploration program in Portugal and committed US$10 million for mine15
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site and regional exploration work. The program will be carried out on the largest
exploration land package (2,683 square kilometres) amassed by any single
company in the history of exploration in the Iberian Pyrite Belt (IPB) of Portugal.
To complete this work, an experienced geological team was assembled and
exploration drill rigs and crews were mobilized.
Mine-site exploration is focused on identifying new resources down dip of
existing ore-bodies and infill drilling on deposits such as the Lombador that have
only had wide spaced drilling conducted on them to date. In addition to the
20,000 metre surface drilling program initiated in the late 2005, the underground
drilling program will be increased from 10,000 metres to 19,000 metres in 2006.
This drilling program will focus on upgrading the large inferred copper and zinc
resource to the indicated and measured categories to extend the life of mine
(LOM).
Geologists will use the latest geophysical surveys and processing technologies
on one of the most prospective and under-explored mineral belts - the IBP - in
the world today. The company is confident that re-processing this valuable
historic data will identify new targets that will be rapidly tested by drilling.
Why the Iberian Pyrite Belt?
1.
2.
3.
4.

Low Risk with Superb Infrastructure
Prospective Geology
Under Explored
New Technology

1. Low Risk with Superb Infrastructure
EuroZinc's properties are located in Portugal, a European Union country with
stable politics, skilled labor and excellent infrastructure. This infrastructure
includes some of Europe's best highways, abundant thermal and
hydroelectric power, and existing rail and port facilities in close proximity to a
third of the world's smelter capacity. Combined with the synergies of
EuroZinc's existing operations and experience in the region, these excellent
logistics will add immediate value to any new discoveries.
2. Prospective Geology
EuroZinc's mines and surrounding exploration concessions are located within
the western sector of the IPB that extends from Seville in Spain to just south
of Lisbon in Portugal. The 250 kilometre long by 60 kilometre wide belt of
rocks is host to some of the largest volcanogenic massive sulphide (VHMS)
deposits in the world. The belt contains more zinc and copper per square
kilometre than any other massive sulphide district in the world. Over 85
VHMS deposits are identified in the belt with a bulk tonnage in excess of 1.7
billion tonnes. Seven of these deposits are in excess of 100 million tonnes
16
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and include the Company's Neves-Corvo and Aljustrel mines. Neves-Corvo is
the highest grade and along with the Kidd Creek deposit, the largest of the
volcanogenic massive sulphide deposits in the world. In comparison to
Zambian Copper and Iron Oxide Copper Gold (IOCG) deposits, Neves-Corvo
is a medium size deposit, but is higher grade. The porphyry copper deposits
of the world are orders of magnitude larger, however Neves-Corvo is five to
ten times higher in grade.
3. Under Explored
The map of the IPB shows the location of massive sulphide deposits and
highlights the fact that there are a greater number of deposits within Spain as
compared to Portugal. Most of these deposits are exposed at surface and
were known in Roman times. In Portugal, the number of deposits is lower
because the units that host the deposits are frequently overlain by younger
sedimentary units. This feature represents a great opportunity to discover
hidden deposits beneath the sedimentary cover using new geophysical
technology.
4. New Technology
In the last ten years, there have been many technical advances made in the
modeling of gravity data, which is the geophysical method responsible for
identifying most of the covered massive sulphide deposits in the IPB.
Geophysical data such as gravity, magnetics and induced polarization are
now modeled using a process called three dimensional inversions, which
produce maps that more accurately portray the earths underlying physical
properties than those produced only a few years ago. This technology
provides a unique opportunity to re-process the enormous existing
geophysical database to identify new targets over EuroZinc's large land
holdings.
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Figure 3: Map of the Iberian Pyrite Belt showing massive sulphide deposits as red dots and
EuroZinc's extensive land holdings in yellow outline.

Regional Exploration
The Malhadinha, Neves, Albernoa, Mertola and Alcoutim five concessions
(2,683 square kilometres) cover most of the prospective IPB stratigraphy from
the Portuguese border northwest to the Lousal mine, a distance of over 100
kilometres.
Presently our geologists are compiling the historic geological, geochemical
and geophysical database in a geographic information system (GIS) and are
also re-processing all the gravity and magnetic data using three dimensional
inversion software. As most of the covered deposits in the IPB have been
discovered by drilling gravity targets, the Company is encouraged that the reprocessed historic gravity combined with geological knowledge will lead to
new targets that will be tested by more detailed geophysical work and/or
diamond drilling.
Mine-site Exploration
Neves-Corvo
The Neves-Corvo deposit consists of the Neves, Graça, Lombador, Corvo
and Zambujal orebodies that contain separate zones enriched in copper, zinc
and tin (Fig. 2). The 2005 mine-site exploration program consisted of both
underground and surface diamond drilling programs. The underground
program (approximately 10,000m) was focused primarily on upgrading the
18
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copper resource at Zambujal from inferred to the indicated and measured
category to be included in the LOM plan. The program was successful in
increasing the total copper metal of the Zambujal deposit by 23%, copper
grade by 28%, zinc grade by 42% and converting 70% of the inferred
resources to the measured and indicated categories from the December 31,
2004 resource statement. The increase in grade was a result of the detailed
infill drilling as exemplified on the section below where two widely (290m)
spaced surface drill holes intersected thin intervals of moderate grade copper
mineralization (Fig. 3). Underground infill drilling on this section between the
two surface drill holes has identified a thick and high grade polymetallic zone
that averages 21 metres in true thickness and grades 13.1% copper and
7.6% zinc.

Figure 3: Surface Projection of Neves-Corvo orebodies.
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Figure 4: Zambujal section showing surface and underground infill drill intersections.

The 2005 surface drill program targeted the area between Graça and Neves
orebodies, and the open western edge of the Neves orebody. Four drill holes
(1,962m) were completed between Graça and Neves with the best hole
located midway between these two deposits intersecting 7.2 metres grading
1.63% copper and 3.47% zinc. This hole is located over 250 metres from the
nearest intersection and opens up a new area that will require additional
drilling.
Eight drill holes were completed along the western edge of the Neves deposit.
Mineralization was intersected in six of the eight holes with the best hole
intersecting 10.6 metres (true width) grading 6.1% copper and 2.37% zinc.
This intersection is located 52 metres southeast of a surface drill hole that
intersected 5.2 metres grading 11.6% copper and 110 metres southeast of a
surface drill hole that intersected 4.35 metres grading 7.1% copper.
Aljustrel
The Aljustrel Project consists of five deposits of which two were the focus of
an extensive drilling and metallurgical program as part of the original
feasibility study. An underground infill drill program (6,702m) was completed
on the Moinho deposit in 2005. The program was designed to upgrade the
existing resource identified in the SRK feasibility study between the 265 and
400 Level to the measured category so that detailed stope design could be
completed. This program was successful in converting the existing indicated
resource to the measure category and added additional reserves to the
Aljustrel LOM plan.
Numerous targets that could add additional resources to the current large
resource base have been identified and require follow-up diamond drilling.
Targets include:
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•
•
•

Copper stockwork mineralization along the lower edge of the Feitais
deposit below the 400 Level.
Zinc mineralization down plunge of the existing Feitais resource to the
Represa Fault.
Infill drilling and delineation of the Estação deposit that is currently
intersected by widely spaced drill holes.

Figure 5: Surface projection of Aljustrel orebodies.
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INDUSTRY TREND
Copper
With the advent of information age, copper has occupied center stage. Copper
has a wide range of attributes, which is why it has so many applications today. It
was found to be a very efficient conductor of electricity and heat as well as being
flexible, strong, durable and resistant to corrosion. As such it has been key to
many of man's technological advances, the two biggest being telegraphic
communications and electricity. But it is also widely used for heating, air
conditioning, plumbing, roofing, brass fittings and for so much of the electrical
environment we now take for granted: TV, radio, lighting, computers, mobile
phones etc all require copper wiring, electrical leads, adapters, transformers and
motors. Various copper compounds and chemicals are also used to protect
plants and crops and to preserve wood.
It has become the dark horse champion of our unfolding commodities bull. As of
all their respective bull highs this past May, copper was up 3.1x more than gold,
2.3x more than silver, and 2.6x more than platinum. Global demand for copper is
rising rapidly, primarily because of the enormous amounts of this key metal
required in the industrialization of Asia. The global demand for copper is
expected to rise at a rate of 8.5-12.5 per cent in the next five years. Yet global
supplies remain constrained. Copper prices were so low for so long that few
incentives existed for miners to keep exploring for new copper projects. And
even with miners scrambling to bring new copper mines online today, it will take
many years for supply to catch up with surging demand.
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Demand
Between 1900 and 2000, copper demand grew from 500,000 tonnes to around
13,000,000 tonnes, with growth accelerating since the 1950's. With some many
widespread uses it is not surprising copper demand keeps growing and now with
China, India and many other developing countries starting to industrialize and
urbanize, demand is likely to grow from strength to strength. Per capita demand
for copper rises as GDP per capita rises. Japan consumes around 12kg per
capita, North America consumers around 10kg per capita and Europe around
9kg per capita. The large populations of China, India, Eastern Europe and South
America are all consuming less than 2kg per capita - this is a huge indicator of
what lies ahead for copper demand.
Supply
Copper is not a particularly rare metal and it is produced in many countries, Chart
2 shows the major primary suppliers of copper. Today copper supply is made up
from two sources, the majority, 88%, comes from primary production, that new
copper that is mined from the ground, but of growing importance is secondary
supply which accounts for 12% of total refined copper supply. Secondary supply
comes from recycling copper scrap.
``Rising global industrial production and continued supply constraints against the
backdrop of low inventory levels is having a major impact on price levels,'' a
Deutsche Bank analysts said. There is ``a strengthening market conviction that
prices will remain high for considerably longer than was anticipated earlier in the
cycle,'' they said. The chart of LME warehouse levels for copper can be found
below: -
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Copper production has stalled at mines in Mexico and Myanmar, and inventories
monitored by London, New York and Shanghai are equal to less than four days
of global supply. Zinc stockpiles tracked by the LME have plunged 53 percent in
the past 12 months. ``Permitting delays, supply chain scarcity and rising labor
and capital costs of expansion are putting additional strain on producers' ability to
respond to strong demand growth,'' the Deutsche report said. This year marks
the fifth year of rising base metal prices spurred by above-trend industrial
production growth in Brazil, Russia, India and China, it said.
RBC Capital raised its forecast for copper by 79 percent to $2.50 per pound in
2007, 56 percent in 2008 and 57 in 2009. The bank raised its forecast for nickel
19 percent to $7.75 a pound in 2006, 15 percent in 2007 and 10 percent in 2008.
It raised its estimate for aluminum by 14 percent to $1.2 a pound for 2006.
Just as the bull market in this pure industrial metal with no investment cachet has
been totally unique, so are its resulting technicals. Copper has done wondrous
things in the last few years that I have never seen anywhere else, its
fundamentals so strong that it has defied typical market behavior. It is utterly
fascinating!
Copper’s magnificent bull market since late 2001, in which it has rocketed an
unbelievable 575% higher as of this past May, has had two distinct stages.
There was the pre-parabola stage running into late 2005 and then the parabola
stage running for the past year. To best analyze copper technicals, we really
need to look at these two distinct stages individually. Somewhat surprisingly,
they do bear much in common upon close examination.
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This initial chart shows the strategic overview of the entire copper bull to date,
which has clearly shot parabolic in 2006. The two shaded areas highlight the
specific sections of the copper bull covered by the following two charts.
The red line is relative copper, or copper divided by its 200-day moving average.
Copper’s bull, especially since 2003, has been extraordinary in a multitude of
ways.
While you’d be hard-pressed to find a more extreme example of a commodity
price going parabolic, copper has exhibited a stubborn resiliency that greatly
reduces the odds it will crash. Although crashes are the normal expected
aftermath after major parabolic ascents, copper has defied the odds twice now.
Instead of swiftly collapsing back down to its 200dma after parabolic tops, copper
has instead just nonchalantly consolidated sideways.
Note above that since its bull began copper has spent virtually no time under its
200dma. The red rCopper line barely ever hits 1.00 relative. No matter how fast
copper has been rising, no matter how steep its upslope becomes, copper
steadfastly refuses to fall hard and fast. Rather than rapidly returning to its
200dma as is typical in these situations, copper just casually wanders forward in
high consolidations and forces its 200dma to rise to catch up with it.
Interestingly the late 2003/early 2004 copper up leg, the first of its bull market
really, was considered a parabolic ascent at the time. While it looks small now in
comparison thanks to our latest massive parabola, at the time it was enormous
and considered highly unsustainable. Yet copper defied popular predictions of
doom at the time and consolidated into the future rather than crashing down
sharply.
This proxy for parabolic extremeness is used in both charts below to compare the
2003/2004 parabola with our latest specimen of 2006. It is probably hard to
believe after the stunning copper parabola of 2006, but the 2003/2004 copper
surge was considered at the time to be an unsustainable parabola, a one-time
anomaly due to Chinese demand and particular supply disruptions.
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The copper bull market started without fanfare in late 2001, and gradually
marched higher in an initial modest uptrend for the next couple years. As you
probably recall, back in 2002 and 2003 gold was the primary commodities bull
capturing traders’ imaginations. Gold gradually broke above $300, $325, $350,
and $375 over this period of time and gold stocks were skyrocketing. Copper
was ignored, yet it continued higher anyway in its stealth bull.
By late 2003 copper broke out of its initial modest uptrend and started climbing
rapidly higher. Insatiable demand out of China, at high levels the industry had
not expected, led to the rapid depletion of above-ground copper inventories. As
inventories plunged, copper prices climbed relentlessly. In October 2003 this
demand-driven rally went parabolic on news that a lethal rockslide slowed
production at the third largest copper mine in the world in Indonesia. It was the
perfect storm at the time.
In its final parabolic ascent marked above by the blue arrowheads, copper
soared 58% over 67 trading days, or just under 0.9% per day on average. This
totally crazy spike higher, the largest and steepest in nearly two decades, sure
looked unsustainable at the time. It had blasted rCopper up to 1.527x copper’s
200dma and most folks at the time, including me, figured copper would probably
fall rapidly as the supply disruptions ended.
But amazingly it didn’t! Global copper demand remained strong and supplies
could not keep up, so copper did something that is almost never seen off of
parabolic tops. Rather than crashing lower, copper started trading sideways in a
peculiar peak consolidation. It was a strange event, seemingly telegraphing to
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the world that copper’s multi-decade nominal highs were fundamentally driven,
not just speculative anomalies.
After a couple months largely oscillating between $1.30 to $1.40 per pound,
copper finally retreated modestly. But instead of correcting to its 200dma as
bulls are wont to do, it soon started trending higher in a high consolidation. This
event was wild and totally unexpected. Copper demand was so strong worldwide
relative to supply that it just couldn’t crash or correct hard like a normal bull.
Copper’s high consolidation continued into mid-2004. It was climbing on balance
and forcing its 200dma to rise to play catch up. Incredibly, in less than three
quarters after copper’s early March 2004 parabolic top, it was already carving
fresh new bull-to-date highs! Just after this surge to new highs in early October,
copper finally corrected a bit and kissed its 200dma briefly.
Thus copper took its sweet time, about eight months, to revisit its 200dma after
its parabolic top. There was no crash and not really any meaningful correction.
Copper had simply rocketed up in a parabola and plateaued, which is not the
expected response after a parabola unfolds. I believe that this was only possible
because global copper demand was growing far faster than copper supply so
fundamentals overwhelmed any skittish speculators selling ahead of the
expected sharp correction.
And even copper’s plateauing behavior was unique. Check out the red rCopper
line above. For much of 2004 and 2005 copper traded in a fairly fixed
consolidation range above its 200dma. While copper’s 200dma was running
inexorably higher and trying to catch up with the manic metal, copper kept on
rising out in front of it.
Despite its relatively tiny following among speculators compared to gold or oil,
fundamentals kept driving it relentlessly higher on balance. Copper broke out of
this new uptrend in late 2005.
This yields some interesting trading observations. Since 2003, copper has only
approached its 200dma four times. Three of these times were exceedingly brief
too, a matter of days where copper flirted with its 200dma. If copper continues
this behavior into the future, which is entirely possible given its continuing
structural deficit worldwide, traders cannot wait for conventional 200dma
pullbacks to buy copper or copper stocks.
Its purely industrial supply/demand profile largely untainted by speculative
emotion-driven buying and selling has led copper to keep marching higher on
balance regardless of technical norms. Interestingly this extraordinary behavior
we witnessed from 2002 to 2005 has continued in copper’s latest mighty
parabola of 2006. Like an air bubble under water, copper just seems to want to
naturally rise. Apparently you can’t keep a good metal down.
Prepared By:
28

Dr. S. S. Mohanty
President & CEO
SMART Intl. Holdings, Inc.

Private & Confidential
August 28, 2006

These charts overlap slightly, so we’ll start the next step of our technical journey
in August 2005. Copper was near its upper resistance rendered on the previous
chart and was threatening to break out. Its first attempt failed though so
speculators sold, leading to a modest pullback that took it to 1.082x relative,
nearly within 8% of its 200dma. This was the best buying opportunity in copper
last autumn, and it only lasted a few days.
Copper then continued higher in a strong but reasonable uptrend. From its
September lows to early February the oft-ignored base metal climbed 40% to
new all-time nominal highs up above $2.30. Copper then started trading
sideways for the next six weeks in what looked like an apparent topping
consolidation. This is where things get a bit tricky and correlation analysis comes
into play. The correlation I am interested in is between copper and gold.
Gold topped February 2nd at $572 while copper topped February 6th at $2.34.
At the time these looked like the real interim tops. Gold would trade sideways for
the next couple months, not closing above its early February highs until the very
end of March. Copper largely did the same, not seeing closes above $2.34 until
late in March, about 8 trading days before gold’s own new bull highs were
achieved. Due to this sideways action in both metals, they appeared to be
consolidating after topping.
But in late March gold started moving again, and the whole metals complex
including copper sparked to life in sympathy. I believe the reason gold started
soaring in its own parabola was because the dollar started sliding in late March
Prepared By:
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ahead of gold’s renewed vigor. For our Zeal Intelligence subscribers, I discussed
this thesis in depth in the June 2006 ZI, looking at gold, the dollar, silver, copper,
and the HUI technically. Gold appeared to be the ringleader.
With gold moving, copper followed as metals speculators poured into it. The
resulting final ascent marked above saw copper rocket up 86% in just 45 trading
days, a staggering 1.9% per day average parabolic pace! Copper advanced so
fast that it ultimately reached 1.841x its 200dma on May 11th, incidentally the
very day gold and silver topped, before it started retreating. If there was ever a
time for a copper crash, this was it.
If you look at the charts and/or read the 6/06 ZI, it is pretty evident that copper
was pretty tightly correlated with gold leading up to the May 11th interim highs.
After May 11th both gold and silver started falling sharply. If copper was playing
gold’s game, it should have done the same. Yet instead of following in a steep
slide, copper started consolidating sideways in another peak consolidation similar
to 2003/2004. It was incredible.
Copper, which had just shot vertical into an incredibly aggressive parabola as the
first chart showed, once again reasserted its behavior of ignoring the high odds
for a crash and instead nonchalantly loitered around its all-time highs. Such a
sharp move suggests copper’s stunning parabolic ascent had to be partially
speculator-driven, but despite this copper supply and demand was bullish
enough to let it hover near highs while gold fell. So during this peak
consolidation in May copper was once again decoupled from gold.
Then June rolled around, and gold abruptly plummeted down to its 200dma.
Copper fell in sympathy but to a much more modest degree. Copper reasserted
its curious independence from normal technical probabilities and bounced at
1.28x above its 200dma in June, very high for an interim bottom. Then it climbed
higher and has since entered another high consolidation, although this one is
trending lower at the moment just like gold’s. Copper has since meandered
around $3.50, levels that would have seemed absurd six months ago, as if they
were nothing.
These recent competing crosscurrents in copper are fascinating. Some of the
time copper behaves like it has in previous years, generally rising on balance and
seemingly incapable of sharp falls. After any copper rally, no matter how steep
or technically crazy, copper just hangs out at its dazzling new highs casually.
And then it gradually meanders sideways, in no hurry, and forces its 200dma to
rise to catch up with it rather than the usual process of a 200dma dragging down
a price after a high.
But there have also been other times in the last six months when copper seems
to be held hostage by gold. Wherever investors and speculators drive the gold
price, copper follows like a lost puppy. But copper’s upward tendencies still
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shine through here to some degree too. It tends to far outperform gold during
both up episodes and down episodes, climbing higher than gold in the former
and falling less than gold in the latter.
The really exciting and crazy thing about all this is it is still not yet widely known!
Copper stocks are generally tremendous bargains today in valuation terms,
almost as cheap as oil stocks. Since the thundering herd hasn’t caught wind of
the whole wild copper scene yet, vast opportunities still exist in copper stocks.
Zinc
The use of zinc is widespread, and its demand has increased significantly over
the past 30 years. Steady 4% annual increase in consumption has replaced the
historic norm of 2%. Zinc's primary use is in the galvanizing process of steel. The
largest markets for galvanized steel are the housing and automobile industries.
As the commercial and residential construction sector continues to grow due to
the modernization of peoples all over the world, the increasing demand for zinc is
a matter of fact. Zinc is found in microwave and cellular towers, steel beams,
studs, floor joints, trusses, and galvanized electric circuits. Die cast zinc parts are
found in automobiles, computers, tools and all types of appliances. As an alloy of
lead, copper, tin, lead, aluminum, or magnesium, zinc also plays a role in the
electrical and consumer product industries. But that's not all, zinc is also used in
manufacturing of batteries, rubber goods, cosmetics, chemicals, and
pharmaceuticals. Furthermore, since zinc is an essential nutrient for all living
things, it is often used in vitamin supplements, animal feed, and fertilizers.
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CRU International has recently forecast that 2.5 million tons of new annual zinc
mine production must be attained by the year 2007 in order to fill in the
supply/demand gap. Because few of the large zinc mines are at this moment
committed to production due to the low market price of zinc, it is highly unlikely
that this demand will be met in time. It takes 10-15 years for newly discovered
zinc deposits to reach the production stage, and very few discoveries have been
made in the past 10 years. Of those few who have the possibility of becoming
producers by 2010, higher zinc prices are required to speed up the process,
since it will confirm the bull market, satisfy feasibility requirements, and allow for
a much easier financing of the capital-intensive mines.
Currently the LME zinc inventory is about 540,000 tons, down about 250,000
tons since its peak in April of 2004. If inventory levels continue to decline, the
price must increase to curb the excess demand. The chart of LME warehouse
levels for zinc can be found below: -

Interestingly zinc’s parallel parabolic surge is even more extreme than copper’s!
This metal skyrocketed 98% in just 58 trading days and ultimately crested at
unthinkable levels over twice as high as its baseline 200-day moving average.
Like in copper though, such incredibly fast surges leading to verticality are never
sustainable. Zinc’s necessary correction to rebalance its sentiment has already
started.
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Now what are the odds that zinc was so horribly undervalued fundamentally at
$0.91 in February that it had to double over the next few months to reach fair
value on a pure supply and demand basis? Pretty slim. Industrial users of zinc
know about how much they will need months or years in advance so they
gradually buy and lock in their prices with futures. It is only speculators that can
and will buy aggressively enough to spawn a true parabola, an enormous surge
in a very short period of time.
At any time, even at the apex of a parabola, prices can only do one of three
things, rise, flat-line, or fall. To rise, regardless of where a price is, new buy
orders have to continue to outnumber sell orders. Thus for zinc’s parabola to
extend higher, some big buyers have to come in and not only absorb all the
speculative sell orders from funds realizing their profits but provide marginal
demand on top of that. As the 17% initial slide in zinc over just 6 trading days
has shown, this apparently is not going to happen.
The second possibility is the parabola flat lines, a new price plateau is reached
and prices trade sideways. For this to happen, enough buy orders have to come
in at these stellar zinc prices to totally offset sell orders from speculators locking
in their immense profits. This almost never happens though. If you wanted to
buy zinc either as a speculator or an industrial user, and you thought prices were
heading lower, why not wait a couple weeks or months to try and get a better
price? No one wants to buy once parabolas start faltering.
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Hence the final, and most likely by far, outcome after a parabola is a sharp
correction. At the top, prices seem crazy high to everyone. Speculators sell
aggressively to lock in their profits and sell orders dwarf buy orders so prices
start falling. These falling prices spook other speculators who soon join in lest
they give back all of their gains. This cascading selling starts damaging
sentiment. Buyers don’t come into the market again in volume until prices start
to stabilize after the plunge frightens most of the potential sellers into selling, or
shakes out the weak hands.
RBC Capital, part of the 137-year-old Toronto-based Royal Bank of Canada,
raised its forecast for zinc by 30 percent to $1.30 a pound this year compared
with last year's average price of 63 cents a pound. The bank lifted its 2007
forecast by 17 percent, 40 percent in 2008 and 30 percent in 2009. The zinc
deficit this year may reach 212,000 tons, the report said.
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Prepared By:
Dr. S. S. Mohanty
President & CEO
SMART Intl. Holdings, Inc.

PEER GROUP COMPARISON

Dec 31, 2003
3Yr.
12 Months
Growth
C$ % Change
343
771.4
-2,085
N/A
254
N/A
0.03
N/A
18,909
244.74
0
2.3

LUNDIN MINING CORPORATION

ANNUAL FINANCIALS
Dec 31, 2005
Dec 31, 2004
12 Months
12 Months
us$
us$
197,579
40,738
28,861
4,035
29,963
4,764
0.78
0.21
406,814
327,174
0
0
14.92
5.67

LUN-T
Value in $
33.26
43.92
11.4
1,359,047,869
40,861,331
13.975
2.38

LUNDIN MINING CORPORATION is a mid-tier base
metals mining company with a focus in Europe. Lundin has
a 100% interest in the Zinkgruvan mine in Sweden.
TSX Symbol:
Last Trade: 24 Aug 2006
Rolling 52 Week High
Rolling 52 Week Low
Quoted Market Value
# of Shares Outstanding
P/E Ratio
Earnings/Share (trailing 12 months)

Total Revenue ($000):
Earnings before Interest & Tax ($000)
Profit/Loss ($000):
Earnings per Share:
Total Assets ($000):
Dividends Per Share
Return on Com. Equity:
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Total
Profit/Loss
Earnings
Dividends
Number of

Trailing 12 Month Results
12 Months
12 Months
Mar 31, 2006, Mar 31, 2005, %Change
247,668
80,296
193.1
48,489
7,912
475.19
1.2
0.26
331.5
0
0
40,693,831
34,802,592

AUR RESOURCES INC. is a mining and metal production company which has
interests in and operates the Andacollo mine and the Quebrada Blanca mine in
Chile, and the Duck Pond Mine in Newfoundland, Canada.
TSX Symbol:
Last Trade: 24 Aug 2006
Rolling 52 Week High
Rolling 52 Week Low
Quoted Market Value
# of Shares Outstanding
P/E Ratio
Earnings/Share (trailing 12 months)
Dividend Yield
Indicated Dividend Rate

ANNUAL FINANCIALS

Total Revenue ($000):
Earnings before Interest & Tax ($000):
Profit/Loss ($000):
Earnings per Share:
Total Assets ($000):
Dividends Per Share
Return on Com. Equity:

3Yr.
Growth
% Change
21.21
104.49
117.83
146.05
7.21

PEER GROUP COMPARISON

Dec 31, 2004 Dec 31, 20
12 Months 12 Months
us$
us$
339,887
217,202
147,553
28,719
96,935
10,860
1.03
0.11
574,653
453,582
0.1
0
36.43
4.55

AUR RESOURCES INC.

AUR
Value in $
18.11
21.1
7.65
1,763,219,319
97,361,641
7.117
2.5447
1.657
0.3

Dec 31, 2005
12 Months
us$
456,470
236,164
142,277
1.49
753,381
0.2
37.73
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Trailing 12 Month Results
Total Revenue ($000):
Profit/Loss ($000):
Earnings per Share:
Dividends Per Share
Number of Shares:

12 Months
Jun 30, 2006,
598,534
213,190
2.22
0.1
97,362,000

12 Months
Jun 30, 2005, %Change
389,365
42.26
124,013
58.82
1.31
56.85
0.1
95,251,000

PEER GROUP COMPARISON

Dec 31, 2004 Dec 31, 2
3Yr.
12 Months 12 Months
Growth
C$
C$ % Change
241,142 219,780
0.99
3,704
3,131
N/A
2,624
651
N/A
0.01
0
N/A
287,474 179,593
16.93
0
0
2.21
0.68

BREAKWATER RESOURCES LTD.

BWR-T
Value in $
1.33
1.69
0.32
511,170,573
384,338,777
6.65
0.2

ANNUAL FINANCIALS
Dec 31, 2005
12 Months
C$
315,758
9,037
14,739
0.04
357,157
0
9.69

BREAKWATER RESOURCES LTD. is engaged in the
acquisition, exploration, development and mining of base metal
deposits in the Americas and Northern Africa. Operations
include production and sale of zinc, copper and lead
concentrates which also contain silver and gold.
TSX Symbol:
Last Trade: 24 Aug 2006
Rolling 52 Week High
Rolling 52 Week Low
Quoted Market Value
# of Shares Outstanding
P/E Ratio
Earnings/Share (trailing 12 months)

Total Revenue ($000):
Earnings before Interest & Tax ($000):
Profit/Loss ($000):
Earnings per Share:
Total Assets ($000):
Dividends Per Share
Return on Com. Equity:
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Trailing 12 Month Results
12 Months
12 Months
Dec 31, 2005,
Dec 31, 2004, %Change
316,065
241,142
31.07
14,739
2,624
461.7
0.05
0.01
400
0
0
370,917,489
363,156,000
Total Revenue
Profit/Loss ($000):
Earnings per Share:
Dividends Per
Number of Shares:

PEER GROUP COMPARISON

Dec 31, 2005
12 Months
us$
449,419
243,753
152,818
2.48
746,511
0.08
65.13

Total
Profit/Loss
Earnings
Dividends
Number of

43.92 Rolling 52 W
# Rolling 52 W

Dec 31, 2004 Dec 31, 2
3Yr.
12 Months 12 Months
Growth
us$
us$ % Change
114,508
60,873
93.44
39,027
7,372
N/A
28,010
4,582
N/A
0.47
0.09
N/A
473,061 162,135
78.43
0
0
23.39
6.78

FM-T
Value in $
60
64.54 Rolling 52 Week H
24.1
3,960,829,200
66,013,820
10.857
5.5264
0.6
0.36

FIRST QUANTUM MINERALS LTD.

ANNUAL FINANCIALS

FIRST QUANTUM MINERALS LTD. is a mining and metals company engaged in
mineral exploration, development, mining, smelting and refining. The Company is
focused on the copper and cobalt sectors in Africa.
TSX Symbol:
Last Trade: 24 Aug 2006
Rolling 52 Week High
Rolling 52 Week Low
Quoted Market Value
# of Shares Outstanding
P/E Ratio
Earnings/Share (trailing 12 months)
Dividend Yield
Indicated Dividend Rate

Total Revenue ($000):
Earnings before Interest & Tax ($000):
Profit/Loss ($000):
Earnings per Share:
Total Assets ($000):
Dividends Per Share
Return on Com. Equity:
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43.92 Rolling 52 Week

43.92

Trailing 12 Month Results
12 Months
12 Months
Jun 30, 2006,
Jun 30, 2005, %Change
867,499
193,432
348.48
301,847
73,455
310.93
4.78
1.2
298.33
0.29
0
65,996,000
61,538,000

N/A

N/A

PEER GROUP COMPARISON

Trailing 12 Month Results
12 Months
12 Months
Jun 30, 2006,
Jul 31, 2005, %Change
N/A
3,092
N/A
N/A
-19,376
N/A
N/A
-0.32
N/A
0
0
79,335,724
72,836,681
Total Revenue
Profit/Loss ($000):
Earnings per Share:
Dividends Per Share
Number of Shares:

GAMMON LAKE RESOURCES INC

-0.28
0
0

GAM
Value in $
13.86
21.48
8.4
1,389,863,447
100,278,748

GAMMON LAKE RESOURCES INC. is involved in the
acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties.
TSX Symbol:
Last Trade: 24 Aug 2006
Rolling 52 Week High
Rolling 52 Week Low
Quoted Market Value
# of Shares Outstanding
P/E Ratio
Earnings/Share (trailing 12 months)
Dividend Yield
Indicated Dividend Rate
Dividend Timing Indicator

ANNUAL FINANCIALS
Dec 31, 2005 Jul 31, 20 Jul 31, 20
3Yr.
5 Months 12 Months 12 Months
Growth
C$
C$
C$ % Change
874
1,736
2,657
-15.46
-12,197
-18,571
-6,306
N/A
-11,608
-19,376
-6,958
N/A
-0.16
-0.29
-0.13
N/A
258,956 210,349 112,533
64.74
0
0
0
-14.49
-13.9
-11.02

Total Revenue ($000):
Earnings before Interest & Tax ($000):
Profit/Loss ($000):
Earnings per Share:
Total Assets ($000):
Dividends Per Share
Return on Com. Equity:
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N/A

N/A

PEER GROUP COMPARISON

Trailing 12 Month Results
12 Months
12 Months
Jun 30, 2006, Jun 30, 2005, %Change
662,263
502,656
31.75
-42,032
82,193
-151.14
-0.2
0.4
-150
0
0
217,514,895 217,079,895
Total Revenue ($000):
Profit/Loss ($000):
Earnings per Share:
Dividends Per Share
Number of Shares:

LIONORE MINING INTERNATIONAL LTD.

LIM-T
Value in $
6.9
7.35
4.62
1,503,200,674
217,539,895
-0.4618
0
0

ANNUAL FINANCIALS
Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2 Dec 31, 2
3Yr.
12 Months 12 Months 12 Months
Growth
us$
us$
us$ % Change
550,453 412,982 294,464
87.1
-62,382 127,546
94,464
N/A
-76,414
78,200
57,426
N/A
-0.35
0.4
0.34
N/A
1,070,448 1,273,482 624,229
32.54
0
0
0
-13.82
15.34
20.73

LIONORE MINING INTERNATIONAL
LTD. is an international nickel mining
company with properties in Australia and
southern Africa.
TSX Symbol:
Last Trade: 24 Aug 2006
Rolling 52 Week High
Rolling 52 Week Low
Quoted Market Value
# of Shares Outstanding
P/E Ratio
Earnings/Share (trailing 12 months)
Dividend Yield
Indicated Dividend Rate
Dividend Timing Indicator

Total Revenue ($000):
Earnings before Interest & Tax ($000):
Profit/Loss ($000):
Earnings per Share:
Total Assets ($000):
Dividends Per Share
Return on Com. Equity:
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PEER GROUP COMPARISON

Dec 31, 2004 Dec 31, 2
3Yr.
12 Months 12 Months
Growth
us$
us$ % Change
33,025
11,000 1,329.42
2,358
2,869
N/A
1,229
2,356
N/A
0.01
0.04
N/A
189,078 182,287
62.72
0
0
0.94
2.9

Total Revenue
Profit/Loss ($000):
Earnings per Share:
Dividends Per Share
Number of Shares:

NORTHERN ORION RESOURCES

NNO-T
Value in $
5.03
6.96
2.77
767,231,363
152,531,086
7.514
0.6694

ANNUAL FINANCIALS
Dec 31, 2005
12 Months
us$
53,042
44,667
44,128
0.31
308,973
0
21.34

NORTHERN ORION RESOURCES INC. is engaged in
the development of precious and base metals,
producing copper and gold.
TSX Symbol:
Last Trade: 24 Aug 2006
olling 52 Week High
Rolling 52 Week Low
Quoted Market Value
# of Shares Outstanding
P/E Ratio
Earnings/Share (trailing 12 months)

Total Revenue ($000):
Earnings before Interest & Tax ($000):
Profit/Loss ($000):
Earnings per Share:
Total Assets ($000):
Dividends Per Share
Return on Com. Equity:
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Trailing 12 Month Results
12 Months ended
12 Months
Jun 30, 2006, us$ Jun 30, 2005, %Change
98,732
35,861
154.23
85,863
1,806 3,616.59
0.58
-0.01 9,671.43
0
0
152,531,086
148,476,482

QUADRA MINING LTD. is involved in
the acquisition, exploration and
development of mineral properties.
TSX Symbol:

-1.47

QUA-T
Value in $
11.46
13.35
4.5
429,909,959
37,513,958
N/A

PEER GROUP COMPARISON

12 Months 12 Months
Dec 31, 2005, Dec 31, 200 %Change
213,615
16,873 1,123.75
-2,023
-2,374
31.7
-0.07
0.42
-114.05
0
0
27,345,931 27,156,000

Trailing 12 Month Results

Total Revenue
Profit/Loss ($000):
Earnings per Share:
Dividends Per Share
Number of Shares:

QUADRA MINING LTD.

ANNUAL FINANCIALS
Dec 31, 2005 Dec 31, 2 Dec 31, 2
3Yr.
12 Months 12 Months 12 Months
Growth
us$
us$
us$ % Change
202,030
15,866
19 15,728.30
28,752
-2,063
-308
N/A
-2,023
-2,375
-308
N/A
-0.07
-0.11
-0.15
N/A
262,042 140,817
248 1,536.90
0
0
0
-1.95
-4.62
N/A

Last Trade (24/08/06)
Rolling 52 Week High
Rolling 52 Week Low
Quoted Market Value
# of Shares Outstanding
P/E Ratio
Earnings/Share (trailing 12 months)

Total Revenue ($000):
Earnings before Interest & Tax
Profit/Loss ($000):
Earnings per Share:
Total Assets ($000):
Dividends Per Share
Return on Com. Equity:
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CANADA BASE METAL HOT DEALS

Investment Canada Extends Review of Phelps Dodge-Inco Merger
By Romina Maurino
23 Aug 2006 at 02:07 PM EDT
TORONTO (CP) -- Investment Canada has extended for an additional 30 days its
review of a proposed merger between U.S. copper giant Phelps Dodge Corp.
[NYSE:PD] and Inco Ltd. [TSX:N; NYSE: N], leaving shareholders to vote on the
deal before it clears the last regulatory hurdle.
In a filing with U.S. regulators Wednesday, Phelps said Canada's Industry
Ministry had ''extended the review of our application for an additional 30-day
period as permitted under the Investment Canada Act.''
The merger, valued at C$17.7 billion at Wednesday's prices, needs approvals
from Inco and Phelps shareholders at meetings scheduled for Sept. 7 and Sept.
25.
At least one major Phelps Dodge shareholder, Atticus Capital LP, has said it will
vote against the deal, citing the amount of debt Phelps will take on to proceed
with the transaction.
The review extension comes after numerous twists in what has become one of
the biggest mining mergers in Canadian history, and at one time involved five
players.
Inco's only other suitor now is Brazil's CVRD [NYSE:RIO], which is offering
C$17.5 billion in cash for the company, but the nickel miner had also been
courted by Teck Cominco Ltd. [TSX:TCK.B; NYSE:TCK].
Teck dropped out of the race earlier this month after failing to meet its own stocktender condition in the face of CVRD's all-cash bid.
Inco has consistently backed Phelps Dodge's cash-and-stock offer, but it opened
the door to possible negotiations with CVRD last week.
Analysts give Phelps Dodge only slim chances of succeeding, since investors
often choose cash offers over those that include stocks.
''Everything's certainly gone quiet on the Phelps Dodge front, there doesn't seem
to be anybody else out there making noises, so the market's pretty much
accepted that it's a done deal,'' said Paradigm Capital analyst David Davidson.
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Ray Goldie, a metals analyst with Salman Partners, said the Investment Canada
delay won't change much for Phelps, although it may signal CVRD's own review
by the agency could ''take longer than anyone's anticipated.''
Phelps joined the battle for Inco while the Canadian firm was trying to complete a
merger with onetime rival Falconbridge Ltd. [TSX:FAL], but that company was
won this month by Swiss-based Xstrata PLC [LSE:XTA], which made an all-cash
offer.
On the TSX Wednesday, Inco shares closed unchanged at C$86.25. Phelps
Dodge closed down 91 cents to US$89.13 on the New York Stock Exchange,
while CVRD fell 92 cents to US$20.89.

Teck Cominco Lets Offer for Inco Expire as Shareholders Withhold Support
By Romina Maurino
17 Aug 2006 at 09:58 AM EDT
TORONTO (CP) -- Teck Cominco Ltd. [NYSE:TCK; TSX:TCK.B] let its C$16.5billion offer for Inco Ltd. [NYSE:N; TSX:N] expire Thursday after it failed to rally
enough shareholder support in the face of a competing all-cash bid from Brazil's
CVRD.
Teck, the only Canadian suitor for Inco, said tendered shares will be promptly
returned to stockholders. But it didn't say how many shares were submitted to the
offer, which needed two-thirds support by midnight Wednesday night.
The results came as no surprise as Teck announced Wednesday morning it was
withdrawing a planned C$5.7-billion stock sale that would have allowed it to raise
its bid for Inco.
The offer was worth about C$16.5 billion in cash and Teck stock, or C$82.50 a
share, when it was announced in July, but at Wednesday's closing prices it was
valued at $18.5 billion or C$92.67 a share on the strength of Teck's stock.
The last-minute financing plan failed to win enough support from institutional
investors and, as a result, Teck handed the lead to rival bidder CVRD
[NYSE:RIO], a Brazilian firm that is offering C$17.2 billion in cash for Inco, or
C$86 a share.
CVRD's only remaining competitor is U.S. copper miner Phelps Dodge Corp.
[NYSE:PD], which is offering 0.672 of a share and C$20.25 in cash for Inco - a
deal valued originally at C$15.9 billion but now worth almost C$2 billion more as
Phelps shares have increased in value.
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Phelps was brought into the mix to complete a planned three-way merger with
Inco and Falconbridge Ltd. [NYSE:FAL; TSX:FAL], but Falconbridge ultimately
went to Swiss miner Xstrata PLC [LSE:XTA].
Phelps's bid is backed by Inco's board of directors but is generally considered
weaker because the CVRD bid is all-cash. Inco has since opened the door to
negotiations with CVRD to see if it can negotiate a higher bid.
Analysts said Thursday they weren't surprised by Teck's loss, suggesting that
CVRD would likely have increased its bid and won Inco even if Teck's financing
had been successful.
''When CVRD announced their bid, the balance of power shifted meaningfully,
and the only thing that Teck could have done at that point was leverage up more
to raise the cash bid,'' said Blackmont Capital analyst Larry Smith.
''They weren't willing to do that.''
And while many are focusing on the company's failure, Smith said, he considers
it ''a testament to Teck Cominco management that they weren't willing to (raise
the offer).''
''I kind of applaud them for the stance they took,'' he said. ''I think they had the
financial capacity to bid higher, but they basically drew a line in the sand and
said, 'If we can't do it on this basis, we're not going to do it.'''
In an interview Wednesday, Lindsay himself admitted that CVRD was ''a very
strong company,'' five times the size of Teck, with ''an all-cash bid ... that's pretty
difficult to compete with.''
Another analyst, who asked not to be named, said there wasn't much more Teck
could have done to improve its chances.
''The only thing they could have done, looking back a year, they could have
purchased a 20 per cent in Falconbridge, or they could have gone after Inco they probably would have had a lot better luck,'' he said.
''But you can probably say that about anybody.''
In announcing the virtual withdrawal Wednesday, Teck said it would now move
on to the next set of projects, working its way down a 13-item list of potential
targets or partners.
Analysts say next on that list could be LionOre Mining International [TSX:LIM],
which had planned to buy Falconbridge's Nikkelverk refinery in Norway if a
merger between Inco and Falconbridge had occurred.
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The Dominion Bond Rating Service confirmed Teck Cominco's high rating of
''BBB with a stable trend'' Thursday, saying the ratings ''reflect Teck's solid credit
metrics and strong business profile, absent the acquisition.''
It said Teck ''has historically maintained a solid balance sheet, with good liquidity
and moderate debt levels,'' and pointed to its ''solid portfolio of growth projects
that can add to future cash flow and profitability.''
On the Toronto Stock Exchange on Thursday, Teck shares closed down C$1.02
to C$80, while Inco rose five cents to close at C$86.50.
Phelps Dodge closed down $2 to US$89.94 on the New York Stock Exchange,
and CVRD rose 21 cents to close at US$22.55.
© The Canadian Press 2006
Xstrata Dumps Falconbridge Executives and Board After Takeover
By Romina Maurino
17 Aug 2006 at 09:36 AM EDT
TORONTO (CP) -- Swiss miner Xstrata PLC [LSE:XTA] is getting rid of key
Falconbridge Ltd. [NYSE:FAL; TSX:FAL] executives and board members,
including CEO Derek Pannell, after a successful takeover of the Canadian metals
miner.
Xstrata said Thursday that almost all members of Falconbridge's board of
directors had resigned at its request, with the exception of James Wallace who
will remain.
The board members have been replaced by Xstrata nominees that include chief
legal counsel Benny Levene, as well as executive Thras Moraitis, lawyer William
Ainley and Douglas Knight. Ainley will serve as chairman of the interim board.
Xstrata also said CEO Pannell and chief financial officer Steve Douglas had left
the company, which is now in the hands of Xstrata chief executive Mick Davis.
Falconbridge said it had been notified by the New York Stock Exchange that
trading in its shares will be suspended prior to the commencement of trading on
Aug. 18.
Xstrata gained control of 92.1% of Falconbridge Tuesday, after a heated battle
against Inco Ltd. [NYSE:N; TSX:N] and copper miner Phelps Dodge Corp.
[NYSE:PD].
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It also extended the expiry date of its all-cash offer to Aug. 25 from Aug. 14, to
ensure remaining Falconbridge shareholders can tender their shares.
Xstrata's C$24.8-billion bid trumped a cash-and-stock offer from Inco, which had
been trying to merge with its one-time rival since last October but failed to gather
enough support from shareholders.
Xstrata already owned 20% of Falconbridge and offered C$63.25 a share in
cash, including a special dividend, for the rest.
Falconbridge's board strongly backed the Inco merger throughout the battle,
although it did recommend the Xstrata bid after Inco pulled out of the race in late
July.
Inco itself remains a target in another takeover battle, with Phelps pushing a
friendly merger and facing stiff competition from Brazil's CVRD [NYSE:RIO].
Vancouver's Teck Cominco Ltd. [NYSE:TEK; TSX:TCK.B] had been in the
running to acquire Inco but pulled out Thursday after failing to raise enough
money to top CVRD's offer.
Xstrata has promised to preserve for three years Falconbridge's Canadian nickel,
copper and zinc mining, exploration, research and processing operations, and
not lay off workers at Falconbridge's Sudbury, Ont., operations during that time.
A spokeswoman for Xstrata said Thursday the integration was progressing well,
but did not provide any details.
Falconbridge is one of the world's biggest nickel and copper producers, with
14,500 workers around the world.
On Thursday, Falconbridge shares fell 10 cents to close at C$62.40 on the
Toronto Stock Exchange.
© The Canadian Press 2006
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EUROZINC AND LUNDIN MERGER ANNOUNCEMENT
EuroZinc Mining and Lundin Mining to Merge to Create Premier Copper and
Zinc Producer
02:00 EDT Monday, August 21, 2006
VANCOUVER, BRITISH COLUMBIA--(CCNMatthews - Aug. 21, 2006) EuroZinc Mining Corporation (TSX:EZM)(AMEX:EZM) and Lundin Mining
Corporation (TSX:LUN)(OMX:LUMI) - The merger creates a premier, diversified copper and zinc producer
- Four profitable mines operating in Portugal, Sweden and Ireland; with a fifth
mine, Aljustrel, to commence production in the second half of 2007
- Annual production of approximately 450 million pounds (205,000 tonnes) of
contained zinc and 200 million pounds (90,000 tonnes) of contained copper
- Strong balance sheet with US$270 million in cash and short-term investments,
minimal long-term debt, and significant operating cash flow to facilitate an
aggressive growth strategy
- Management team to reflect the collective strengths of both companies
- Existing EuroZinc and Lundin Mining shareholders will own approximately
56.7% and 43.3%, respectively, of the combined company
EuroZinc Mining Corporation ("EuroZinc") and Lundin Mining Corporation
("Lundin Mining") today announced that they have entered into a definitive
agreement to merge the two companies to create a new global mining company.
The combined company will be called Lundin Mining Corporation and will have a
market capitalization of approximately US$3.0 billion (CDN$3.3 billion), creating
one of the North American and European markets' premier, diversified copper
and zinc producers. The combined company, upon closing, will remain listed on
the Toronto, OMX (Stockholm) and AMEX (application required) stock
exchanges.
Colin K. Benner, Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of EuroZinc, stated:
"This merger adds significantly to both EuroZinc and Lundin Mining's operating
bases. By combining the two companies, our collective strengths will allow us to
further improve the significant operating cash flow from each of the operations.
The combined financial strength and collective expertise of our talented
personnel will allow the new company to pursue global growth opportunities and
fill the market void in the mid-tier mining sector. This combination of companies
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will increase shareholder value and provide greater sustainability for the future.
We are very pleased and excited about the possibilities this merger affords our
collective shareholders and see this as a major step in building a world-class
mining house."
Karl-Axel Waplan, President and Chief Executive Officer of Lundin Mining,
added: "The combined strengths of Lundin Mining and EuroZinc will allow an
acceleration of both companies' aggressive growth strategies. The combined
company will have a world-class portfolio of mining projects, the support of
extensive shareholder bases in both North America and Europe, a very strong
financial position with excellent cash flow, and a highly motivated management
team - creating an exciting, powerful platform for rapid growth. We have a clear
vision of where we want the combined company to go and we intend to both
maximize our existing assets and also continue to pursue other world-class
opportunities globally with the clear objective of creating value for our
shareholders in both the short and the long term."
Diversified Copper and Zinc Production
Upon completion of the transaction, the combined company, Lundin Mining
Corporation, will own and operate a portfolio of four profitable operating mines
plus a fifth mine, Aljustrel, to be reopened for production in the second half of
2007. All of the combined company's mines are located in stable European
jurisdictions: Portugal, Sweden, and Ireland. The combined company will directly
employ approximately 1,500 people.
Including the planned production at Aljustrel, production from the combined
company's operating mines is expected to be approximately 450 million pounds
(205,000 tonnes) of contained zinc, 200 million pounds (90,000 tonnes) of
contained copper, 175 million pounds (80,000 tonnes) of contained lead and 6
million ounces of contained silver on an annualized basis.
In addition to its breadth of operations, the combined company will have an
extensive exploration and development portfolio. Each of the existing mines is
located within large land packages in prolific base metal belts. Furthermore,
through the proposed addition of the Metropol joint venture in Russia, the
combined company will own or have an ownership interest in four of the world's
fifteen largest zinc deposits. The combined management team is highly confident
in the combined company's ability to grow from its present portfolio through both
acquisitions and organic opportunities.
Financial Strength to Facilitate Aggressive Growth Strategy
As at June 30, 2006, the combined company's pro forma financial highlights
include:
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- cash and short-term investments of US$270 million
- total assets of US$2.4 billion
- long-term debt of US$43 million
- total revenue for the first six months of 2006 of US$462 million
- operating cash flow for the first six months of 2006 of US$203 million
This strong financial position will allow the combined company to pursue an
aggressive international growth strategy in global base metals.
Management and Board Reflecting Collective Strength of Both Companies
Colin K. Benner will become Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the
combined company and remain based in Vancouver. Karl-Axel Waplan will
become President and Chief Operating Officer of the combined company and
remain based in Stockholm.
Both EuroZinc and Lundin Mining will be equally represented on the board of the
combined company which, along with Colin K. Benner, will include Lukas Lundin
as Chairman.
Transaction Details
The transaction will be executed through a plan of arrangement. At closing, all
EuroZinc common shares will be automatically exchanged at a ratio of 0.0952
Lundin Mining common shares for each EuroZinc common share. Lundin Mining
shareholders will continue to hold their existing common shares. The combined
company, Lundin Mining Corporation, will trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange,
the OMX (Stockholm Stock Exchange) and will immediately make an application
to be listed on the American Stock Exchange.
Existing EuroZinc and Lundin Mining shareholders will own approximately 56.7%
and 43.3% (56.9% and 43.1%, fully diluted), respectively, of the combined
company. The combined company will have approximately 94.3 million basic
common shares (96.1 million fully diluted common shares) outstanding at the
completion of the merger.
The board of directors of each company have each received a fairness opinion
with respect to the transaction consideration and are recommending approval of
the transaction by their respective shareholders. The transaction is conditional
upon the EuroZinc and Lundin Mining shareholders approving the transaction by
66.7% and 50.1%, respectively, as well as other customary conditions and
regulatory approvals. Special shareholder meetings for each company to vote on
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the transaction are expected to be held in October, 2006. The transaction is
expected to close by late October, 2006.
The definitive agreement includes a commitment by each of EuroZinc and Lundin
Mining not to solicit alternative transactions to the merger. Each company has
agreed to pay a break fee to the other party of US$40 million under certain
circumstances. In addition, each company has granted the other party a right to
match a competing offer. Lundin family interests, holders of approximately 19.9%
of Lundin Mining, and Resource Capital Funds, holder of approximately 9.9% of
EuroZinc, have each pledged their support of the transaction.
Advisors and Counsel
EuroZinc's financial advisor is National Bank Financial Inc. Its counsel is Gowling
Lafleur Henderson LLP, Burns & Levinson LLP, Advokatfirman Vinge KB, Arthur
Cox and Coelho Ribeiro & Associados.
Lundin Mining's financial advisor is Macquarie North America Ltd. Its counsel is
Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP, McCullough O'Connor Irwin LLP, Linklaters
Advokatbyra, Shearman & Sterling LLP and Goncalves Pereira, Castelo Branco
& Associados.
Conference Call and Webcast Information
The two companies will hold a joint telephone conference call with an interactive
presentation at 11:00 AM EST (17:00 PM CET and 08:00 AM PST) on August
21, 2006, where Colin K. Benner, Karl-Axel Waplan and Lukas Lundin will be
discussing the transaction. Please call in 5 minutes before the conference starts
and stay on the line. An operator will be available to assist you.

Call-in number for the conference call
(North America - Toll Free)
+1 866 239 0750
Call-in number for the conference call
(North America)
+1 718 354 1158
Call-in number for the conference call
(Europe)
+46 (0)8 5876 944
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Computershare Trust Company of Canada
510 Burrard Street, 3rd floor
Vancouver, BC V6C 3B9
Tel: 604.661.9400
Fax: 604.661.9401

August 22, 2006
Dear Sirs:

All applicable Exchanges and Commissions

Subject:

EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION

We advise the following with respect to the upcoming Meeting of Shareholders for the subject
Corporation:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Meeting Type
CUSIP/Class of Security entitled to receive notification
CUSIP/Class of Security entitled to vote
Record Date for Notice
Record date for Voting
Beneficial Ownership determination date
Meeting Date
8. Meeting Location

: Special Meeting
: 298804105/CA2988041059/COMMON
: 298804105/CA2988041059/COMMON
: 18 Sep 2006
: 18 Sep 2006
: 18 Sep 2006
: 19 Oct 2006
: Vancouver, BC

Sincerely,

Brian Kim
Meeting Specialist
Client Services Department
Tel: 604.661.9400 Ext 4139
Fax: 604.661.9401
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of EuroZinc Mining
Corporation (“EuroZinc” or the “Company”) has been prepared as of August 9, 2006 and is
intended to supplement and complement the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial
statements and notes for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2006. Please
also refer to the cautionary statement of forward-looking information at the end of the
MD&A. Additional information relating to the Company is available on the SEDAR
website at www.sedar.com. All the financial information in this MD&A is in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”) and all dollar amounts
in the tables, including comparatives, are expressed in thousands of US dollars, unless
otherwise noted.
OVERVIEW
EuroZinc is a Canadian based mining company that owns and operates the Neves-Corvo
copper zinc mine and has commenced development of the Aljustrel zinc/lead/silver mine.
Both of these mines are located in southern Portugal and are within 40 kilometres of each
other. The Neves-Corvo and Aljustrel mines consist of poly-metallic deposits containing,
among other metals, copper, tin, zinc, lead, silver and indium. Neves-Corvo has been a
significant copper concentrate producer since 1989 and added zinc concentrate as of July 3,
2006. The Company commenced development of its Aljustrel zinc lead silver mine in the
second quarter 2006 and expects it to be in production by mid 2007.
HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE SECOND QUARTER 2006
•

Net earnings of $71.6 million or $0.13 (C$0.14) per share;

•

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash working capital items
of $83.1 million or $0.15 (C$0.17) per share (see Non-GAAP measure reconciliation);

•

Cash and cash equivalents increased by $43.1 million to $97.3 million;

•

Working capital increased by $70.8 million to $128.8 million;

•

Development of the Aljustrel mine commenced and debt financing and government
incentives arranged;

•

Zinc production commenced at Neves-Corvo on July 3, 2006; and

•

The Company assembled the largest exploration package in the history of the Iberian
Pyrite Belt with the granting of four new exploration concessions.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
During 2006 the stronger copper prices generated record net earnings, revenues and cash
flows for the second quarter and the first six months:
Net earnings increased 339% for the three months ended June 30, 2006 to $71.6 million,
$0.13 (C$0.14) per share, over net earnings of $16.3 million, $0.03 (C$0.04) per share for the
same period in 2005. Net earnings for the first six months of 2006 were $89.1 million, $0.16
(C$0.18) per share compared with $35.2 million, $0.07 (C$0.08) per share in 2005, a 153%
increase. Net earnings included realized and unrealized (non-cash) losses on derivative
instruments of $38.6 million for the second quarter and $69.6 million for the first six months of
2006 compared with $6.8 million and $13.0 million for the same periods in 2005.
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Revenues were $168.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 compared with
$65.0 million for the same period in 2005, and for the first six months ended June 30, 2006
revenues were $257.4 million compared with $133.7 million in 2005.
The Company generated cash flow from operating activities before changes in non-cash
working capital items of $83.1 million and $123.8 million in the three and six months ended
June 30, 2006, respectively, compared with $23.8 million and $51.5 million for the same
periods in 2005 (see Non-GAAP measure reconciliation). EuroZinc’s cash position increased
to $97.3 million at June 30, 2006, an increase of $43.1 million from March 31, 2006 and an
increase of $69.7 million from December 31, 2005.
SUMMARY OF SELECTED OPERATING AND FINANCIAL DATA
The following table summarizes financial and operating data prepared in accordance with
Canadian GAAP, except for the cash cost information, and is denominated in US dollars,
unless otherwise noted.
Three months ended
June 30,
2006
2005
Operating Data
Mined (000's tonnes)
Milled (000's tonnes)

492
492

983
1,010

495
501

5.05%
88.9%
90
22
24.66%
46,146
21

Average head grade (%)
Average plant recovery (%)
Concentrate produced (000's tonnes)
Copper contained in concentrate (000's tonnes)
Copper concentrate grade (%)
Copper sold (000's of pounds)
Copper sold (000's of tonnes)

Six months ended
June 30,
2006
2005
1,021
1,011

4.60%
89.1%
168
41
24.64%
84,884
39

5.37%
89.4%
98
24
24.38%
49,860
23

5.06%
88.2%
185
45
24.40%
104,150
47

Financial Data
LME average copper price ($/lb)
Realized copper price per pound sold ($/lb) (1)
Cash cost per pound of copper sold (2)
US$/Euro exchange rate (period average) (4)
Cash cost per tonne milled
Revenue (millions) (3)
Net earnings for the period (millions)

$
$
$
$
€
$
$

3.30
3.91
0.83
1.2593
38.80
168.5
71.6

$
$
$
$
€
$
$

1.54
1.54
0.73
1.2598
34.70
65.0
16.3

$
$
$
$
€
$
$

2.76
3.29
0.84
1.2299
37.50
257.4
89.1

$
$
$
$
€
$
$

1.51
1.53
0.75
1.2853
34.10
133.7
35.2

Earnings per share - Basic & Diluted
- C$
- US$

$
$

0.14
0.13

$
$

0.04
0.03

$
$

0.18
0.16

$
$

0.08
0.07

Cash flow per share before changes in non-cash
working capital items
- Basic (C$)
- Basic (US$)

$
$

0.17
0.15

$
$

0.06
0.05

$
$

0.25
0.22

$
$

0.12
0.10

(1) Before smelter treatment and refining charges and after quotation period adjustments
(2) See Non-GAAP measure reconciliation
(3) Net of smelter treatment and refining charges
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Revenue
Higher copper prices generated 159% more revenue in the second quarter ended June 30,
2006, $168.5 million compared with $65.0 million in the second quarter of 2005, despite 7%
fewer pounds of copper being sold. The Company realized a substantially higher average
price of $3.91 per pound of copper sold, net of quotation period adjustment on 46.1 million
pounds of copper sold compared with $1.54 on 49.9 million pounds sold in 2005.
For the first six months of 2006, revenue of $257.4 million was generated on the sale of 84.9
million pounds of copper compared with $133.7 million on 104.2 million pounds of copper in
2005, a 93% increase. A significantly higher realized price of $3.29 per pound of copper sold,
net of quotation period adjustments was realized compared with $1.53 per pound in 2005
resulted in higher revenue in the period despite the fewer pounds sold.
Fewer pounds of copper were sold in the second quarter of 2006 as compared with the same
period in 2005 as 9% fewer tonnes of concentrate were produced of which 2% remained in
inventory at June 30, 2006. As well, in 2005, 9% of sales were drawn from the 2004
concentrate inventory.
Cost of Sales
Cost of sales were higher in the second quarter of 2006 at $26.8 million as compared with
$25.1 million in the second quarter of 2005, as higher costs related to labour, fuel and power
more than offset the reduction in pounds of copper sold. For the six months ended June 30,
2006 cost of sales were lower than in the comparable period of 2005 at $49.5 million versus
$53.8 million as fewer pounds were sold in 2006, which were only partially offset by higher
costs related to labour, fuel and power.
On a unit basis, cost of sales for 2006 was $0.83 and $0.84 per pound of copper for the
second quarter and the first six months, compared to $0.73 and $0.75 per pound in 2005. The
higher per pound cost of sales in 2006 resulted from a combination of fewer payable pounds
of copper being produced, and higher operating costs in labour, fuel and power (see non
GAAP reconciliation).
Production Statistics Neves-Corvo
Total tonnes milled for the second quarter and first six months of 2006 were 492,000 tonnes
and 1,010,000 tonnes, respectively, compared with 501,000 and 1,011,000 tonnes for the
same periods in 2005. The average copper head grade was on plan for the second quarter
and the first six months of 2006, at 5.05% and 4.60%, respectively, but lower than 2005 at
5.37% and 5.06%. The planned head grades for 2006 were lower than 2005 as higher metal
prices supported mining and processing employing a lower cut off grade in mine planning.
The operating cost per tonne of ore milled was €38.80 for the second quarter of 2006 and
€37.50 for the first six months were higher by 12% over the €34.70 in the second quarter of
2005 and 10% higher than the €34.10 for the first half of 2005. The increase was due
primarily to increased labour, power and fuel costs spread over slightly fewer tonnes milled.
Copper recovery and the concentrate grade were 88.9% and 24.66% in the second quarter
compared to 89.4% and 88.2% for the same period in 2005. For the six months of 2006,
copper recovery and concentrate grade were 1% better at 89.1% and 24.64% over the same
period in 2005.
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ROYALTIES
Royalties were significantly higher in the second quarter and first six months of 2006 at $6.8
million and $9.7 million, respectively, as compared with $1.8 million and $3.3 million in the
same periods of 2005. The royalty is calculated on a “net profits” basis and thus the increase
was directly attributable to higher net earnings at the Neves-Corvo mine.
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
Depreciation and amortization expenses were $6.9 million and $13.3 million in the second
quarter and first six months of 2006, respectively, as compared with $6.8 million and $10.4
million for the comparable periods in 2005. The higher depreciation and amortization expense
for the six months was due mainly to a third quarter 2005 revision to the Neves-Corvo life of
mine plan.
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION
General and administration expenses were higher in the second quarter and first six months
of 2006, at $2.9 million and $4.3 million, respectively, as compared with $1.8 million and $3.3
million in 2005 for the comparable periods, mainly due to an increase in non-cash stock-based
compensation.
INTEREST AND OTHER
Interest and other income consist of interest and accretion expense on long term debt,
amortization of deferred financing costs, foreign exchange gains and losses, net of interest
and other income. Interest and other were $3.1 million and $5.6 million in the second quarter
and the first six months of 2006, respectively, as compared to $1.4 million and $3.2 million for
the comparable periods in 2005.
Foreign exchange loss was $4.9 million and $6.5 million for the second quarter and the first
six months in 2006, respectively, as compared to a $1.1 million gain and $2.8 million gain for
the same periods in 2005. The loss in 2006 was due primarily to a stronger Euro currency,
which increased from $1.1842/€1.00 at the beginning of the year to $1.2779/€1.00 at the end
of the second quarter on US dollar denominated working capital amounts.
Interest and accretion on long-term debt was $0.8 million and $1.6 million for the second
quarter and the first six months in 2006, respectively, as compared to a $2.2 million and $4.4
million for the same periods in 2005. The decrease in interest expense was due to the
retirement of bank loans that existed in the first half of 2005.
Amortization of deferred financing costs was $0.3 million and $0.5 million for the second
quarter and the first six months in 2006, respectively, as compared to a $2.0 million and $3.8
million for the same periods in 2005. The decrease in 2006 was due to the retirement of bank
loans, which resulted in the expensing of the related financing costs in 2005.
Interest and other income, net of other expenses, were $2.9 million and $3.0 million for the
second quarter and the first six months in 2006, respectively, as compared to a $1.8 million
and $2.1 million for the same periods in 2005. The increase in the second quarter of 2006
was due primarily to a gain on the settlement of foreign exchange contracts.
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GAIN ON SETTLEMENT OF PRODUCTION LIABILITIES
During the second quarter of 2006, the Company realized a gain of $8.5 million on a
settlement of production liabilities. This was the result of a renegotiation of the Aljustrel
production liabilities of $17.8 million (€13.9 million) and contingent obligation of $28.2 million
(€22.0 million) that were assumed on the acquisition of Aljustrel mine in 2001. The settlement
agreement was executed on May 14, 2006 for a total of $4.4 million (€3.5 million) with half the
amount paid on closing and the balance due on November 14, 2008.
DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
Higher metal prices resulted in a realized loss on derivative instruments of $32.2 million for the
second quarter of 2006 compared with $6.2 million for the second quarter of 2005, and a loss
of $44.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006 compared with an $11.5 million loss
in the comparable period in 2005. A total of 8,250 tonnes of $1.62 per pound copper forward
sales were closed during the second quarter of 2006 and 18,750 tonnes of $1.62 per pound
copper forward sales were closed over the first six months of 2006. In the second quarter the
Company sold forward an additional 8,400 tonnes of copper for 2007 at an average price of
$3.00 per pound.
The higher metal prices also required the Company to record an unrealized loss on
outstanding derivatives positions of $6.4 million for the second quarter of 2006 as compared
with $0.7 million in the same period in 2005 and $24.7 million in the first six months of 2006 as
compared with $1.5 million in the same period in 2005. These amounts are non cash and
reflect the change in mark-to-market settlement value of the hedge positions outstanding at
the end of each period.
Outstanding derivative positions at June 30, 2006 are summarized as follows:
Derivative Positions

2006

Copper
Puts acquired in 2005 (tonnes)
Average price (US$/Ib)

$

12,000
1.36

Puts acquired in 2004 (tonnes)
Average price (US$/Ib)

$

33,804
0.86

Forward sales (tonnes)
Average price (US$/Ib)

$

US Currency
Forward sales
Average US dollar/EUR

$
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2007

Total

-

$

12,000
1.36

52,704
0.86

$

86,508
0.86

12,000
1.58

8,400
3.00

$

20,400
2.16

88,500
1.2121

8,000
1.2734

$

$

96,500
1.2172
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INCOME TAXES
Current income tax expense for the second quarter of 2006 was $19.3 million compared with
$5.2 million in 2005. For the first six months of 2006 current income tax expense was $27.4
million as compared with $9.8 million in the comparable period in 2005. These increases were
due primarily to the much strong copper price in 2006 that generated higher taxable earnings
from the Neves-Corvo mine.
In the first six months of 2006 the Company recorded a net future income tax recovery of $5.4
million relating to unrealized loss on derivative instruments in 2006. This compares to a future
income tax expense of $1.5 million in the same period of 2005.
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
2006
Q2

2006
Q1

Revenues ($ millions) **

$ 168.5

$ 88.9

$

97.5

$

83.7

$

65.0

$

68.7

$

57.1

$

60.6

Operating profit ($ millions) **
Realized hedging costs ($
millions)

$ 127.3

$ 56.2

$

64.1

$

46.9

$

30.3

$

34.3

$

30.2

$

25.9

$ (32.2) $ (12.7) $ (12.5) $

(8.5) $

(6.2) $

(5.3) $

Net earnings ($ millions)

$ 71.6

$ 17.4

$

27.8

$

25.3

$

16.3

$

19.0

$

3.2

$

11.3

$ 0.13
Earnings per share
Average LME price per pound
$ 3.30
of copper

$ 0.03

$

0.05

$

0.05

$

0.03

$

0.04

$

0.01

$

0.02

$ 2.24

$

1.90

$

1.71

$

1.54

$

1.48

$

1.38

$

1.29

Quarterly Results

Copper pounds sold (millions)
Weighted average number of
common shares outstanding
(millions)

Note: *
**

Q4

2005
2004
* Q3
* Q2
* Q1
* Q4
Q3
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)

(2.6) $

-

46.1

38.7

48.1

51.5

49.9

54.2

42.8

43.5

555.9

543.3

534.4

532.6

520.5

505.0

477.8

470.1

Restated and re-filed as a result of a change in the taxation rate in Portugal.
Revised for the first three quarters of 2005 and Q4 2004 to exclude realized losses
on derivative instruments, which were previously netted against revenues.

The variability in operating profit in the last eight quarters results from the volatility of the
realized copper price, changes in smelter charges and the number of pounds of copper sold
during each reporting period. Additionally, the net earnings can vary quarter to quarter due to
gains or losses on the fair valuation of derivative instruments.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash and cash equivalents as at June 30, 2006 were $97.3 million, an increase of $43.1
million from March 31, 2006 and $69.7 million from December 31, 2005.
Working capital at June 30, 2006 was $128.8 million, a $104.5 million increase from the
beginning of the 2006. The increase in working capital was a direct result of the significantly
higher copper price realized to date in 2006. The largest increases in the working capital items
were cash and cash equivalents of $69.7 million and restricted investments of $41.4 million.
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Cash flow from operating activities was $95.4 million for the second quarter of 2006 and
$126.4 million for the first six months in 2006, as compared with $34.2 million and $54.1
million in the same periods of 2005. The higher 2006 operating cash flow reflects the
significantly higher realized copper price compared with 2005.
Investing activities for the second quarter and the first six months of 2006 used $55.6 million
and $61.8 million, respectively, as compared with $9.5 million and $40.5 million used in the
same periods of 2005. The investing activities in 2006 comprise $18.4 million spent on capital
expenditures in Portugal. Reclamation funding increased by $1.9 million as the Company
continues to voluntarily fund future reclamation obligations at Neves-Corvo. As well, the
Company invested $41.5 million in restricted investments to satisfy margin requirements with
a hedging counter party. These funds will be returned as the outstanding hedge positions
mature over the next six months of 2006.
Financing activities generated $0.7 million and $1.8 million during the second quarter and the
first six months of 2006 respectively, as compared with the use of funds of $41.6 million and
$15.4 million in the same periods of 2005, when the Company was aggressively repaying
debt.
At the current metal prices and exchange rates the Company expects that cash flow from
operations will be sufficient to support the Company’s operating and sustaining capital plans
on an ongoing basis. In addition, the Company has an un-drawn €40 million commercial
paper facility available until March 31, 2008 and has arranged a $35.0 million debt facility for
use as part of the financing for the reopening of the Aljustrel mine.
Shareholders’ equity as at June 30, 2006 was $356.6 million compared with $231.0 million at
the beginning of the year. This $125.6 million increase resulted from net earnings for the
period of $89.1 million; the issuance of 22.2 million common shares for proceeds of $12.2
million, on the exercise of stock options and share purchase warrants; stock based
compensation of $1.4 million; and an increase in currency translation adjustment of $22.9
million due to the decline of the US dollar against the Euro.
OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA
As at August 9, 2006, there were 560,849,510 common shares outstanding. There were
director and employee stock options outstanding of 13,743,338 with an average exercise price
of Cdn$1.19 per share. No share purchase warrants were outstanding.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In 2006 the Company paid, on behalf of a significant shareholder, $0.3 million of reimbursable
expenses relating to the Company’s secondary offering.
OUTLOOK
The operating base and future growth of EuroZinc will continue to be in the production of base
metals, as the Company believes the long term prospects for both copper and zinc are strong.
The Company will focus its efforts on growth in these sectors of the mining business while
keeping a diligent eye on the existing operation and projects. Building value for the
Company’s shareholders can be achieved by capitalizing on internal opportunities as well as
those outside EuroZinc’s immediate sphere of influence.
The Company commenced the redevelopment at Aljustrel in the second quarter of 2006 with
production expected by mid-2007. The key parameters of the Aljustrel project are as follows:
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•
•
•
•

Capital cost:
Average operating cost:
Cash cost of payable zinc:
Annual average production:

•

Minimum mine life:

$ 88.3 million
€24.84 per tonne
US$ 0.46 per lb. net of by-product credits
176 million lbs. of zinc, 40 million lbs. of lead and
1.2 million oz. of silver per year
10 years

The estimated capital cost of $88.3 million will be financed through a combination of debt,
government incentives and cash on hand. The Company has arranged a debt facility of $35.0
million with a European bank and can access €18.3 million ($23.4 million) of European Union
(“EU”) incentives of interest free loans and grants. As part of the bank debt facility, the
Company is required to hedge a portion of the Aljustrel production as follows - 50% of the
planned zinc production and 75% of the planned lead production for the period July 2007 to
December 2008 and 45% of the planned silver production for the period July 2007 to June
2011. To date, the Company has hedged approximately 10% of the required zinc at an
average price of $1.23 per pound, 5% of the required lead at an average price of $0.50 per
pound and 20% of the required silver at an average price of $11.65 per ounce.
Zinc production has started at the Neves-Corvo mine in early July. Underground mining
operations in the zinc zone were initiated earlier in the year, and stockpiles of ore for mill feed
were accumulated both underground and on surface in anticipation of the plant startup and as
the production levels of zinc ore were ramped up. The zinc plant, retrofitted from the original
tin plant, is planned to process zinc ore at an annual rate of 350,000 tonnes, which equates to
approximately 55 million pounds (25,000 tonnes) of contained zinc metal in concentrate. On
this basis EuroZinc expects to produce approximately 27 million pounds (12,500 tonnes) of
zinc metal in 2006. Neves-Corvo thus becomes the only zinc producer in the Iberian
Peninsula at the present time.
As well, EuroZinc expects to complete in 2006 a study, which was initiated in 2005, to
determine the cost benefits associated with increasing the throughput capacity of zinc ore.
Management also continues to pursue an optimum mine plan for the deposits at Neves-Corvo,
as well as seeking more cost efficient methods to exploit the deposits. Both of these efforts
are categorized as work in progress and are pursued constantly as the variables to the
economics of the operations change.
At Neves-Corvo, the Company is on plan to produce 195 million pounds of contained copper
in 2006, which is consistent with the Company’s Life of Mine plan. Ore processing is targeted
at 2.0 million tonnes of copper ore and 150,000 tonnes of zinc ore during 2006.
In the second quarter of 2006, four new exploration concessions were granted to EuroZinc
and along with the Malhadinha concession granted in the fourth quarter of 2005, cover an
area of 2,683 square kilometers and represent the largest single exploration holding by a
company in Portugal. To date, exploration efforts have focused on the Malhadinha
concession, however once the large geological and geophysical database is compiled and
anomalies prioritized, surface drilling will systematically test these targets.
Despite delays experienced by the late granting of the concessions and by low drilling
productivity, the Company expects its 46,000 meter drilling program to be on schedule by year
end with the addition of two drill rigs to compliment the three existing surface rigs. The minesite program has been successful in adding new copper and zinc resources while increasing
the grade and confidence level of these resources, and demonstrates the potential to identify
new resources at the Neves-Corvo mine, where some of the ore bodies have seen only wide
spaced drilling to date.
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NON-GAAP MEASURE RECONCILIATION
Non-GAAP measure reconciliation of cash cost per pound of copper sold to
Consolidated Financial Statements
The Company has included the cash cost per pound of copper sold in the table below. The
Company understands that certain investors use this information to assess the Company’s
performance. The inclusion of the cash cost per pound statistics enables investors to better
understand quarter-over-quarter changes in production costs, which in turn affect profitability
and the ability to generate operating cash flow. The cash operating cost is intended to provide
additional information and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for
measures of performance prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. The measures are
not necessarily indicative of operating profit or cash flow from operations as determined under
Canadian GAAP.

Three months ended
June 30,
($ millions)
Cost of sales per Consolidated Statement of
Operations
Adjustments
Smelter and other charges
By-product credits
Direct cash cost of sales (C1) *
Cash cost per pound sold
Pounds of copper sold (000's)

$

Six months ended
June 30,

2006

2005

2006

2005

26.8

25.1

49.5

53.8

13.4
(1.7)
38.5

13.7
(2.2)
36.6

24.6
(2.6)
71.5

27.5
(3.2)
78.1

0.83
46,146

$

0.73
49,860

$

0.84
84,884

$

0.75
104,150

*Direct cash cost of sales (C1) per pound includes operating costs such as mining, processing,
administration, smelter treatment refining, marketing, transportation and by-product credits.

Non-GAAP measure reconciliation of Cash Provided from Operating Activities
(before changes in non-cash working capital items) to Consolidated Financial
Statements
Three months ended
June 30,

Six months ended
June 30,

($ millions)

2006

2005

2006

2005

Cash flow from operating activities per
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Less:

95.4

34.2

126.3

54.1

Cash from changes in non-cash working capital

12.3

10.4

2.6

2.6

Cash flow from operating activities (before
changes in non-cash working capital)

83.1

23.8

123.7

51.5
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Cash provided from operating activities before changes in non-cash working capital items is
furnished to provide additional information and is not a generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) measure. This measure should not be considered in isolation as a
substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with GAAP and is not
necessarily indicative of cash provided from operating activities as determined under GAAP.
This measure is intended to provide investors with information about cash generating
capabilities of the Company’s operating activities on a cash basis in a given period; the
Company uses this information for the same purpose. Mining operations are capital intensive,
however this measure excludes financing activities, investing activities and changes in noncash working capital. These items are discussed throughout the MD&A and the consolidated
financial statements.
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
Certain of the statements made and information contained herein is “forward-looking
information” within the meaning of the Ontario Securities Act or “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
of the United States. Forward-looking statements are subject to a variety of risks and
uncertainties which could cause actual events or results to differ from those reflected
in the forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, risks and uncertainties
relating to foreign currency fluctuations; risks inherent in mining including
environmental hazards, industrial accidents, unusual or unexpected geological
formations, ground control problems and flooding; risks associated with the estimation
of mineral resources and reserves and the geology, grade and continuity of mineral
deposits; the possibility that future exploration, development or mining results will not
be consistent with the Company’s expectations; the potential for and effects of labour
disputes or other unanticipated difficulties with or shortages of labour or interruptions
in production; actual ore mined varying from estimates of grade, tonnage, dilution and
metallurgical and other characteristics; the inherent uncertainty of production and cost
estimates and the potential for unexpected costs and expenses, commodity price
fluctuations; uncertain political and economic environments; changes in laws or
policies, foreign taxation, delays or the inability to obtain necessary governmental
permits; and other risks and uncertainties, including those described under Risk
Factors Relating to the Company’s Business in the Company’s Annual Information
Form and in each management discussion and analysis. Forward-looking information
is in addition based on various assumptions including, without limitation, the
expectations and beliefs of management, the assumed long term price of copper and
zinc; that the Company can access financing, appropriate equipment and sufficient
labour and that the political environment within Portugal will continue to support the
development and operation of mining projects. Should one or more of these risks and
uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual
results may vary materially from those described in forward-looking statements.
Accordingly, readers are advised not to place undue reliance on forward-looking
statements.
OTHER INFORMATION
Additional information regarding the Company is included in the Company’s Annual
Information Form (“AIF”) and Annual Report on Form 40-F, which are filed with the Canadian
securities regulators and the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”),
respectively. A copy of the Company’s AIF is posted on the SEDAR website at
www.sedar.com. A copy of the Form 40-F can be obtained from the SEC website at
www.sec.gov.
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited - in thousands of US dollars)
June 30
2006
ASSETS
Current
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted investments (Note 2)
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses

$

97,291
41,481
80,331
10,684
2,205

December 31
2005

$

231,992
23,315
327,350
27,652
1,681

Reclamation fund
Property, plant and equipment (Note 3)
Future income tax asset
Deferred financing and other assets

27,597
66,027
8,517
3,036
105,177
19,829
301,380
20,500
1,705

Total Assets

$

611,990

$

448,591

LIABILITIES
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Taxes payable
Current portion of long-term liabilities (Notes 4 and 5)

$

57,103
30,398
15,739

$

47,723
21,978
11,225

Long-term debt (Note 4)
Net derivative instruments liability (Note 5)
Aljustrel production liabilities (Note 4 (d))
Asset retirement and other mine closure obligations (Note 7)

103,240
42,335
44,393
65,457

80,926
38,910
26,782
11,997
58,946

Total Liabilities

255,425

217,561

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital (Note 6 (a))
Options and warrants (Note 6 (b))
Currency translation adjustment
Retained earnings

166,094
2,714
15,905
171,852

150,783
4,485
(7,025)
82,787

Total Shareholders' Equity

356,565

231,030

$

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

611,990

$

448,591

Commitments (Note 12)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Unaudited, in thousands of US dollars, except for per share amounts)
Three months ended
June 30,
2006
2005

Six months ended
June 30,
2006
2005

(Restated)
(Note 11)

$ 168,487
26,789
6,834
711
6,850

Revenues
Cost of sales
Royalties
Accretion of asset retirement obligations
Depreciation, depletion and amortization

$

127,303

Operating profit
Expenses (income)
General and administration
Exploration and business development
Interest and other, net (Note 9)
Gain on settlement of production liabilities (Note 4 (d))
Realized loss on derivative instruments
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments

(Restated)
(Note 11)

64,952
25,076
1,773
926
6,841

$ 257,398
49,453
9,711
1,423
13,295

$ 133,685
53,791
3,306
1,499
10,404

30,336

183,516

64,685

2,851
923
3,090
(8,541)
32,245
6,404

1,765
144
1,365
(1,580)
6,185
651

4,305
1,453
5,614
(8,541)
44,910
24,729

3,295
144
3,226
(1,580)
11,506
1,529

36,972

8,530

72,470

18,120

Earnings before income taxes

90,331

21,806

111,046

46,565

Current income tax expense

19,277

5,164

27,392

9,787

(5,411)

1,539

(570)

Future income tax expense (recovery)

380

Net earnings for the period

$

71,624

$

16,262

$

89,065

$

35,239

Earning per share - basic and diluted - CDN
Earning per share - basic and diluted - US

$
$

0.14
0.13

$
$

0.04
0.03

$
$

0.18
0.16

$
$

0.08
0.07

555,920
560,484

Weighted average number of shares - basic
Weighted average number of shares - diluted

520,522
527,243

549,642
553,595

513,869
523,466

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

3

EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity
As at June 30, 2006
(Unaudited - in thousands of US dollars and shares in thousands)

Common Shares
Shares
Amount
Balance, December 31, 2004
Issued on exercise of stock options
Issued on exercise of warrants
Stock based compensation
Effect of foreign currency translation
Net earnings for the year

479,536
4,492
53,576
-

Balance, December 31, 2005
Issued on exercise of stock options
Issued on exercise of warrants
Stock based compensation
Effect of foreign currency translation
Net earnings for the period

537,604
9,262
12,964
-

Balance, June 30, 2006

559,830

$

128,386
2,120
20,277
-

Options
and
Warrants
$

150,783
6,386
8,925
$

166,094

Currency
Translation
Adjustment

4,114 $
(951)
1,322
4,485
(1,453)
(1,698)
1,380
-

$

2,714

Retained
Earnings

10,296 $
(17,321)
(7,025)
22,930
-

$

15,905

$

Total

(5,550) $
88,337

137,246
1,169
20,277
1,322
(17,321)
88,337

82,787
89,065

231,030
4,933
7,227
1,380
22,930
89,065

171,852

$

356,565

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited - in thousands of US dollars)
Three months ended
June 30,
2006
2005

Six months ended
June 30,
2006
2005

(Restated)
(Note 11)

Cash flow from (used by) operating activities
Net earnings for the period
Non-cash items:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Amortization of financing costs
Accretion expense
Stock based compensation
Future income tax expense (recovery)
Gain on settlement of production liabilities (Note 4 (d))
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments
Unrealized foreign exchange loss
Other
Changes in non-cash working capital items

Cash flow used by investing activities
Property, plant and equipment expenditures
Reclamation fund
Restricted investments (Note 2)
Proceeds from sale of assets
Purchase of price participation rights

Cash flow from (used by) financing activities
Shares issued for cash
Financing costs
Aljustrel production liability payments
Repayment of copper put premiums
Loan proceeds
Loan repayments

$ 71,624

$ 16,262

(Restated)
(Note 11)

$

89,065

$

35,239

6,850
276
2,177
1,222
(570)
(8,541)
6,404
3,432
263
83,137
12,310
95,447

6,841
1,490
1,661
110
380
(1,580)
651
(1,478)
(525)
23,812
10,432
34,244

13,295
526
3,293
1,380
(5,411)
(8,541)
24,729
4,193
1,233
123,762
2,612
126,374

10,404
3,206
2,646
435
1,539
(1,580)
1,529
(1,478)
(469)
51,471
2,583
54,054

(12,220)
(1,899)
(41,481)
-

(8,283)
(1,519)
287
-

(18,398)
(1,899)
(41,481)
-

(13,251)
(1,519)
287
(26,000)

(55,600)

(9,515)

(61,778)

(40,483)

7,508
(228)
(2,445)
11,805
(15,920)

3,787
83
16
(1,036)
(44,471)

12,160
(380)
(4,890)
11,861
(16,912)

18,791
(1,323)
(682)
(2,072)
77,667
(107,751)

(41,621)

1,839

(15,370)

720
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents
Increase in cash and cash equivalents during the period
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

2,517
43,084
54,207
$ 97,291

1,321
(15,571)
44,802
$ 29,231 $

3,259
69,694
27,597
97,291

$

1,785
(14)
29,245
29,231

Interest and income taxes paid
Interest
Income taxes

$
598
$ 21,220

$
$

$
$

598
21,220

$
$

563
7,689

563
7,689

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to consolidated financial statements
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006
(Unaudited – Tabular amounts are in thousands of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
These interim, unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Canada (“Canadian GAAP”) and follow the same
accounting policies and methods as disclosed in the Company’s most recent annual consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, these unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read
in conjunction with the Company’s 2005 audited consolidated financial statements.
These interim, unaudited consolidated financial statements include all adjustments that are, in the
opinion of management, necessary for fair presentation.
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current presentation.
2. RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS
As at June 30, 2006, the Company has deposited $41,481,000 (€32,460,000) with one commodity
trading house, as security for the mark-to-market exposure on certain derivative instruments that
mature monthly during the remainder of 2006. In addition, the Company has provided letters of credit
totaling $25,558,000 (€20,000,000).
The Company has not done any transactions with this institution since October 2005 and all other
derivative instrument transactions are on an unsecured and margin-free basis.
3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment consist of:
June 30, 2006
Accumulated
depreciation
Cost and depletion
Mineral properties
Neves-Corvo
Aljustrel
Plant and equipment
Neves-Corvo
Aljustrel
Other
Development and other
Neves-Corvo
Aljustrel
Malhadinha
Total

$

98,157
11,649
109,806

$

6,285
6,285

December 31, 2005
Accumulated
depreciation
Cost and depletion

Net
$

91,872
11,649
103,521

$

91,723
11,310
103,033

$

5,172
5,172

$

Net
86,551
11,310
97,861

178,872
7,574
254
186,700

39,910
393
125
40,428

138,962
7,181
129
146,272

157,294
7,060
219
164,573

27,331
347
102
27,780

129,963
6,713
117
136,793

45,074
32,672
2,521
80,267

2,710
2,710

42,364
32,672
2,521
77,557

35,863
30,011
2,411
68,285

1,559
1,559

34,304
30,011
2,411
66,726

49,423

$ 327,350

$ 376,773

$

$

335,891

$

34,511

$

301,380

During the six months ended June, 2006 the Company spent $18,398,000 at the Neves-Corvo and
Aljustrel mines on capital equipment, mine development and related infrastructure.
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to consolidated financial statements
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006
(Unaudited – Tabular amounts are in thousands of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)

4. LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt consists of:
June 30
2006
$

Somincor bonds - 2005 to 2009 (a)
Capital lease obligations (b)
Deferred employee housing sales
Investment incentive loan (c)
Aljustrel debt (d)
Total
Less: current portion

$

December 31
2005

34,503 $
6,497
286
3,132
2,201
46,619
(4,284)
42,335 $

31,973
7,305
207
3,293
42,778
(3,868)
38,910

a) On December 17, 2004, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Somincor, issued 540,000
unsecured bonds with a nominal value of €50 each for a total of €27,000,000, which is equivalent
to $34,503,000 (December 31, 2005 - $31,973,000). The increase in this debt resulted entirely
from the changes in the US$/€ exchange rates at the end of each reporting period. These bonds
have a five-year term with 100% of the principal repayable at maturity on December 17, 2009 and
bear interest at “EURIBOR 6 months” plus 0.875%. Interest payments are due on June 17 and
December 17 of each year;
b) Capital lease obligations relate to mining and computer equipment and passenger vehicles with
three or four year terms and bear interest at between 1.25% to 1.75% above “3 month and 6”
month EURIBOR;
c) The European Union (“EU”) established special investment programs to promote the
development of some countries within the EU. The Neves-Corvo mine is located in one of these
regions in Portugal which qualified for investment incentives. Between 2001 and 2002 Somincor
incurred approximately $20,000,000 of eligible expenditures resulting in a non-refundable grant of
$800,000 and an interest-free loan of $4,565,000. The interest-free loan is repayable in semiannual installments of $626,000 (€490,000) ending on July 30, 2008; and
d) The Aljustrel debt of $2,201,000 (€1,725,000) represents the balance owing to the vendor of
Aljustrel mine as a result of the renegotiation of the Aljustrel production liabilities of $17,791,000
(€13,868,000) and contingent obligation of $28,188,000 (€21,973,000) that were assumed on the
acquisition of Aljustrel mine in 2001. The settlement agreement was executed on May 14, 2006
for a total of $4,426,000 (€3,450,000) and half the amount was paid at closing of this agreement.
The final payment is due on November 14, 2008. This settlement resulted in a one-time gain of
$8,541,000 (€6,658,000).
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to consolidated financial statements
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006
(Unaudited – Tabular amounts are in thousands of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)

5. NET DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS LIABILITY
Net derivative instruments liability (assets) consists of:
June 30 December 31
2006
2005
$

(55) $
46,601
(4,579)

(741)
17,095
(328)

Deferred premiums

41,967
13,881

16,026
18,113

Total
Less: current portion

55,848
(11,455)

34,139
(7,357)

Copper put options
Forward sales
Currency hedges

$

Long-term portion of net derivative instrument liabilities

44,393

$

26,782

During the six months ended June 30, 2006, the Company:
a) recognized a realized loss on derivative instruments of $44,910,000 (2005 - $11,506,000) on the
settlement of copper forward sales contracts; and
b) recognized mark-to-market loss of $24,729,000 (2005 - $1,529,000) on outstanding derivative
contracts as summarized below:
2006

2007

Total

-

$

12,000
1.36

Copper
Puts acquired in 2005 (tonnes)
Average price (US$/Ib)

$

12,000
1.36

Puts acquired in 2004 (tonnes)
Average price (US$/Ib)

$

33,804
0.86

$

52,704
0.86

$

86,508
0.86

Forward sales (tonnes)
Average price (US$/Ib)

$

12,000
1.58

$

8,400
3.00

$

20,400
2.16

8,000
1.2734

$
$

96,500
1.2172

US Currency
Forward sales
Average US$/EUR

$

8

88,500
1.2121

$

EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to consolidated financial statements
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006
(Unaudited – Tabular amounts are in thousands of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)

6. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorized: Unlimited number of common shares without par value
Issued and outstanding:
a) Common shares issued and outstanding are:
Number of
Shares
479,536

(in thousands)
Balance, December 31, 2004
Issued during the year:
Issued on exercise of stock options
Issued on exercise of share purchase warrants
Fair value of options exercised

$

4,492

1,169

53,576

20,277

-

Balance, December 31, 2005
Issued during the six months ended June 30, 2006
Issued on exercise of stock options
Issued on exercise of share purchase warrants
Fair value of options and warrants exercised
Balance, June 30, 2006

Amount
128,386

951

537,604

$

150,783

9,262

4,933

12,964

7,227

-

3,151

559,830

$

166,094

b) Stock Option Plan
The Company has a comprehensive stock option plan for its employees, directors and officers.
The plan provides for the issuance of incentive stock options to acquire up to 50,000,000
common shares and the exercise price shall not be less than the closing price of the common
shares on the TSX on the trading day immediately preceding the day the options are granted.
The stock options granted are vested over a two year period and have a maximum term of up to
five years.
Stock option transactions, in thousands, during the six months ended June 30, 2006 were as
follows:
Weighted
Average
Number of
Exercise
Options
Price
Outstanding
(CDN)
(in thousands)

Balance, December 31, 2005
Granted
Exercised

20,325 $
3,450
(9,262)

0.62
2.67
0.60

Balance, June 30, 2006

14,513

1.12

9
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to consolidated financial statements
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006
(Unaudited – Tabular amounts are in thousands of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)

During the six months ended June 30, 2006, the Company granted 3,450,000 incentive stock
options to employees, officers and directors of the Company at a weighted average exercise price
of CDN$2.67 per share and expiring between January 4, 2011 and June 12, 2011.
The Company recognized a stock-based compensation expense of $1,380,000 in the current
period (2005 - $435,000) relating to the new and previously granted options. The fair value was
determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based on the following assumptions:
expected life of the options between 1.5 and 2.5 years; risk free interest rates of 3% to 4%,
expected stock price volatility of 34% to 53% and 0% dividend yield.
At June 30, 2006, the Company has the following options outstanding:

Range of exercise prices (CDN)

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Number Weighted
Contractual
of
Average
Year of
Number
Life
Options
Exercise
Expiry Outstanding
(Years)
Exercisable
Price
(in thousands)

$0.15
$0.10
$0.60 - $0.66
$0.65 - $0.95
$1.26 - $2.90

2006
2007
2009
2010
2011

50
730
2,500
7,700
3,533
14,513

(in thousands)

0.4
1.5
3.2
4.0
4.8
3.9

50
730
2,500
3,857
1,900
9,037

$
$
$
$
$
$

0.15
0.10
0.63
0.70
2.68
1.12

c) Share Purchase Warrants
During the six months ended June 30, 2006, the Company issued 12,964,000 common shares for
proceeds of $7,227,000 (CDN$8,208,000) pursuant to the exercise of share purchase warrants.
There are no share purchase warrants outstanding as at June 30, 2006.
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to consolidated financial statements
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006
(Unaudited – Tabular amounts are in thousands of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)

7. ASSET RETIREMENT AND OTHER MINE CLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
Asset retirement and other mine closure obligations consist of:
Neves Corvo

Aljustrel

Total

Asset Retirement Obligation
Balance, December 31, 2004
Change in estimate
Accretion during the year
Impact of foreign exchange

$

48,244 $
1,859
2,740
(907)

4,361 $
(547)
255
-

52,605
1,312
2,995
(907)

Balance, December 31, 2005
Accretion during the period
Impact of foreign exchange

51,936
1,321
4,160

4,069
102
-

56,005
1,423
4,160

Balance, June 30, 2006

57,417

4,171

61,588

Other mine closure obligations
Balance, December 31, 2004
Provisions during the year
Impact of foreign exchange
Balance, December 31, 2005
Provisions during the period
Impact of foreign exchange
Balance, June 30, 2006
Total

$

1,900
1,306
(265)
2,941
669
259

-

1,900
1,306
(265)
2,941
669
259

3,869

-

3,869

61,286

$

4,171

$

65,457

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the six months ended June 30, 2006, the Company incurred reimbursable costs of $323,000
on behalf of a significant shareholder of the Company in connection with a secondary public offering.
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to consolidated financial statements
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006
(Unaudited – Tabular amounts are in thousands of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)

9. INTEREST AND OTHER, NET
Interest and other income consist of:
Three months ended
June 30,
2006
2005
Foreign exchange loss (gain)
Interest and accretion on long-term debt
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Interest and other (income)

$

$

4,942 $
756
276
(2,884)
3,090

$

Six months ended
June 30,
2006
2005

(1,070) $ 6,485 $ (2,812)
1,641
2,159
4,421
526
2,039
3,755
(3,038)
(1,763)
(2,138)
1,365

$

5,614

$ 3,226

10. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company operates in one industry segment, namely base metal mining in one geographic
region, Portugal.

11. RESTATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
During the third quarter ended September 30, 2005, the Company undertook a detailed review of the
tax consequences resulting from the reorganization of its international subsidiaries and determined
that the Portuguese income tax rate used in the calculation of future income taxes was incorrect.
During this review the Company determined that an enacted change in the Portuguese income tax
rate in 2004 reduced the rate from 27.5 percent to 22.0 percent, effective January 1, 2005, for certain
regions, including the region where the Company conducts its mine operations. As a result, the
Company has restated its consolidated financial statements to reduce the income tax rate used in
establishing future income taxes. Furthermore, the Company needed to restate an error in recording
derivatives at fair value as well as the related consequences.
The effect of this restatement on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the second
quarter ended June 30, 2005 is summarized as follows:
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to consolidated financial statements
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2006
(Unaudited – Tabular amounts are in thousands of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)

Previously
Reported

Adjustment

Restated

For the three months ended June 30, 2005
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Income before income taxes
Current income taxes
Future income taxes
Net income for the period

$

$

20,915 $
(6,698)
(383)
13,834 $

891
1,534
3
2,428

$

$

21,806
(5,164)
(380)
16,262

(189) $
2,697
339
2,847 $

46,565
(9,787)
(1,539)
35,239

For the six months ended June 30, 2005
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Income before income taxes
Current income taxes
Future income taxes
Net income for the period

$

$

46,754 $
(12,484)
(1,878)
32,392 $

12. ALJUSTREL FINANCING COMMITMENT
A US$35 million project finance facility has been arranged with a European bank as part of
funding of the Aljustrel mine redevelopment. This facility is for five years and bears interest at
LIBOR plus 1.75% (pre-completion) and 2.25% (post-completion) per annum. Loan repayments
begin two years following the execution of the financing agreement. The loan facility requires
Company to hedge a portion of the Aljustrel production as follows:

the
US
will
the

i) 50% of the planned zinc production and 75% of the planned lead production for the period
between July 2007 and December 2008; and
ii) 45% of planned silver production for the period between July 2007 and June 2011.
Subsequent to June 30, 2006, the Company has hedged the following:
i)

3,600 tonnes of zinc, representing 10% of the required hedging, at an average price of $1.23 per
pound and 900 tonnes of lead, representing 5% of the required hedging, at an average price of
$0.50 per pound; and

ii)

420,000 ounces of silver, representing 20% of the required hedging, at an average price of
$11.65 per ounce.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The consolidated financial statements and all information in the Annual Report have been prepared by
and are the responsibility of the management of the Company.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in Canada, using management’s best estimates and judgments based on currently
available information. The Company maintains an appropriate system of internal controls to provide
reasonable assurance that financial information is accurate and reliable and that the Company’s assets are
appropriately accounted for and adequately safeguarded.
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered
Accountants. Their report outlines the scope of their examination and opinion on the consolidated
financial statements.

“Signed”
C. K. Benner, Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

“Signed”
A. J. Ali, Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer
February 24, 2006

2

Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of EuroZinc Mining Corporation
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of EuroZinc Mining Corporation as at December 31,
2005 and December 31, 2004 and the consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and
cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.
Signed “PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP”

Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada
February 24, 2006, except as to Note 22 (c) which is as of February 27, 2006
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at December 31, 2005 and 2004
(in thousands of US dollars)
2005

2004
(Restated Note 21)

ASSETS
Current
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventories (Note 4)
Prepaid expenses
Total Current Assets
Restricted cash (Note 5)
Property, plant and equipment (Note 6)
Future income tax asset (Note 17)
Deferred financing costs
Total Assets

$

$

LIABILITIES
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Taxes payable
Loan payable (Note 7)
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 9)
Current portion of net derivative instrument liability (Note 10)
Total Current Liabilities
Long-term debt (Note 9)
Net derivative instruments liability (Note 10)
Aljustrel production liabilities (Notes 11 and 22 (c))
Asset retirement obligations (Note 12)
Other obligations upon mine closure (Note 13)
Total Liabilities

$

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital (Note 15)
Options and warrants (Note 15(d))
Currency translation adjustment (Note 15(e))
Retained earnings (deficit)
Total Shareholders' Equity

27,597
66,027
8,517
3,036
105,177
19,829
301,380
20,500
1,705
448,591

29,245
35,065
17,122
3,507
84,939
19,209
279,189
31,671
4,851
$ 419,859

47,408
21,978
3,868
7,357
80,611
38,910
26,782
12,312
56,005
2,941
217,561

$

150,783
4,485
(7,025)
82,787
231,030

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

$

448,591

$

42,956
8,225
10,000
15,403
2,572
79,156
103,939
29,258
15,755
52,605
1,900
282,613
128,386
4,114
10,296
(5,550)
137,246

$ 419,859

Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)
Subsequent events (Note 22)
APPROVED BY THE BOARD
"David F. Mullen"

, Director

"J. Edward Fletcher"

, Director
See 4accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
(in thousands of US dollars, except for per share amounts)
2005

2004
(Restated Note 21)

Revenues
Operating costs
Accretion of asset retirement obligations
Depreciation, depletion and amortization

$

Operating profit
Expenses
General and administration (Note 15(b))
Interest on long-term debt
Accretion of long-term debt
Financing costs
Foreign exchange gain
Interest and other (income)
Gain on settlement of Ajustrel production liabilities
Project investigations
Realized loss on derivative instruments (Note 10(c))
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments (Note 10(c))

314,934
112,975
2,995
23,224

$ 123,181
49,684
1,356
13,298

175,740

58,843

8,880
4,961
1,614
4,237
(138)
(2,125)
(1,303)
526
32,532
7,563

4,994
2,447
806
5,701
(9,595)
(89)
2,629
32,128

56,747

39,021

118,993

19,822

Current income tax expense (Note 17)

27,776

17,806

Future income tax expense (recovery) (Note 17)
Net earnings for the year

$

2,880
88,337

$
$
$
$

0.20
0.17
0.20
0.17

Earnings before income taxes

Earning per share - basic
Earning per share - basic
Earning per share - diluted
Earning per share - diluted

CDN
US
CDN
US

Weighted average number of shares outstanding - basic
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - diluted

523,613
533,233

(13,666)
$ 15,682
$
$
$
$

0.05
0.04
0.05
0.04
394,911
412,949

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity
As at December 31, 2005 and 2004
(in thousands of US dollars and shares in thousands)

Options
and
Warrants

Common Shares
Shares
Amount
Balance, December 31, 2003
Issued for cash, net of issue costs
Issued on exercise of stock options
Issued on exercise of warrants
Stock-based compensation
Effect of foreign currency translations
Effect of change in accounting policy
Net earnings for the year

255,494
205,800
2,200
16,042

Balance, December 31, 2004

479,536

$

46,228
76,373
315
5,046
424
-

$

128,386

Restatement (Note 21)

-

Restated, December 31, 2004
Issued on exercise of stock options
Issued on exercise of warrants
Stock-based compensation
Effect of foreign currency translations
Net earnings for the year

479,536
4,492
53,576

Balance, December 31, 2005

537,604

128,386
2,120
20,277
$

150,783

$

4,114
-

Currency
Translation
Adjustment
$

135
10,161
-

Retained
Earnings
(Deficit)
$

Total

(20,735) $
(497)
17,467

25,628
76,373
315
5,046
4,538
10,161
(497)
17,467

4,114

10,296

(3,765)

-

-

(1,785)

(1,785)

4,114
(951)
1,322
-

10,296
(17,321)
-

(5,550)
88,337

137,246
1,169
20,277
1,322
(17,321)
88,337

4,485

$

(7,025) $

82,787

139,031

$

231,030

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
(in thousands of US dollars)

2005

2004
(Restated)
(Note 21)

Operating activities
Net earnings for the year
Non-cash items:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Accretion expense
Gain on sale of assets
Gain on settlement of Aljustrel production liabilities
Stock-based compensation
Unrealized foreign exchange loss
Future income taxes
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments
Other

$

Changes in non-cash working capital items
Cash generated from operating activities
Financing activities
Shares issued for cash
Share issue costs
Share subscription receivable
Other liability payments
Deferred financing costs
Proceeds from loans
Repayments of long-term debts
Cash generated from (used by) financing activities
Investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash (Note 3)
Proceeds from sale of assets
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Payment of copper put premiums
Restricted investments
Cash used in investing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the year
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Supplemental Cash Flow Information (Note 14)
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88,337

$

23,224
4,785
4,609
(701)
(1,303)
1,322
224
2,880
7,563
483
131,423
(5,023)
126,400

13,298
797
2,336
1,516
1,563
(13,666)
32,128
279
53,933
(11,820)
42,113

21,446
(722)
(1,977)
75,884
(162,184)
(67,553)

87,446
(5,204)
2,152
518
(1,518)
172,462
(50,000)
205,856

(26,000)
1,153
(27,722)
(6,567)
(3,073)
(62,209)

(188,415)
(32,055)
(553)
(2,550)
(223,573)

1,714

$

15,682

(1,648)
29,245
27,597 $

583
24,979
4,266
29,245

EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Tabular amounts are in thousand of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)

1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS
EuroZinc Mining Corporation and its subsidiaries (“the Company”) are engaged in base metal
mining and related activities, including exploration, extraction, processing and reclamation. Copper
concentrate is produced from the Neves-Corvo mine, located near Castro Verde, Portugal. The
Company is in the process of converting the old tin processing plant to handle zinc ores being
developed for mining in 2006.
The Company is also focused on the development of the Aljustrel zinc project in Portugal and a
production decision is expected to be made in 2006.

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Basis of presentation and use of estimates
The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Canada. The preparation of financial statements in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities as at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Areas requiring the use of
significant estimates include the final revenue settlements, the determination of quantities of
proven and probable reserves, expected cost of asset retirement obligations, valuation of
options, warrants, derivative instruments and their respective fair values and the assessment of
impairment in value of long lived assets. Actual results could differ materially from those
estimates. Significant differences from United States generally accepted accounting principles
affecting the Company are disclosed in Note 20.
b) Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when the title and risk of ownership of metal bearing concentrates have
passed to the customer. Revenue from the sale of metals contained in concentrates are
provisionally priced using forward prices for the expected date of final settlement. Subsequent
variations in the prices are recognized as revenue adjustments until final settlement of metal
prices, weights and assays. The revenue is reported net of smelting and refining charges.
c) Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers cash and cash equivalents to be cash on deposit and highly liquid
short-term interest bearing securities with maturities at the date of purchase of three months or
less.
d) Inventories
Concentrate and ore-in-process inventories are stated at the lower of their production cost,
including depreciation, and net realizable value. Materials and supplies are valued at the lower
of average cost, net of obsolescence, and replacement cost.
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Tabular amounts are in thousand of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)

e) Property, Plant and equipment
i)

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated over the estimated life of the
related assets calculated on a unit of production or straight-line basis, as appropriate.
Maintenance, repairs and renewals are charged to operations, betterments are capitalized.
Any gains or losses on disposition of plant and equipment are reflected in the statements of
operations.
Assets acquired under capital leases are recorded using the financing method where the cost
of the leased asset is recorded as plant and equipment and the corresponding lease
obligation is recorded as a loan, with the interest component of lease installment payments
recorded as an expense. Subsidies received to partly finance acquisition of assets are netted
against the cost of the related assets in the relevant period.

ii) Mineral properties
The Company records its interest in mineral properties at cost. Exploration expenditures
relating to properties that have resources or significant mineralization which require
additional exploration are deferred and amortized against future production following
commencement of commercial production, or written off if the properties are sold, allowed
to lapse, abandoned or impaired. Drilling activities on producing mines and properties with
feasibility studies are capitalized.
Upon commencement of production, mineral properties and deferred costs relating to mines
are amortized over the estimated life of the proven and probable reserves to which they
relate, calculated on a unit of production basis.
iii) Impairment assessment
The Company performs impairment analysis on its property, plant and equipment when
events or changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying value of the mineral properties
may not be recoverable. This analysis compare expected undiscounted future cash flows
from these assets to their carrying values. If shortfalls exist, assets are written down to fair
value, which is calculated using the discounted value of expected future cash flows.
Management’s estimates of mineral prices, recoverable proven and probable reserves,
resources and operating, capital and reclamation costs are subject to certain risks and
uncertainties that may affect the determination of the recoverability of property, plant and
equipment and deferred mineral property costs. Although management has made its best
estimate of these factors, it is possible that material changes could occur which may
adversely affect management’s estimate of the cash flows expected to be generated from its
properties.
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Tabular amounts are in thousand of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)
f) Foreign Currency Translation
For integrated foreign operations, monetary assets and liabilities are translated at year-end
exchange rates and other assets and liabilities are translated at historical rates. Revenues,
expenses and cash flows are translated at monthly average exchange rates, except for
depreciation which is translated at its historical exchange rate. Gains and losses on translation
are recorded in operations.
The accounts of self-sustaining foreign operations are translated at year-end exchange rates,
and revenues and expenses are translated at monthly average exchanges rates. Differences
arising from these foreign currency translations are recorded in shareholders’ equity as a
cumulative translation adjustment until they are realized by a reduction in the investment.
The Company adopted the US dollar as its reporting currency in fiscal year 2004.
g) Income Taxes
The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability
method, future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between
the financial statement carrying values of existing assets and liabilities and their respective
income tax bases (temporary differences) and available loss carry forwards. Future income tax
assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when the
temporary differences are likely to reverse. The effect on future income tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is included in operations in the period in which the change is
substantively enacted. The amount of future income tax assets recognized is limited to the
amount that is more likely than not to be realized.
h) Deferred Financing Costs
The Company defers costs directly related to long-term debt financing and amortizes these
costs over the term of the debt. The Company writes off the unamortized portion of deferred
financing costs if the related debt is settled prior to the maturity date.
i)

Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation awards are calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
The Company recognizes compensation expense relating to stock options and grants over the
vesting period of the options, which ranges from immediately to two years.

j) Asset Retirement Obligations
The Company records the fair value of its assets retirement obligation as a long-term liability
and records an increase in the carrying value of the related asset by a corresponding amount. In
subsequent periods, the carrying amount of the liability is accreted by a charge to operations to
reflect the passage of time and the liability is adjusted to reflect any changes in the timing or
amount of the underlying future cash flows.
Changes resulting from revisions to the timing or the amount of the original estimate of
undiscounted cash flows are recognized as an increase or decrease in the liability of an asset
- 10 -

EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Tabular amounts are in thousand of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)
retirement obligation, and a corresponding change in the carrying amount of the related
long-lived asset. Upward revisions in the amount of undiscounted estimated cash flows are
discounted using the current credit-adjusted risk-free rate. Downward revisions in the amount
of undiscounted estimated cash flows are discounted using the historical credit –adjusted risk
free rate when the original liability was recognized.
k) Derivative Instruments
The Company has determined that its derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge
accounting and therefore records the derivatives at their fair value with gains or losses arising
from the changes in their fair value being recorded in operations.
l) Variable Interest Entities (VIE)
The Company has adopted the new accounting guideline which requires the consolidation of
VIEs by the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the enterprise that will absorb or
receive the majority of the VIE's expected losses, expected residual returns, or both. A VIE is an
entity where (a) its equity investment at risk is insufficient to permit the entity to finance its
activities without additional subordinated support from others and/or where certain essential
characteristics of a controlling financial interest are not met, and (b) it does not meet specified
exemption criteria. The adoption of the new accounting guideline relating to VIEs did not have
a material effect on the Company.
3.

BUSINESS ACQUISITION
On June 18, 2004, the Company acquired a 100% interest in Sociedade Mineira De Neves Corvo
S.A. (“Somincor”) which owns the Neves-Corvo copper mine, located near Castro Verde, Portugal.
The consideration paid was $154,353,000 (€128,041,000).
The acquisition agreement provides for the vendors to receive additional consideration as price
participation payments (“PPP”) on 50% of copper sold by Somincor when the average price of
copper, calculated quarterly using the London Metals Exchange average spot price of copper,
exceeds $0.90 per pound for the first year and $0.95 for years two, three and four from the
acquisition date. This contingent consideration adjusted the purchase price when the following
additional payments were made:

Additional consideration paid to September 30, 2004
Additional consideration paid to December 31, 2004 (Note 9 (c))
Additional consideration paid to January 28, 2005 (Note 9 (c))
Total additional considerations

$

$

10,526
22,000
26,000
58,526

The acquisition was accounted for by the purchase method, which resulted in the allocation of the
consideration paid to the fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, as follows:
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Tabular amounts are in thousand of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)

Net identifiable assets acquired:
Current assets (excluding cash)
Property, plant and equipment
Mineral properties
Mine development
Future income tax asset
Restricted cash

$

Less:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Provision for asset retirement obligations
Long-term liabilities

28,867
138,389
80,073
30,796
7,445
15,962
301,532
(36,027)
(47,095)
(3,995)

Total purchase price

$ 214,415

Consideration paid is as follows:
Cash paid to vendor on June 18, 2004 (€128,041)
Additional consideration
Acquisition costs
Less: cash acquired

$ 154,353
58,526
3,442
(1,906)
$ 214,415

These consolidated financial statements include the results from operations of the Neves-Corvo
mine commencing from June 18, 2004, the date of acquisition.
4.

INVENTORIES
The inventories consist of:

Copper concentrates
Materials and supplies
Ore in process

$

$
5.

2005
2,012
5,019
1,486
8,517

$

$

2004
10,398
6,368
356
17,122

RESTRICTED CASH
The Company voluntarily funds its reclamation obligations at the Neves-Corvo mine by periodic
transfers to a segregated bank account. The Company is not obligated to make these transfers but
elected to segregate the funds in order to qualify for a Portuguese income tax deduction. The use of
the funds in this account is restricted to reclamation and remediation activities.
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Tabular amounts are in thousand of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)
6.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment consist of:

Cost
Mineral properties
Neves-Corvo
Aljustrel
Crypto

$

Plant and equipment
Neves-Corvo
Aljustrel
Other
Mine development and other
Neves-Corvo
Aljustrel
Malhadinha
Crypto

Total

$

91,723
11,310
103,033

December 31, 2005
Accumulated
depreciation
and depletion
$

5,172
5,172

$

December 31, 2004
Accumulated
depreciation
Cost
and depletion

Net
86,551
11,310
97,861

$

56,122
11,594
288
68,004

$

1,931
1,931

Net
$

54,191
11,594
288
66,073

154,613
7,060
219
161,892

24,650
347
102
25,099

129,963
6,713
117
136,793

162,447
6,823
110
169,380

11,264
247
71
11,582

151,183
6,576
39
157,798

35,863
30,011
2,411
68,285

1,559
1,559

34,304
30,011
2,411
66,726

28,807
24,034
2,459
18
55,318

-

28,807
24,034
2,459
18
55,318

333,210

$

31,830

$

301,380

$

292,702

$

13,513

$ 279,189

Plant and Equipment at Neves-Corvo includes equipment acquired under capital leases of
$12,531,000 (2004- $9,251,000) and accumulated depreciation of $5,315,000 (2004- $4,109,000).
The corresponding lease obligations are discussed in Note 9.
7.

LOAN PAYABLE
On June 15, 2004, the Company entered into a $10,000,000 loan agreement (the “Boliden Loan”)
with Boliden Mineral AB. The Boliden Loan bore interest at the rate of one month LIBOR plus
3.5% per annum and matured on June 15, 2005. The loan was repaid in full on maturity.

8.

REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY
On March 31, 2005, the Company entered into an unsecured, three-year revolving commercial
paper facility for the issuance of up to €40,000,000 ($51,664,000) of commercial notes (the
“Commercial Notes”) with a European banking syndicate. The facility expires on March 31, 2008
unless terminated earlier by the Company. The Commercial Notes have variable maturities of up to
six months from date of issuance and bear interest at EURIBOR plus a floating rate, depending on
the net debt to EBITDA ratio calculated semi-annually. On March 31, 2005, the full amount was
drawn to repay the $50,000,000 amended debt facility (Note 9 (b)). During 2005, the Commercial
Notes were fully repaid from operating cash flow.
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EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Tabular amounts are in thousand of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)
9.

LONG-TERM DEBT

Somincor bonds - 2005 to 2009 (a)
Collateralized term loan (b)
Price participation loan (c)
Capital lease obligation (d)
Deferred employee housing sales (e)
EU interest free investment loan (f)

$

Less:
Current portion
Long term portion

$

2005
31,973
7,305
207
3,293
42,778

$

(3,868)
38,910 $

2004
36,777
50,000
22,000
5,260
740
4,565
119,342
(15,403)
103,939

The payment obligations over the next five years are expected to be:

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010

Capital leases
2,845
2,218
1,772
470
$
7,305 $

Debt
31,973
31,973

$

Other
1,023
1,316
1,161
3,500

$

$

Total
3,868
3,534
2,933
32,443
42,778

a) On December 17, 2004, Somincor issued 540,000 unsecured bonds with a nominal value of €50
each for a total of €27,000,000, which is equivalent to $31,973,000 (2004 - $36,777,000). The
reduction in this Euro denominated debt results entirely from the change in the US dollar
exchange rates at December 31, 2005 and 2004. The bonds have a five year term with 100% of
the principal repayable on maturity. The bonds bear interest at “EURIBOR 6 months” plus an
annual spread of 1.075% until March 31, 2005 and thereafter the spread is 0.875%. Interest
payments are due on June 17 and December 17 of each year.
b)

In 2004, Somincor obtained an amended debt facility of $50,000,000 repayable over a three
and a half year period with equal semi-annual mandatory repayments commencing on June 30,
2005 until the final maturity date June 30, 2008. This facility bore interest at LIBOR plus
2.25% per annum. The loan was collateralized by all of the assets of Somincor, a pledge of its
shares and was guaranteed by one of the Company’s Portuguese subsidiaries. The loan was
repaid in full in 2005 with the proceeds of the Commercial Notes (Note 8).

c) On December 22, 2004, the Company entered into an eighteen month debt facility for
$48,000,000 to purchase the PPP from Rio Tinto Group and Empresa de Desenvolvimento
Mineiro SGPS, S.A. (“EDM”) with an effective date of October 1, 2004. The first drawdown of
$22,000,000 was made on December 22, 2004 and the balance of $26,000,000 was drawn down
on January 28, 2005. This facility bore interest at LIBOR plus a margin of 3.5% and was
- 14 -

EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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repayable by quarterly payments commencing January 31, 2005. Quarterly payments were
equal to the greater of the PPP payable or $10,000,000 for the first installment and $5,000,000
thereafter. By August 26, 2005 the loan was repaid in full.
d) Capital lease obligations in 2005 relate to mining equipment and passenger vehicles over three
or four year terms and have interest rates of 1.25% to 1.75% above EURIBOR for three and six
month periods.
e) The Company’s subsidiary, Pirites Alentejanas (“PA”), has entered into sales contracts (as
vendor) with certain employees (as purchasers), whereby the Company has agreed to sell
certain residential housing units to the purchasers and received deposits for the housing units
sold. Title to the housing units is transferred to the purchasers upon receipt of the final
payment pursuant to the contract and the land title subdivision is complete. PA records the gain
or loss on disposal of the housing unit on the title transfer date. During 2005 119 houses were
sold and the corresponding deposits have been applied towards the sales. As at December 31,
2005 the Company had an outstanding balance of $207,000 (2004 - $740,000) pursuant to such
agreements for future house sales.
f) The EU has established special investment programs to promote the development of some
countries inside the European Union. The mine is located in one of the regions of Portugal that
qualifies for investment incentives. The incentives granted by the Portuguese Government
include both non-refundable and interest-free loans. During 2001 and 2002 Somincor spent
approximately $20,000,000 in eligible investments which resulted in a non-refundable grant of
$800,000 and an interest-free loan of $4,565,000 repayable over the next three years.
10.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, DERIVATIVES AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company is exposed to changes in commodity prices and foreign exchange. In conducting its
business the Company uses various instruments including forward sales, swaps, interest rate and
put options only for the purpose of managing these risks and not for trading purposes.
a) Foreign Exchange Rate Risk
The Company has exposure to Euro/US$ exchange rates because it has operations in Europe
while the revenues for the commodities mined are denominated in US dollars. The Company
has entered into foreign exchange forward contracts to fix the exchange rate at US$1.1967 per
Euro for its 2006 estimated expenditures at the Neves-Corvo mine.
b) Credit Risk
Derivative credit risk arises from the possibility that a counterparty to a contract fails to
perform according to the terms of the contract. Derivative credit risk is minimized by dealing
with large credit-worthy counterparties and having lines of credit with a number of
counterparties.
Accounts receivable credit risk is reduced by the Company having long-term contracts with
major smelting companies that cover over 90% of its sales. Historically, all of these
companies have paid on the dates stated in the contract. Customers without proven credit
history are required to provide Letters of Credit before shipment of concentrates.
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The Company manages the credit risk related to its cash and cash equivalent assets by dealing
with a number of financial institutions with specified exposure limits for each institution.
These exposure limits are established by considering the credit rating of the institutions and are
reviewed on a regular basis.
c) Fair Value
The fair values of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, restricted
cash, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and loan payable approximate their carrying values.
Management believes that the fair value of long-term debt and deferred premiums approximate
their carrying value; however, the fair value of the Aljustrel production liabilities is not
determinable (Note 22 (c)).
In 2004 the Company’s lenders mandated a copper price protection program as a condition
precedent to the debt financing for the acquisition of Somincor. The requirement was to buy
various derivatives for a three year period for approximately 70% of the Neves-Corvo copper
production. The put premiums relating to the three year program totalled $21,266,000 were
deferred and recorded as a derivative liability and accreted to its face value at an annual rate of
8%.
During 2005 to mitigate price risk the Company sold forward 30,750 tonnes or about 36% of
expected 2006 copper production at an average price of $3,578 per tonne or $1.62 per pound. In
addition 24,000 tonnes of put options costing $2,424,000 were purchased at a strike price of
$3,000 per tonne or $1.36 per pound.
The fair value of all the unexpired derivatives has been estimated using year-end market values.
The following table summarizes the approximate amount that the Company would either (pay)
or receive to settle the contracts at December 31, 2005 and 2004:

2005
741 $
(17,095)
328
-

2004
4,172
(14,623)
(436)

Deferred premiums

(16,026)
(18,113)

(10,887)
(20,943)

Total
Less: current portion
Long-term portion of net derivative instrument liabilities

(34,139)
7,357
(26,782) $

(31,830)
2,572
(29,258)

Copper put options
Forward sales
Currency hedges
Interest rate swaps

$

- 16 -

$

EUROZINC MINING CORPORATION
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Tabular amounts are in thousand of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)
11.

ALJUSTREL PRODUCTION LIABILITIES
The following amounts are payable only upon production from a specific deposit at the Aljustrel
mine:

Interest bearing debt - principal and interest
Non-interest bearing debt
Other creditors

$

$

2005
6,043
5,955
314
12,312

$

$

2004
6,755
6,547
2,453
15,755

Interest and non-interest bearing debts payable to EDM and amounts due to creditors were
assumed on the purchase of the Aljustrel mine and are only repayable following commencement
of commercial production from a specified deposit.
a) Debt of $6,043,000 (€5,091,000), bears interest at EURIBOR and compounds annually and is
payable in annual installments of $2,077,000 (€1,750,000), beginning twelve months following
the commencement of commercial production from a specified deposit. (Note 22 (c)).
b) Non-interest bearing debt of $10,443,000 (€8,777,000) is payable, twelve months after the final
payment of the above interest bearing debt, in four equal annual installments of $2,610,000
(€2,199,000) while Aljustrel is in commercial production. The recorded value, originally
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows by 12%, is accreted to its face value
over the term of the debt through a charge to interest expense. (Note 22 (c)).
c) The Company assumed liabilities of $3,503,000 (€2,951,000) owing to previous creditors of
Aljustrel from EDM. Payment of these amounts, which are non-interest bearing, would start
three years after production commences at the Aljustrel mine. The recorded present value was
being accreted to its face value over the term of the debt through a charge to interest expense.
During 2005 the Company negotiated with some of the major creditors for payment of the debt
at 20% of its face value, resulting in a gain of $1,303,000 for the period. The outstanding
balance at December 31, 2005 is $314,000 (€264,000).
12.

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS
Although the ultimate amount of the asset retirement obligation and reclamation cost is uncertain,
the fair value of these obligations is based on information currently available including closure
plans and applicable regulations. The development of a life of mine plan (“LOM”) is an ongoing
process which takes into account the most recent geological information and prevailing economic
parameters including long-term commodity prices and costs, productivity and smelting and refining
costs.
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Aljustrel mine:
The asset retirement obligation is based on an updated feasibility study, completed by an
independent consultant for the Aljustrel mine in February 2001 which estimated the obligation at
the time of the assessment to be $5,000,000. During 2005 the Company reviewed its future
reclamation obligation using Aljustrel’s latest LOM plan and forecasted inflation rates and
determined that the future estimated cash flows had decreased by $547,000. The accretion of this
obligation in 2005 was $255,000 (2004 - $207,000).
Neves-Corvo mine:
The asset retirement obligation is based on an environmental study that was completed by an
independent consultant in 1992 and updated in 1998 and 1999. The estimated obligation at the time
of assessment was €57,682,000 which converted at the acquisition date rate of exchange equates to
$69,530,000. During 2005 the Company’s review of Neves-Corvo’s latest LOM plan and
forecasted inflation rates resulted in a $1,859,000 increase to the future estimated cash flows for the
asset retirement obligation. The accretion on this obligation in 2005 was $2,740,000 (2004-post
acquisition $1,149,000).
A summary of the Company’s provision for asset retirement obligation is as follows:

Neves Corvo
Balance, December 31, 2003
Amounts arising from acquisition of Neves-Corvo
Accretion during the year
Balance, December 31, 2004
Change in estimate
Accretion
Impact on foreign exchange
Balance, December 31, 2005

$

$

47,095
1,149

Aljustrel
$

48,244
1,859
2,740
(907)
51,936 $

4,154
207

Total
$

4,361
(547)
255
4,069 $

4,154
47,095
1,356
52,605
1,312
2,995
(907)
56,005

The Company’s calculations use forecasted inflation rate of 2.2% for Neves-Corvo and Aljustrel to
compute the estimated future cost of reclamation and discounted these costs to present values by
using a credit adjusted risk free rate of 5.0% per annum.
13.

OTHER OBLIGATIONS UPON MINE CLOSURE
The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Somincor, is required to provide for the liabilities
associated with employee termination costs upon the closure of Neves-Corvo mine in accordance
with Portuguese government requirements. As at December 31, 2005, Somincor has accrued
$2,941,000 (2004 - $1,900,000) related to this future liability. This future liability will be adjusted
each year to reflect the changes in underlying employee information projected to exist at the mine
closure date.
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14.

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Change in non-cash working capital consists of :
Account receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Account payable

$

$
Non-cash financing and investing activities :
Warrants issued pursuant to a loan gurantee
Capital assets acquired under capital lease

Operating activities included the following payments :
Taxes paid
Interest paid
15.

$

2005
(38,526) $
6,847
(81)
26,737
(5,023) $

$

2004
(19,428)
(2,799)
(99)
10,506
(11,820)

$

5,972
5,972

$

2,080
2,080

$
$

13,354
4,811

$
$

12,437
4,928

SHARE CAPITAL
a) Common shares (in thousands)
Authorized: 1,000,000,000 common shares without par value
Issued and outstanding:

In thousands of US dollars
Balance, December 31, 2003
Issued during the year:
Underwritten financings, net of share issue costs of $5,711
Exercise of stock options
Exercise of share purchase warrants
Fair value of stock options transferred from Options and Warrants
Balance, December 31, 2004
Issued during the year:
Exercise of stock options
Exercise of share purchase warrants
Fair value of stock options transferred from Options and Warrants
Balance, December 31, 2005
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Number of
shares
Amount
255,494 $ 46,228
205,800
76,373
2,200
315
16,042
5,046
424
479,536 $ 128,386
4,492
1,169
53,576
20,277
951
537,604 $ 150,783
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b)

Stock Option Plan
The Company has a stock option plan to attract and retain qualified directors, officers,
employees and consultants for the Company and its affiliates, to promote a proprietary interest
in the Company and to stimulate active interest by such persons in the development and
financial success of the Company. The stock option plan is administered by the Human
Resources Committee, all of whom are members of the Board of Directors. The maximum
aggregate number of shares issuable is 50,000,000. The exercise price per optioned share shall
be determined by the Human Resources Committee, but such price shall not be less than the
closing price of the shares on the TSX on the trading day immediately preceding the day on
which the option is granted. The options granted have a two-year vesting period. The
maximum term of options can be up to 10 years.
Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the
expected price volatility and expected life. Changes in the subjective input assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimate and therefore the existing models do not necessarily
provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of the Company’s stock options
granted/vested during the year.
The Company uses the fair value method of accounting for all stock-based payments to
employees and directors. Under this method, the Company included in general and
administration cost $1,322,000 (2004 - $1,516,000) for stock based compensation with a
corresponding credit to options and warrants. The fair value of the stock options granted was
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes pricing model assuming risk-free interest
rates of 3% to 4%, dividend yield of 0%, stock price volatility of 40% to 53% and an expected
life of the options of 1.5 to 2.5 years.
At December 31, 2005, the Company has the following options outstanding:

Weighted
average
1
remaining
Number of
WAP of
contractual
options
outstanding
Ranges of
life
options
Year of
exercise prices outstanding
(years)
('000s)
(CDN$)
expiry
(CDN$)
$0.15
$0.10
$0.60 - $0.66
$0.65 - $0.95

1

145
1,270
9,153
9,757

$0.15
$0.10
$0.62
$0.70

20,325

$0.62

WAP: Weighted Average Price
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2006
2007
2009
2010

Number of
options
exercisable
('000s)

1

WAP of
exercisable
options
(CDN$)

0.87
1.94
3.55
4.47

145
1,270
9,154
5,313

$0.15
$0.10
$0.62
$0.72

3.77

15,882

$0.61
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c) Share Purchase Warrants
There were no share purchase warrants issued during 2005, except for the conversion of agent
warrants. As of December 31, 2005, the Company has the following warrants outstanding:

Exercise prices (CDN$)

Number of warrants outstanding (000's)

Expiry date

$0.60
$0.75
$0.60

1,400
2,868
8,696

1-Feb-06
6-Feb-06
1-Apr-06

12,964

Transactions concerning stock options and share purchase warrants are summarized
below:
Incentive stock option plan
Shares Price (CDN$)
Outstanding, December 31, 2003
Year ended December 31, 2004
Granted
Exercised

6,410

0.14

10,700
(2,200)

Outstanding, December 31, 2004
Year ended December 31, 2005
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled

14,910

Outstanding, December 31, 2005

20,325

0.60 - 0.66
0.18
$0.10 - $0.66

9,940
(4,492)
(33)

0.65 - 0.95
0.51
0.65
$0.10 - $0.95

Share purchase warrants
Shares Price (CDN$)

Total

23,087

0.25 - 0.40

29,497

57,352
(16,042)

0.40 - 0.60
0.25 - 0.50

68,052
(18,242)

64,397
2,143
(53,576)
12,964

$0.25 - $0.60
0.40 - 0.75
0.40 - 0.75
$0.60 - $0.75

79,307
12,083
(58,068)
(33)
33,289

d) Options and Warrants
Options and warrants consist of unexercised fair value of stock options and share purchase
warrants as follows:

In thousands
Balance, December 31, 2004
Issued during the year
Transfers to share capital

Options
14,725
5,463
(3,991)

Balance, December 31, 2005

16,197

Number of
Warrants
13,933
(3,837)
10,096

Total
28,658
5,463
(7,828)

Amounts
Options Warrants
Total
$ 1,865 $ 2,249 $ 4,114
1,322
1,322
(401)
(550)
(951)

26,293

$ 2,786

$ 1,699

$

4,485

e) Currency Translation Adjustment
Currency translation adjustment represents the cumulative unrecognized exchange adjustment
on the translation of the net assets of the Company’s Portuguese subsidiaries and Canadian
corporate office converted from their functional currency into US Dollars. The change for the
year reflects the impact of US currency movements on these net assets.
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16.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company had the following transactions with related parties which have been recorded at the
exchange amount:
2005
$ 335

Consulting and management fees
Consulting and management fees paid to Directors and Officers,
and a company controlled by the former President of the Company as
compensation for services performed.

2004
$ 1,433

Warrants Issued
During the year 2004, 12,195,652 warrants were issued to RCF, a shareholder of the Company, for
the Boliden Loan guarantee (Note 7). No related party warrants were issued in 2005.
17.

INCOME TAXES
Reconciliation of income taxes calculated at statutory rates to the actual tax provision is as follows:

2005

2004
(Restated)
(Note 21)

Statutory tax rate
Income tax expense at the statutory rate
Effect of lower tax rates in foreign jurisdictions
Changes in valuation allowance
Non-deductible expenditures
Withholding tax
Foreign exchange
Foreign income taxed in Canada
Other
Income tax expense
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$

$

34.9%

35.6%

41,529 $
(15,407)
(4,396)
1,494
615
1,158
5,651
12
30,656 $

7,057
(1,868)
(1,458)
543
(134)
4,140
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Future income taxes arise from temporary differences in the recognition of income and expenses for
financial reporting and tax purposes. The significant components of future income tax assets and
liabilities at December 31 are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Current assets
Non-capital losses
Resource pools
Share issue costs
Other liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Marked-to market derivatives

$

Less: valuation allowance
Excess book value of plant and equipment over tax value
Future income tax asset

$

2005
6,435
1,110
2,062
2,709
10,297
8,044

2004
$ 14,875
9,452
1,207
1,851
11,932
7,068

30,657

46,385

(4,356)
(14,714)
26,301
31,671
(5,801)
20,500 $ 31,671

The Company has non-capital losses of $9,374,000 in Portugal available for carry-forward to offset
against future taxable income. Future benefits for these losses have been offset by a valuation
allowance. The losses expire as follows:

Years of expiry
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011

18.

Portugal
$
397
4,256
4,229
305
187
$
9,374

SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company operates in one industry segment, namely base metal mining in one geographic
region, Portugal.

19.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
(i) The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Somincor, has entered into the following
commitments:
a) Royalty payment under a fifty year concession agreement to pay the greater of 10% of net
income or 0.75% of mine-gate production revenue. Royalty cost for 2005 was $9,186,000
(2004 - $3,988,000).
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b) The port authority of Setubal and Sesimbra, Portugal for the use of the port facilities for a
thirty-year period from 1996 at an annual cost of $120,000.
c) Railway transport agreement for ten years expiring November, 2010 at an estimated
annual cost of$4,500,000 per year.
d) Setubal bulk terminal land and use license commitments aggregating approximately
$420,000 per year for the duration of the life of the terminal facilities.
e) Computer equipment lease commitments for the next two years in the amount of
approximately $811,000 per year.
f) The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Somincor, was part of an on-going industrywide investigation involving major copper concentrate producers commenced in Europe,
Canada and the US. On September 30, 2005, the subsidiary was advised by the European
Commission that the investigation was closed without prejudice.
(ii) The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Pirites Alentajanas, S.A. (“PA”) is committed to
pay EDM $26,020,130 (€21,972,750) under the terms of a “price participation” clause. The
“price participation”, which PA is liable to EDM, is an amount equal to the amount of zinc
produced and sold from PA’s properties times 8% of the price of pound of zinc in excess of
$0.55, whenever the annual zinc settlement price averages over $0.55 per pound. This price
participation is payable for a period of ten years from the commencement of production from
a specific deposit at the Aljustrel mine, and the base price of $0.55 will be adjusted after five
years to account for the effects of inflation. (Also see Note 22 (c))
(iii) Derivatives and financial instruments
The Company’s has commitments under derivative instruments at December 31, 2005 as
follows:
Unrealized
2006
2007
Total
gain (loss)
Copper
2005 Puts (tonnes)
24,000
24,000
Average price (US$/Ib)
$1.36
$1.36
$ (1,880)
2004 Puts (tonnes)
Average price (US$/Ib)

11,268
$0.86

8,784
$0.85

20,052
$0.86

$ (3,975)

Forward sales (tonnes)
Average price (US$/Ib)

30,750
$1.62

-

30,750
$1.62

$ (17,095)

$137,684
1.1967

-

$137,684
1.1967

US dollars
Forward sales
Average US$ / € rate
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20.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN
ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

AND

UNITED

STATES

GENERALLY

The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles (“CDN GAAP”) which differ in certain respects from those
principles that the Company would have followed had its consolidated financial statements been
prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“US GAAP”)
and from practices prescribed by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
Material measurement differences related to these consolidated financial statements are as follows:
Applying US GAAP, the consolidated balance sheets would be as follows:
(Restated - Note 21)

December 31, 2005
US GAAP CDN GAAP
Assets
Current assets
Property, plant and equipment [a]
Future income tax asset
Other long-term assets
Total assets

$

$

Liabilities
Accounts payables and accrued liabilities
Loan payable
Long-term debt
Derivative instruments liability
Asset retirement obligations
Long-term liabilities

$

Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Options and warrants
Retained earnings (deficit) [a]
Currency translation adjustment

105,177
290,394
20,500
21,534
437,605

$

80,611
38,910
26,782
56,005
15,253
217,561

$

$

150,878
4,176
72,944
(7,954)
220,044

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity
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$

437,605

December 31, 2004
US GAAP CDN GAAP

105,177
301,380
20,500
21,534
448,591

$

80,611
38,910
26,782
56,005
15,253
217,561

$

$

150,783
4,485
82,787
(7,025)
231,030
$

448,591

84,939
268,500
31,671
24,060
409,170

$

51,181
10,000
119,342
31,830
52,605
17,655
282,613

$

$

128,481
3,805
(15,096)
9,367
126,557
$

409,170

84,939
279,189
31,671
24,060
419,859

51,181
10,000
119,342
31,830
52,605
17,655
282,613

128,386
4,114
(5,550)
10,296
137,246
$

419,859
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The effect of measurement differences between CDN GAAP and US GAAP on the Company’s net
loss for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 is summarized below:

Years ended December 31,
2005
2004
(Restated)
(Note 21)

Net earnings under CDN GAAP
Effect of differences in accounts for:
Expense current year deferred exploration costs [a]
Net earnings under US GAAP
Cumulative translation adjustment
Comprehensive income

$

88,337

$

$

(297)
88,040
(18,228)
69,812 $

Basic and diluted earnings per share

$

0.17

$

15,682
(181)
15,501
10,296
25,797
0.04

Basic and diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding is same under US GAAP and
CDN GAAP.
[a]

Property, plant and equipment
Under US GAAP and practices prescribed by the SEC, mineral property exploration
expenditures relating to mineral properties for which commercial feasibility has not yet been
established are expensed as incurred. In addition, land use costs are expensed as incurred.
Under CDN GAAP, these costs are deferred and amortized over the estimated life of the
property following the commencement of commercial production, or written off if the
property is sold, allowed to lapse, abandoned or impaired.
All exploration expenditures in 2005 and 2004 relating to mineral properties, without a
feasibility study, were expensed for CDN GAAP, except for $297,000 (2004- $181,000)
noted above relating to early stage exploration at Somincor.

[b]

Comprehensive income
Under US GAAP, comprehensive income is recognized and measured in accordance with
FASB Statement No. 130 “Reporting Comprehensive Income”. Comprehensive income
includes all changes in equity other than those resulting from investments by owners and
distributions to owners. Comprehensive income includes two components, net income and
other comprehensive income. Other comprehensive income includes amounts that are
recorded as an element of shareholders’ equity but are excluded from net income as these
transactions or events are attributable to changes from non-owner sources. These items
include holding gains and losses on certain investments, gains and losses on certain derivative
instruments and foreign exchange gains and losses related to self-sustaining foreign
operations (cumulative translation adjustment). A standard for comprehensive income and
other comprehensive income is not yet effective under Canadian GAAP.
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[c]

Recent accounting pronouncements
On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based
Payment (“SFAS 123(R)”), which is a revision of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for StockBased Compensation. SFAS 123(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees. Generally, the approach in SFAS 123(R) requires all share-based
payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the
income statement based on their fair values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative.
This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. As the Company
currently uses the fair value method to account for all stock option grants this statement will
have no impact on the consolidated financial statements.
In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchanges of Non-Monetary Assets,
Amendment of APB Opinion No. 29. The guidance in APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for
Non-Monetary Transactions, is based on the principle that exchanges of non-monetary assets
should be measured based on the fair value of the assets exchanged. However, the guidance
in that Opinion included certain exceptions to that principle. This statement amends APB
Opinion No. 29 to eliminate the exception for exchanges of similar productive assets and
replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of non-monetary assets that do not have
commercial substance. A non-monetary exchange has commercial substance if the future
cash flows of the entity are expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. This
statement will be effective for fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. Earlier
application is permitted for non-monetary asset exchanges incurred during fiscal years
beginning after the date this statement was issued.
In June 2005, the AcSB issued CICA 3831, Non-monetary Transactions, replacing the former
CICA 3830, Non-monetary Transactions. This statement will be effective for fiscal periods
beginning after January 1, 2006. Earlier application is permitted for non-monetary asset
exchanges executed in periods beginning on or after July 1, 2005. Retroactive application is
prohibited. This new Canadian standard is, in all material respects, consistent with the new
US standard described above.
In April 2005, the AcSB issued CICA 1530, Comprehensive Income, which introduces new
rules for the reporting and display of comprehensive income. Comprehensive income, which
is currently reported under US GAAP, is the change in shareholders’ equity of an enterprise
during a reporting period from transactions and other events and circumstances from nonowner sources. It includes all changes in equity during a period except those resulting from
investments by owners and distributions to owners. These items include holding gains and
losses on certain investments, gain and losses on certain derivative instruments and foreign
currency gains and losses related to self-sustaining foreign operations (cumulative translation
adjustment).
In April 2005, the AcSB issued CICA 3865, Hedges, which is applicable when a company
chooses to designate a hedging relationship for accounting purposes. It builds on the existing
Accounting Guideline AcG-13 “Hedging Relationships”, and Section 1650 “Foreign
Currency Translation”, by specifying how hedge accounting is applied and what disclosures
are necessary when it is applied.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Tabular amounts are in thousand of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)
On March 30, 2005, the FASB ratified the EITF consensus in Issue 04-06 that postproduction stripping costs are a component of mineral inventory cost subject to the provisions
of AICPA Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, Restatement and Revision of Accounting
Research Bulletins, Chapter 4, Inventory Pricing (ARB 43). In the mining industry, the costs
of removing overburden and waste materials to access mineral deposits are referred to as
“stripping costs.” It is the accounting for costs incurred during the production stage of the
mine, or the post-production stripping costs, that are addressed in Issue 04-06. Based upon
this consensus, post production stripping costs should be considered costs of the extracted
minerals under a full absorption costing system and recognized as a component of inventory
to be recognized in costs of sales in the same period as the revenue from the sale of the
inventory. Additionally, capitalization of such costs would be appropriate only to the extent
inventory exists at the end of a reporting period. The guidance in this consensus will be
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005,
with early adoption permitted. The consensus can be adopted either prospectively through a
cumulative effect adjustment through opening retained earnings or retrospectively by
restating prior periods. The Company has not determined the method of adoption or the
impact, if any, on the Company’s financial position or results from operations.
On June 1, 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error
Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and FASB
Statement No. 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements.
SFAS 154 requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements of a change
in accounting principle unless it is impracticable to do so. This is a change from the existing
practice that requires most accounting changes to be accounted for by including in net income
in the period of the change the cumulative effect of changing to the new accounting principle.
SFAS 154 will be effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2005.
21.

RESTATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
During the third quarter ended September 30, 2005, the Company undertook a detailed review of
the tax consequences resulting from the reorganization of its international subsidiaries and
determined that the Portuguese income tax rate used in the calculation of future income taxes as at
December 31, 2004 was incorrect. During this review the Company determined that an enacted
change in the Portuguese income tax rate in 2004 reduced the rate from 27.5% to 22.0%, effective
January 1, 2005, for certain regions, including the region where the Company conducts its mine
operations. As a result, the Company has restated its consolidated financial statements to reduce
the income tax rate used in establishing future income taxes.
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For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
(Tabular amounts are in thousand of US dollars, except for price per share and per share amounts)
The effect of this restatement on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2004 is summarized as follows:

Previously
reported
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Total assets
Total liabilities
Shareholders' equity
Consolidated Statement of Operations
Net earnings before income taxes
Current income taxes
Future income tax (recovery) expense

Restated

$

421,644
282,613
139,031

$

(1,785)
(1,785)

$

419,859
282,613
137,246

$

19,822
(17,806)
15,451
17,467

$

(1,785)
(1,785)

$

19,822
(17,806)
13,666
15,682

$

22.

Adjustment

$

$

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent to December 31, 2005, the Company:
a) Received proceeds of $2,604,018 on exercise of 4,268,100 share purchase warrants, and
$894,722 on exercise of 2,199,998 employee stock options.
b) On February 14, 2006, the Company’s major shareholder Resource Capital Funds “RCF” sold
71,430,000 common shares of the Company for gross proceeds of $100,002,000 to a group of
underwriters through a secondary offering in Canada and a private placement in the USA.
The Company will not receive any proceeds from the sale of these shares and will be
reimbursed for expenses incurred in connection with the offering prospectus.
c) On February 27th, 2006 the Company signed a memorandum of understanding with EDM, the
previous owner of the Aljustrel mine, regarding the settlement of the amounts owed to EDM for
the balance of the purchase price and debt assumed upon acquisition of Aljustrel in 2001
aggregating $16,461,000 (€13,868,000) as detailed in Note 11(a) and (b), as well as the “price
participation” commitment of $26,020,130 (€21,972,150) discussed in Note 19 (ii). All of the
aforementioned obligations will be settled for approximately $4,100,000 (€3,450,000) with half
the amount payable upon signing of the formal agreement and the balance is payable thirty
months after that date.
The Company has guaranteed the commitments of its subsidiaries that own Aljustrel and has
agreed to provide a bank guarantee to secure the future payment. The agreement is subject to
ratification by the Portuguese government and the Company’s board of directors and will result
in the Company recording a gain on settlement of Aljustrel liabilities of approximately
$7,900,000 and eliminating the price participation obligation that was contingent upon
production from a specified deposit.
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Interim Report
Six Months Ended June 30, 2006 and 2005
August 10, 2006
(Amounts in United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

Financial Summary
Three months
ended
June 30, 2006

Three months
ended
June 30, 2005

Six months
ended
June 30, 2006

Six months
ended
June 30, 2005

112.9

43.5

204.7

79.6

EBITDA (i)

68.9

16.5

119.1

31.4

Net income

37.2

3.2

58.6

6.1

Basic earnings per share

0.91

0.08

1.44

0.17

Diluted earnings per share

0.90

0.08

1.43

0.17

Cash provided by operating
activities

54.4

16.8

77.1

24.3

Millions of US$, except per share data

Sales

(i) Non GAAP measure

CEO Comments
Lundin Mining President and CEO, Karl-Axel Waplan said: “The period has been marked by high activity in
all of our business units. Not only have we been successful in our exploration drilling in Ireland and
Sweden, we have also increased our interests in other regions. Our expansion into Russia, through the
major zinc-lead-silver deposit Ozernoe, is a significant step for Lundin Mining towards becoming a leading
base metal producer and we have high expectations for this project. We have also acquired an exploration
permit for the Spanish Toral zinc-lead-silver deposit, which we believe to be very promising.
Our work, together with continued strong market fundamentals for base metals, provides for a positive
outlook for Lundin Mining.”

Highlights
• A letter of intent to acquire a 49% interest in the Ozernoe project has been signed. The Ozernoe
project is a large zinc, lead and silver deposit located in the Republic of Buryatia in the Russian
Federation. Lundin Mining’s consideration for its interest will be $125 million.
• Lundin Mining has acquired the Toral zinc-lead-silver property in northwestern Spain. The government
authority chose Lundin Mining’s three-year work proposal as the winning bid for this advanced
exploration project.
• Exploration drilling discovered significant new mineralization at Galmoy in Ireland.
• New resource estimate for the Norrliden deposit has been prepared and exploration drilling is
underway.
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Selected Financial Information
Thousands of USD

Sales
Cost of sales
Exploration and project investigation
Administration and other income (expenses)
EBITDA (i)

$
$
$
$
$

Three months
ended
June 30, 2006
112,918
(38,504)
(2,083)
(3,480)
68,851

Three months
ended
June 30, 2005
43,537
(22,875)
(1,565)
(2,632)
16,465

Six months
Six months
ended
ended
June 30, 2006 June 30, 2005
204,716
79,570
(74,342)
(39,709)
(3,652)
(3,166)
(7,608)
(5,275)
119,114
31,420

Year
ended
Dec 31, 2005
192,073
(98,710)
(7,146)
(10,864)
75,353

Depreciation of fixed assets
Amortization of mining rights
EBIT (i)

$
$
$

(4,473)
(8,753)
55,625

(4,896)
(8,413)
3,156

(9,401)
(17,862)
91,851

(8,801)
(13,554)
9,065

(20,267)
(31,732)
23,354

Loss on copper and lead contracts (ii)
Net interest and other financial items
EBT (i)

$
$
$

(3,924)
(551)
51,150

1,235
4,391

(9,901)
(1,325)
80,625

1,430
10,495

(2,095)
22,806
44,065

Tax and non-controlling interest
Net income for the period

$
$

(13,989)
37,161

(1,221)
3,170

(22,003)
58,622

(4,390)
6,105

(14,102)
29,963

Operating Cash Flow
Capital Expenditures

$
$

54,415
(8,283)

16,758
(2,632)

77,119
(13,159)

24,306
(5,060)

66,665
(17,957)

(i) Non GAAP measures
(ii) Includes realized and unrealized result on metal hedges

Key Financial Data
Three months
ended
June 30, 2006
Shareholders´equity/share, USD*
Basic earnings/share, USD
Diluted earnings/share, USD
Dividends

$
$
$

Three months
ended
June 30, 2005

Six months
ended
June 30, 2006

Six months
ended
June 30, 2005

Year
ended
Dec 31, 2005

7.78
0.91
0.90
Nil

5.51
0.08
0.08
Nil

7.78
1.44
1.43
Nil

5.51
0.17
0.17
Nil

6.01
0.78
0.78
Nil

Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding

40,740,712
41,160,672

38,991,799
39,210,820

40,717,272
41,094,334

36,352,245
36,562,270

38,416,486
38,658,521

Number of shares outstanding at period end

40,761,331

40,425,831

40,761,331

40,425,831

40,693,831

* Shareholders´equity/share is defined as shareholders´equity divided by total number of shares outstanding at period end.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
(Amounts in United States Dollars unless otherwise indicated)
Six months ended June 30, 2006
This Management’s discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of the operations,
analyzes the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 and is dated August 10, 2006.

Recent Events
Letter of intent to acquire a 49% interest in the Ozernoe zinc, lead and silver project signed
Lundin Mining Corporation (“Lundin Mining” or the “Company”) has announced that its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Lundin Mining AB, has entered into a letter of intent with IFC Metropol (“Metropol”), a Russian
financial institution with interests in both financial and industrial spheres, through Metropol’s wholly owned
subsidiary, East Siberian Metals, to acquire a 49% interest in the Ozernoe project, a zinc, lead and silver
deposit located in the Republic of Buryatia in the Russian Federation. Lundin Mining’s consideration for its
49% interest will be $125 million.
A preliminary assessment of the project contemplates development as a conventional open pit mining
operation. Indicated resources are estimated at 157 million tonnes grading 5.2% zinc and 1.0% lead.
The Ozernoe project is ranked as the sixth largest zinc project in the world in terms of in-situ value
according to Brook Hunt, an independent mining and metal industry consultant.
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The letter of intent also stipulates that Lundin Mining has the right of first refusal (valid for 9 months
starting from May, 2006) with respect to the Kholodninskoye zinc project, which is currently controlled by
Metropol. Kholodninskoye is a zinc-lead-silver project located in the same region as the Ozernoe project. A
project definition study is underway. Kholodninskoye is ranked number three in the world in terms of insitu value according to Brook Hunt.
Lundin Mining and Metropol have also entered into an exclusivity agreement which is ending on September
15, 2006. The exclusivity agreement prohibits Metropol from entering into any discussion with any other
persons than Lundin Mining regarding any transaction that would be an alternative to the proposed
transaction. Lundin Mining agreed to pay $2 million as consideration for the exclusivity agreement. This
amount will be deducted against the cash payment upon closing of the transaction.
The Ozernoe project is located 250 km northeast of Ulan Ude, the capital of the Republic of Buryatia, in an
area known for containing mineral resources. The property contains zinc and lead mineralization in nearsurface, layered sulphide lenses, with large amounts of pyrite and significant silver content. This major
deposit is well known and was extensively explored during the 1970’s and 1980’s by means of 93,218
metres of surface drilling in 572 holes, 4,118 metres of underground drilling in 33 holes, 4,406 metres of
underground exploration drifts, crosscuts and raises, and several kilometres of surface trenching. No
production has taken place.
Upon completion of the transaction, a new joint venture company will be formed in which Lundin Mining
will hold a 49% interest and Metropol will have a 51% interest. Activities of the joint venture company will
be the subject of a shareholders agreement. The total consideration to be paid by Lundin Mining for its
interest in the Ozernoe project will be $125 million. Of this amount $110 million will be paid upon closing
of which $10 million will be directed to the new joint venture company and used towards the completion of
a bankable feasibility study on the Ozernoe project. The remaining $15 million will be paid when the
project goes into commercial production. The acquisition is subject to the conclusion of final agreements,
due diligence and all requisite regulatory approvals.
Pursuant to the letter of intent, Lundin Mining will be the manager/operator with respect to mining
operations, including project development, construction and operation of the mine once completed, and
will be responsible for arranging project financing in an amount equal to 60% of the cost required to put
the Ozernoe project into commercial production. A preliminary capital expenditure of $400 million has
been estimated. Metropol will carry out certain activities prior to the closing of the acquisition including
planning for road works and camp construction.
For further information regarding the indicated mineral resources, see the news release issued by the
Company on June 29, 2006. For further information about current activities of the Ozernoe project, see
page 10 of this report.
Acquisition of the Toral Project, a Spanish zinc, lead and silver property
Lundin Mining AB has been granted an exclusive three-year Investigation Permit for the Toral Project by
the Territorial Service of Industry, Commerce and Tourism of the Autonomous Community of Castile and
León. The 2,850 ha 100% Lundin Mining property is located 400 km northwest of Madrid, near to the
regional city of Ponferrada. This advanced exploration project has a significant historic zinc-lead-silver
resource and was acquired through a public bidding process for a land holding cost of €2,100 for the first
three years. The government authority chose Lundin Mining’s three-year work proposal as the winning
bid.
The property covers over 6 km of strike length of the Lower Cambrian Vegadeo Limestone formation which
is regionally mineralized along more than 40 km of its extent, and includes hosting the Rubiales zinc-leadsilver deposit, located about 30 km northwest of Toral. Rubiales contained an 18.6 million tonne mineral
resource grading 7.3 % zinc, 1.3 % lead and 13 grams/tones (“g/t”) silver and was mined by Cominco
from 1976 to 1991. Sulphide mineralization at Toral closely resembles the mineralization at Rubiales but
Toral contains significantly more silver. The Toral property is accessed by excellent infrastructure,
including a regional highway, high-voltage power line and a railway line which links to the Asturianas zinclead smelter via the city of León. Mining has traditionally been a significant part of the economy of this
region which is strongly supporting the re-entry of new exploration and mining projects.
The Toral project area was investigated by Peñarroya-España, a Spanish mining company, from 1975 to
1985; this work included constructing an underground ramp on an adjacent property that contains a small
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lead deposit. Over 42,000 metres of previous diamond drilling in 64 drill holes, including 41 wedged holes,
was completed at Toral. These holes delineated a narrow (average 3.7 metres wide) but continuous, subvertical, tabular zone of coarse-grained zinc-lead-silver sulphide mineralization with an 1,100 metres strike
length and a vertical height exceeding 400 metres. Based on the previous drilling, the historical estimate of
the Santa Barbara deposit at Toral was estimated at 4.7 million tonnes grading 9.8 % zinc, 7.6 % lead and
51 g/t silver. This historical estimate was calculated by Peñarroya-España.
The original Peñarroya-España drill core has been located, including the remaining halved sulphide
intercepts. Relogging and reassaying of this core has commenced which will eliminate the need for a costly
twin-hole verification drill programme. Plans are being made for an in-fill drilling programme to allow a
new resource estimation that will be compliant with NI43-101 requirements. In addition, it is planned to
drill an initially limited number of exploration holes to test the downdip potential immediately beneath the
historic resource. If results of this initial drill programme are as favourable as anticipated, an extensive and
aggressive ore delineation and definition drill programme will follow with the objective of quickly outlining
sufficient resources required for a bankable feasibility study.
Certain exploration and mine development expenditures are eligible for economic development grants and
interest free loans.
For further information regarding the Toral Property, see the news release issued by the Company on June
19, 2006.
Successful exploration drilling results at the Galmoy Mine in Ireland
Lundin Mining has announced that its wholly owned subsidiary, Lundin Mining Exploration Limited, has
discovered significant new mineralization at its Galmoy project in Ireland.
As part of an on-going 20,000 metre exploration drill program planned for 2006 in and near to the
Company’s Galmoy mine in Ireland, the following results are reported:

K Southwest Zone

A high grade extension of the K Orebody (the “K Southwest Zone”), which was discovered in mid-2005,
(see August 11, 2005 news release), has been drill-delineated at 25 metre spacing. By the end of 2005 the
zone had been outlined as being approximately 150 metres long by 40 metres wide, with a measured
resource of 187,000 tonnes grading 15.7% zinc, 3.8% lead and 39 g/t silver. As it is an extension of an
existing orebody, the northern end of the zone has already been developed and mining from it is currently
taking place. As of December 31, 2005, 86,000 tonnes at 16.3% zinc and 4.9% lead had been mined, and
a proven reserve of 94,000 tonnes at 11.9% zinc, 3.1% lead and 29 g/t silver remained. Mine exploration
drilling in 2006 has extended the zone an additional 100 metres to the south.

CW Southeast Zone

Also in the vicinity of the mine, a new zone of zinc-lead-silver mineralization, named the CW Southeast
Zone, has been discovered. This new zone is currently defined by seven vertical drill hole intercepts
covering an approximate 100 x 50 metre area and is as close as 100 metres from existing underground
mine workings. At this early stage of delineation drilling, it is unclear what impact, if any, this new zone of
mineralization will have on the mine’s present and future mineral reserves and resources.

Rapla South Prospect

Exploration drilling has also discovered significant new mineralization located approximately 6 km
northeast of the Galmoy Mine and over 500 metres southwest of the known Rapla prospect. The
discovery hole was collared 200 metres west of the nearest previously drilled hole and was the first of six
vertical drill holes planned for 2006 in this area. Semi-massive to massive sulphide mineralization was
intersected over 3.62 metres (considered true thickness; from 545.08 metres depth) grading 9.79% zinc,
1.99% lead and 4.52 g/t silver, including 1.92 metres grading 15.71% zinc, 3.64% lead and 4.56 g/t
silver.
For further information regarding the exploration drilling at Galmoy, see the news release issued by the
Company on April 10, 2006 and page 12 of this report.
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Norrliden new resource estimate and ongoing exploration drilling
The Norrliden property is jointly owned by Lundin Mining (90%) and International Gold Exploration
(10%). The Norrliden polymetallic volcanogenic massive sulphide (“VMS”) deposit is hosted by the
same Skellefte Group volcanic rocks that host the Boliden, Kristineberg, Renström, Petiknäs and
Storliden VMS deposits. Over 20 polymetallic VMS deposits have been mined in the Skellefte district of
northern Sweden since the 1930’s. The Norrliden deposit was previously explored and drilled by the
Swedish Geological Survey (“SGU”) followed by North Atlantic Natural Resources (“NAN”); NAN is
owned by Lundin Mining. No mining activity has taken place at this deposit.
The Norrliden deposit is located 40 km east of Lundin Mining’s high-grade Storliden copper-zinc mine.
The resource estimate at Norrliden has been reconciled to CIM category standards and is estimated as
follows:

Indicated
Inferred

Tonnes

Zinc (%)

Lead (%)

Copper (%)

Gold (g/t)

Silver (g/t)

568,000
948,000

4.9
4.0

0.4
0.4

0.8
0.8

0.9
0.7

59.7
59.1

Notes: Based on block cut-off of USD 15/t and a minimum 3 metre minimum mining width.
An exploration program has commenced on the property and will target the open down-dip extension
of the known massive sulphide resource to a depth of about 500 vertical metres from surface with two
phases of drilling. Down-hole transient electromagnetics (“TEM”) geophysical surveying will be carried
out prior to the second phase of target testing. The objective of this advanced exploration program is
to identify additional tonnage of higher grade massive sulphide mineralization to increase the known
resource base prior to a mine feasibility study.
For further information regarding the resource estimates of Norrliden, see the news release issued by
the Company on June 21, 2006.

Summary of operations – Metal production*
Three months ended
June 30, 2006

Three months ended
June 30, 2005

Six months ended
June 30, 2006

Six months ended
June 30, 2005

Year ended
December 31, 2005

22,828
5,678
12,615
41,121

19,916
7,894
20,231
48,041

40,785
13,876
29,832
84,493

38,227
18,258
35,634
92,119

69,981
32,024
74,321
176,326

2,200

2,372

5,453

5,571

10,839

Zinkgruvan
Galmoy
Total

8,031
2,640
10,671

9,996
3,524
13,520

15,824
7,081
22,905

21,469
9,196
30,665

36,674
17,284
53,958

Silver (ounces) Zinkgruvan
Galmoy
Total

439,223
33,741
472,964

490,657
33,435
524,092

852,756
86,548
939,304

996,486
121,636
1,118,122

1,866,061
203,292
2,069,353

Zinc (tonnes)

Zinkgruvan
Storliden
Galmoy
Total

Copper (tonnes) Storliden
Lead (tonnes)

*100% of the production at Galmoy is included for 2005. This does not, however, represent
Lundin Mining's actual ownership during this period. ARCON (owner of Galmoy) was aquired in April 2005.
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Selected quarterly information
Three months ended

Jun-06

Mar-06

Dec-05

Sep-05

Jun-05

Mar-05

Dec-04

Sep-04

Sales ($’000)

112,918

91,798

63,820

48,683

43,537

(iii)
36,033

(iii)
22,465

(iii)
16,444

37,161

21,461

14,221

9,637

3,170

2,935

2,090

2,738

0.91

0.53

0.35

0.24

0.08

0.09

0.07

0.09

0.90

0.52

0.35

0.24

0.08

0.09

0.07

0.09

Net income ($’000) (i)
Net income
per share, basic ($) (i) (ii)
Net income
per share, diluted ($) (i) (ii)

(i) The Company has restated its unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for 2004 to allow for the
retroactive effect of its change in accounting policy for exploration expenses.
(ii) The income per share (basic and diluted) is determined separately for each quarter. Consequently, the sum of
the quarterly amounts may differ from the year to date amount disclosed in the unaudited interim
consolidated financial statements as a result of using different weighted average numbers of shares
outstanding.
(iii) Restated for the change in the reporting currency of the Company.

Results of operations
Sales
The increase in total sales for the second quarter of 2006 compared to the second quarter of 2005 is
due to higher production volumes as a result of the acquisitions of ARCON International Resources Plc
(“ARCON”) in the second quarter of 2005 and significantly higher metal prices during the second
quarter 2006. The increased sales in the second quarter 2006 compared to the first quarter 2006 are
due to higher prices of copper and zinc during the second quarter.
Selling, General and Administrative Costs
The costs have increased slightly during the second quarter 2006 compared to the second quarter 2005
and the first quarter 2006 and are due to increased business activities at the corporate office in
Stockholm, Sweden.
General Exploration and project investigation
Exploration costs have increased by approximately $500,000 compared to the second quarter 2005 and
the first quarter of 2006. The drilling activities in the exploration areas controlled by the Company were
increased during the second quarter.
Net income
The increase in net income for the second quarter of 2006 compared to the second quarter of 2005 is
due to higher production volumes as a result of the acquisition ARCON in the second quarter of 2005
and significantly higher metal prices during the second quarter of 2006.
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Zinkgruvan Mine
(100 PERCENT OF PRODUCTION)

Three month ended
June 30,
June 30,
2006
2005

Six month ended
Year ended
June 30,
June 30, December 31,
2006
2005
2005

Ore milled (tonnes)

203,702

197,919

373,467

423,887

803,883

Zinc (%)

11.9

10.5

11.6

9.6

9.4

Lead (%)

4.5

5.4

4.8

5.6

5.1

92

96

97

95

95

Zinc (%)

94

94

94

93

93

Lead (%)

87

91

88

90

89

Silver (%)

73

78

73

76

76

Zinc (tonnes)

22,828

19,916

40,785

38,227

69,981

Lead (tonnes)

Grades per tonne

Silver (g/t)
Recoveries

Production

8,031

9,996

15,824

21,469

36,674

Silver (oz)

439,223

490,657

852,756

996,486

1,866,061

Sales, TUSD

$61,153

$20,834

$99,783

$40,643

$85,683

0.59

0.23

0.49

0.24

0.27

Zinc Cash Production Cost,
(US$/pound)*
*

Zinc Cash Production Cost is the sum of direct costs, indirect cash costs and by-product credits.

Production
The ore milled during the second quarter of 2006 was higher compared to the first quarter of 2006 and
the corresponding period 2005. The temporary rock mechanical issues in the mine during the first quarter
of 2006 were resolved during the first quarter and had no negative impact on the production during the
second quarter this year.
Zinc grades and recoveries during the second quarter this year have continued to be high. Total zinc
production for the first six months 2006 was approximately 2,500 tonnes higher compared to the same
period last year. However, total lead production for the first half year was 5,600 tonnes lower than the
same period 2005, which is due to lower grades in combination with lower mill throughput.
The cash production cost during the quarter has increased by 22 cents per pound of zinc compared to the
first quarter 2006 and 36 cents compared to the second quarter of 2005. The increase of the cash cost is
mainly due to increased smelter price participation charges, which are due to increased market prices of
zinc. The charges paid to the smelters are partly dependent on the market price of zinc. Also contributing
to the increased cash production cost is the fact that a smaller portion of the company’s revenue came
from lead, which has reduced by-product credits. Sales have increased by 59% during the second quarter
compared to the first quarter of 2006 and by 194% compared to the second quarter of 2005.
The financial result of Zinkgruvan reached record levels during the second quarter of 2006. The main
reasons for the result are the high metal prices in combination with relatively high metal production. The
production during the third quarter will to some extent be effected by the Swedish summer holiday period
in July and August and a one week planned maintenance stop in the mine and the mill in July.
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Storliden Mine
(100 PERCENT OF PRODUCTION)

Ore milled (tonnes)

Three months ended
June 30,
June 30,
2006
2005

Six months ended
June 30,
June 30,
2006
2005

Year ended
Dec 31,
2005

63,697

81,163

161,808

172,823

319,411

Copper (%)

3.9

3.2

3.8

3.5

3.7

Zinc (%)

9.8

10.5

9.4

11.4

10.9

Copper (%)

92

91

92

91

92

Zinc (%)

92

93

91

93

93

Copper (tonnes)

2,200

2,372

5,453

5,571

10,839

Zinc (tonnes)

5,678

7,894

13,876

18,258

32,024

$32,038

$12,277

$58,030

$28,385

$58,959

<0

0.09

<0

0.09

<0

Grades per tonne

Recoveries

Production

Sales, TUSD
Zinc Cash Production Cost
(US$/pound)*

* Zinc Cash Production Cost is the sum of direct costs, indirect cash costs and by-product credits.

Ownership
As of December 31, 2004 Lundin Mining held 74% of the shares of NAN, which is the owner of the
Storliden Mine. During the first quarter of 2005 the Company acquired an additional 24% of the shares of
NAN and initiated corporate procedures for the compulsory purchase of the remaining shares in NAN. As of
June 30, 2006 Lundin Mining controlled 100% of the shares of NAN.
Production
The milled production of ore was lower during the second quarter of 2006 compared to the second quarter
of 2005 and the first quarter of 2006. However, the ore hoisted from the mine was above plan for the first
six months of 2006 and the lower volumes of ore milled is due to a temporary build up of ore inventory at
the Boliden mill. However, this temporary build up of ore inventory at the Boliden mill had no impact on
the sales for NAN as NAN considers the ore sold to Boliden when the ore is loaded on the trucks at the
mine site for transport to the mill.
Zinc grades during the quarter were higher than the first quarter of 2006 but lower than the second
quarter of 2005. The zinc grades in the mine are dependent on the mining sequence. Total zinc production
from the mill, during the quarter, was lower compared to the first quarter of 2006 and the corresponding
quarter of 2005 as a result of the build up of inventory at the Boliden mill. The copper grades were higher
compared to the first quarter 2006 and the second quarter of 2005 but the lower volumes of ore milled
resulted in lower copper production.
The sales and the financial results of the mine met expectations for the quarter and were above the results
of all previous quarters due to higher metal prices, stable production from the mine and continued good
grades of copper and zinc. The production during the third quarter will to some extent be effected by the
Swedish summer holiday period in July and August.
The zinc cash costs for Storliden during the second quarter of 2006 continued to be less than zero due to
the high production of copper. The income from copper was higher than the production costs and the
related smelting charges.
The Storliden ore production for 2006 is expected to reach a level above the 2005 production of 319,411
tonnes.
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Galmoy Mine
(100 PERCENT OF PRODUCTION)

Three months ended
June 30,
June 30,
2006
2005

Six months ended
June 30,
June 30,
2006
2005

Year ended
Dec 31,
2005

Ore milled (tonnes)

145,828

171,633

301,881

325,358

644,058

Zinc (%)

10.8

13.8

12.0

13.2

13.7

Lead (%)

2.9

3.1

3.6

4.3

4.0

Zinc (%)

80

85

82

83

84

Lead (%)

62

66

65

66

68

Zinc (tonnes)

12,615

20,231

29,832

35,634

74,321

Lead (tonnes)

2,640

3,524

7,081

9,196

17,284

$20,875

$16,826

$48,619

$29,891

$68,289

0.97

0.42

0.77

0.45

0.46

Grades per tonne

Recoveries

Production

Sales, TUSD
Zinc Cash Production Cost
(US$/pound)*

* Zinc Cash Production Cost is the sum of direct costs, indirect cash costs and by-product credits.

Ownership
Lundin Mining and ARCON, the previous owner of the Galmoy mine, completed a merger during the
second quarter of 2005. ARCON has been consolidated in the financial statements of Lundin Mining
since May 1, 2005.
In order to provide comparable data, production figures and sales are presented at the mine level for
all periods, including those that ended prior to the date the Company acquired the mine.
Production
Ore production during the second quarter of 2006 was 26,000 tonnes lower than during the second
quarter of 2005 and 10,000 tonnes lower than the first quarter of 2006. Mine production during the
second quarter of this year was negatively impacted by a blasting accident on April 15. The blasting
accident occurred when a class 1 detonator exploded prematurely. One employee at Galmoy was
injured. Class 1 detonators are approved for use in Ireland. However, immediately after the accident
class 1 detonators were banned from use by the Company. Blasting at Galmoy continued within seven
days after the accident using non-electric initiation.
Zinc grades were lower during the second quarter of this year compared to the second quarter of last
year and the first quarter of 2006. The grades of the ore vary over time due to the mining sequence.
The improvement project in the mill is continuing and it has been decided to proceed with an
expansion of the lead circuit with an additional flotation cell being ordered. With an increased flotation
volume in the lead circuit the mill will be able to increase recovery of lead and at the same time
increase zinc recovery by reducing the amount of zinc going into the lead concentrate. The present
layout of the lead circuit is too small to adequately handle the metal flow. Operational results from the
expansion of the lead circuit are expected during the fourth quarter of this year.
Most of the finalized technical projects in the mill have so far been related to improving the basic
mechanical conditions. A major overhaul to the SAG mill was also performed during a one week shut down
in June. As a result of the mechanical projects in the mill the number of unplanned stops is expected to
gradually decrease which will increase the stability of the process in the future.
Recoveries were 80% for zinc and 62% for lead during the second quarter of this year which is lower
compared to the first quarter of this year and full year 2005. The metallurgical performance in the mill
varies between the different ore bodies at Galmoy and analysis is ongoing in trying to understand these
differences. The production of zinc metal was significantly lower than the first quarter of this year and
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the second quarter of 2005 mainly due to the blasting accident and the one week stop in the mill in
June.
Quarterly cash production costs at Galmoy increased to 97 cents per pound due to low production and
increased smelter treatment charges. The increased charges are due to the price participation element
of the smelter treatment charges.

The Ozernoe project in Russia
Lundin Mining is currently providing technical assistance to East Siberian Metals, as part of the agreed
technical due diligence, whilst they carry out a 17 twin-hole programme for approximately 4,000 metres of
diamond core drilling. By end of the second quarter, 510 metres of this programme had been successfully
completed with excellent core recovery. Initial results suggest that the massive sulphides are present and
do visually contain significant zinc and lead sulphide minerals. An on-site portable X-Ray Fluorescence
(“XRF”) analyzer will provide initial verification checks on metal contents, including zinc, lead and silver,
while more accurate assays are awaited from local labs. A representative set of duplicate samples will also
be sent to an internationally recognized lab for check assaying. A strict sample protocol, including quality
control samples and chain of custody, has been established.
Detailed sampling and collection of geotechnical and density information will be integrated with the
analytical results as part of Lundin Mining’s due diligence study. A data capture and review programme is
running in tandem with the verification drill programme in which historic paper drill logs, maps, sections
and reports are being scanned and, where necessary, translated for integration into an updated block
model. Data due diligence work indicates that there are no significant data omissions in the available data
set and that the original information was collected in an extremely thorough and methodical manner.
Over several decades the Russian state carried out extensive regional exploration which resulted in the
discovery of other world-class deposits within the ‘Kourbino – Yeravninskaya Tectono-Metallogenic Zone’,
such as the enormous Kholodnenskoye zinc-lead-silver deposit. Kholodninskoye has a Soviet-era historic
resource (non-compliant with either NI43-101 or JORC-code requirements) of 519 million tonnes grading
4.3% zinc, 0.65% lead and 28 g/t silver.

Exploration in Sweden
The Copperstone Project and the Eva Discovery
The Copperstone project is located in the Skellefte mining district of northern Sweden, about 20 km
northeast of the Storliden mine. Exploration drilling and geophysical surveying continued in the second
quarter. Widely spaced drilling of a coincident magnetics-electromagnetics anomaly to the south of a
major fault from the Eva Discovery massive sulphide deposit has delineated a southeast-trending new
zone of sulphide mineralization over 400 metres in length. So far only relatively thin massive sulphide
intercepts have been intercepted with sub-economic grades; e.g., 3.25 metres grading 2.08% zinc, 29.4
g/t silver, 0.45 g/t gold. The zone is, however, open along strike to the southeast where additional drilling
is planned.
A completely new centre of copper-rich sulphide mineralization was also discovered in the second
quarter, located 5.5 km to the northwest of the Eva Discovery zone, as reported in the news release as
of June 21, 2006. The Lill-Sandberget target was initially identified by airborne geophysics and defined
by follow-up ground geophysics including transient electromagnetics (“TEM”) surveying. The discovery
drill hole intercepted 2.1% Cu over 3 metres along a downhole depth of 66.85 to 69.85 metres.
Additional drilling is planned for the third quarter.
The Eva Discovery
Additional metallurgical testing is planned and the application process to obtain an exploitation permit has
been initiated. A downhole TEM geophysical survey has identified a discrete conductor anomaly to the
east of the thick, southeastern edge of the Eva massive sulphide deposit underneath conductive
sedimentary cover rocks.
Additional drilling, including testing of this anomaly, and downhole
electromagnetics surveying in the vicinity of the deposit is planned for the second half of 2006.
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Near-mine exploration at Storliden
Exploration drilling adjacent to the Company’s Storliden mine continued in the second quarter. No
significant new sulphide mineralization has yet been discovered as a result of this near-mine exploration
programme that is attempting to extend the mine life of Storliden. A final programme of four drill holes is
testing for a structural repetition of ore beneath the currently defined resource. The first hole was drilled
along the contact between West and Central zones but encountered no significant mineralization at depth.
The second hole is in progress.
The Norrbotten Project
The Norrbotten copper-gold project is located in the Norrbotten mining district of northern Sweden and
consists of both 100% Lundin Mining licenses and licenses that form a joint venture partnership between
Anglo American Exploration BV (“Anglo”) and Rio Tinto Mining and Exploration Ltd. (“Rio”) that are
currently subject to an earn-in type option agreement with Lundin Mining. The properties cover and
include the iron oxide copper-gold mineralization discovered by Anglo and Rio at Rakkurijärvi. Exploration
has focused on enlarging the Rakkurijärvi discovery zone.
No field work was carried out in the second quarter. A comprehensive review of the Norrbotten project
was, however, completed. While the programme up to this stage has been successful in discovering
additional copper-gold mineralization at the main Rakkurijärvi target in addition to the Pahtovare target,
the results have not met objectives nor does the project strategically fit the company’s greater emphasis
on zinc exploration. It was therefore decided to limit further involvement in this project so that financial
and human resources can be better utilized on higher priority projects. A proposal was made to Anglo to
extend the length of the earn-in period and allow a new partner to be brought in to finish off the earn-in
requirements. Anglo has responded positively to this proposal although the defined terms are yet to be
agreed upon. During the second half of 2006, it is intended to renegotiate the option agreement and
select an appropriate junior company as a new earn-in partner, in time for the next winter drilling season
in Norrbotten.
The Lappvattnet Nickel Project
A non-binding letter of intent was signed with Blackstone Ventures Corp. (BLV:TSX) for an earn-in type
option agreement to explore the sulphide nickel properties that Lundin Mining controls in the Skellefte
district of northern Sweden, including the Lappvattnet property. By December 2009 Blackstone is
required to spend a minimum $5 million, drill at least 18,000 metres and issue to Lundin Mining 3 million
units of its capital stock (each unit comprising one common share and a two-thirds common share
purchase warrant) to earn a 100% interest in these properties. Lundin Mining retains a 49% back-in right
on these nickel properties and a 100% repurchase option on any non-nickel discovery. The reader is
referred to the website of Blackstone Ventures Corp. at www.blv.ca for additional information. It is
planned that Blackstone will commence an aggressive exploration programme upon signing of the
definitive agreement. Blackstone is also actively exploring for nickel in Norway under option from a
subsidiary company of Falconbridge.
Zinkgruvan-Bergslagen Exploration
In the second quarter, additional deep exploration drilling in the Dalby target area to the immediate
northwest of the Zinkgruvan mine has resulted in a second resource grade drill hole intercept of 8 metres
(true width) grading 12.7% zinc, 6.8% lead and 130 g/t silver. The intercept is located 450 metres to the
northwest of another recent drill intercept of 6.1 metres (true width) grading 14.3% zinc, 4.8% lead and
110 g/t silver as reported in the news release as of June 21, 2006. This latest resource grade intercept is
located 550 metres from the nearest defined mine resource, at a depth of 1,050 metres.
Two brownfields target areas, Marketorp and Meltorp, are currently being drilled. Marketorp is located 40
km east of Zinkgruvan and hosts the Lövfallsgruvan deposit (170,000 tonnes grading 11.5% zinc and 3.5%
lead). Meltorp is located 12 km east-southeast of Zinkgruvan and hosts zinc showings within the equivalent
of Zinkgruvan ore stratigraphy. Only alteration and minor sulphides, however, have so far been
intersected. A geophysical survey (IP and magnetics) at another brownfields target, Hulutorp, located 6
km south of Zinkgruvan, has resulted in additional drill targets. A high-grade zinc-mineralised boulder has
been found by prospecting, situated at the edge of a coincident magnetics-IP anomaly at Hulutorp. Drilling
of Zinkgruvan brownfields targets will continue in the third quarter. Systematic field geology and
prospecting is also being carried out on the recently acquired properties located north of Zinkgruvan. The
Frukostmossen, Ställdallen and Viker properties are ready for drilling which will be carried out upon
completion of the Zinkgruvan brownfields drilling. An airborne gravimetric and magnectics survey, planned
for the third quarter, has been postponed until 2007 because of the inability of the contractor to supply a
unit this year.
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Exploration in Ireland
Near-mine Exploration at Galmoy
A total of 5,576 metres in 36 holes were drilled in the Galmoy area in the second quarter of 2006,
including 24 holes, totalling 2,702 metres, that were drilled within Mine Licence, most of which intersected
resource grade zinc-lead mineralization. The extent of the recently discovered CW Southeast Zone has
now been delineated; a resource estimate is currently being calculated. Drilling in the third quarter will
continue in the Mine Licence area to the southwest of the CW South Zone and in the near vicinity of the
mine to the west of the G West Zone. Both are previously untested areas.
At the Rapla South target area, located approximately 5 km to the northeast of the mine, three holes were
drilled in the second quarter, totalling 1,498 metres. These three holes are in addition to the initial
discovery drillhole reported by the company on April 10, 2006. Two of the three holes effectively
delineated the major fault believed to be the source of the mineralizing fluids and the third hole
intersected a significant accumulation of sulphide mineralization at the target horizon adjacent to this fault,
grading 3.80% zinc, 2.56% lead and 16.88 g/t silver over 3.66 metres from 568.90 metres depth. The
fault itself also contained stringer type zinc and lead sulphide veins further indicating proximity to a new
mineralizing centre.

Keel Property
The Keel property is located in Longford county Ireland. Three drillholes, totalling 504 metres, have been
completed and one deep hole aimed at testing both the base of the Waulsortian limestone (host to Keel,
Galmoy and Lisheeen depoits) and the Navan Pale Beds (host to Tara mine) is underway. In addition a
strong IP geophysical anomaly was identified in the vicinity of a zinc-in-soil geochemical anomaly. Drilltesting of this anomaly is planned. Historic drill data compilation of the defined Keel deposit also
continued in the second quarter, from which data brownfields drill targets will be defined and tested later
this year.
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Metal prices and treatment charges
Compared to the first quarter of this year and the second quarter of last year, the price of zinc has
increased considerably. The reduction in inventory levels of zinc on the London Metal Exchange
(“LME”) seen during 2005 and the first quarter of 2006 has continued during the second quarter 2006.
Currently the LME zinc inventory is approximately 190,000 tonnes compared to 610,000 tonnes as of
June 30, 2005. The price of zinc is currently trading around 3,400US$/tonne (1.55 US$/pound). The
price of copper has followed the same pattern as zinc and increased significantly compared to 2005.
Lead has also increased but not to the same extent as zinc and copper. Lead is currently trading
around 1,180 US$/tonne (0.53 US$/pound) and copper is trading around 7,900 US$/tonne (3.60
US$/pound)
Second
quarter

Second
quarter

2006

2005

%

2006

2005

%

2005

US$/pound

1.49

0.58

+159

1.26

0.59

+114

0.63

US$/tonne

3,292

1,273

+159

2,767

1,295

+114

1,381

US$/pound

0.50

0.45

+11

0.53

0.45

+19

0.44

US$/tonne

1,100

987

+11

1,171

983

+19

976

US$/pound

3.27

1.54

+112

2.76

1.51

+83

1.67

US$/tonne

7,211

3,389

+112

6,075

3,328

+83

3,678

US$/oz

12.29

7.15

+72

10.99

7.06

+56

7.31

(Average)
Zinc

Lead

Copper

Silver

Change

Six
months

Six
months Change

Year
ended

The base treatment charges (“TC”) for zinc has continued downwards based on a deficit of concentrate
and the Company believes the TC for zinc will remain at historically low levels over the next couple of
years. It should be noted that the smelters benefit from higher zinc prices due to the price participation
mechanism in the agreements between the mines and the smelters.
Outlook
The outlook for metal prices for 2006 is, in general, very positive. The growth in demand, especially
from Asia, is expected to continue and this is not expected to be met by a similar increase in
production. Accordingly, the Company expects that the price for zinc, copper and lead will remain
strong during 2006 and into 2007.
It should be noted that the price of silver for all silver production from Zinkgruvan going forward has
been fixed by the silver sale transaction with Silver Wheaton whereby Zinkgruvan receives $3.90 cash
per ounce or the market price if the market price of silver is less than $3.90 per ounce. The up-front
cash payment received from Silver Wheaton in December 2004 has been deferred in the balance sheet
and is realized in the income statement when the actual deliveries of silver occur.
Currencies

Second
quarter

Second
quarter

(Average)

2006

2005

%

2006

2005

%

2005

SEK per US$

7.40

7.31

+1

7.59

7.12

+7

7.47

SEK per CA$

6.59

5.88

+12

6.66

5.76

+16

6.17

CA$ per US$

1.12

1.24

-10

1.14

1.24

-8

1.21

US$ per Euro

1.26

1.26

+-0

1.23

1.29

-5

1.25

Change
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Six
months

Six
months Change

Year
ended

Liquidity and capital resources
Working Capital, including cash and short term financial debt
As at June 30, 2006, the Company had working capital of $126.5 million compared to working capital
of $91.5 million as at March 31, 2006 and $63.8 million as at December 31, 2005. Cash was $131.5
million as at June 30, 2006 compared to $89.3 million as at March 31, 2006 and $74.4 million as at
December 31, 2005. The change in the working capital is primarily due to the positive cash flow
generation from the operations. Higher metal prices have also increased the accounts receivable which
in turn increases the working capital.
Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable increased to $47.6 million as at June 30, 2006 compared to $32.3 million as at
March 31, 2006 and $20.2 million as at December 31, 2005. Continued higher metal prices have
gradually increased the accounts receivables at the operations.
Current liabilities
Current liabilities increased to $62.4 million as at June 30, 2006 compared to $40.0 million as at March
31, 2006 and $41.8 million as at December 31, 2005. During the quarter the Company has recorded
short-term income tax liabilities of $15.2 million due to the taxable income during the quarter.
Long-term liabilities and provisions
Long-term liabilities and provisions have increased during 2006 compared to December 31, 2005. The
main reason for the change is the conversion of Swedish currency to USD. The strengthening Swedish
currency during 2006 has increased the long-term liabilities when the Swedish amounts are expressed
in USD.
Currency hedging and hedging of metal prices
The Company had no outstanding currency hedging contracts as of June 30, 2006. As of the same date,
Lundin Mining had entered into the following metal hedging contracts. Approximately 35% of the
remaining expected payable copper production for 2006 has been hedged. The corresponding amount for
lead is approximately 50% for 2006. In July the Company entered into lead hedging contracts for 2007
and approximately 15% of the expected payable production has been hedged. The Company has no
outstanding zinc hedging contracts.
Hedges 2006
Copper

Volume
(tonnes)

Q3-2006

Q4-2006

800

625

Forward sales

US$/pound
US$/tonne

1.74
3,825

1.74
3,825

Lead

Volume
(tonnes)

6,000

6,000

Bought Put
Options

US$/pound
US$/tonne

0.43
950

0.43
950

Sold Call
Options

US$/pound
US$/tonne

0.53
1,170

0.53
1,170
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Total
volume
2006
1,425

12,000

Hedges 2007

Q1-2007

Q2-2007

Q3-2007

Q4-2007

Volume
(tonnes)

1,800

1,800

1,800

1,800

Bought Put
Options

US$/pound
US$/tonne

0.47
1,025

0.47
1,025

0.47
1,025

0.47
1,025

Sold Call
Options

US$/pound
US$/tonne

0.54
1,200

0.54
1,200

0.54
1,200

0.54
1,200

Lead

Total
volume
2007

7,200

The mark-to-market valuation of the outstanding contracts created an unrealized loss for accounting
purposes of $4.7 million as of June 30, 2006.

Major contractual obligations
The Company has agreed to deliver all future production of silver from Zinkgruvan to Silver Wheaton,
with a delivery guarantee of a minimum of 40 million ounces of silver over a 25-year period. If at the
end of the 25-year period, the Company has not delivered the minimum of 40 million ounces, then it
has agreed to pay to Silver Wheaton $1.00 per ounce of silver not delivered.
The Storliden mine was developed by, and is being operated pursuant to an agreement with, Boliden
Mineral AB (“Boliden”). The Company’s subsidiary, NAN, is the operator of the mine and Boliden is the
main contractor of the mine. Ore is being processed at the Boliden Area Operations mill. After all costs
of the operation are paid, the remaining cash flow is shared in the ratio two-thirds/one-third to NAN
and Boliden respectively. The fee charged by Boliden for mining the mine is cost plus 15%. For onefifth of the Storliden deposit, NAN pays a 1.5% annual royalty on the Net Smelter Return to Cogema
SA.
During 2006, a major Swedish bank has issued a bank guarantee of SEK 65 million (approx. $8.4
million) related to the future reclamation costs at Zinkgruvan. The beneficiary of the guarantee is the
Swedish authorities. Lundin Mining has agreed to indemnify the Swedish bank for the corresponding
amount of the guarantee.

Related party transactions
The Company has transactions with related parties that are disclosed in Note 5 of the consolidated
interim financial statements.

Outstanding share data
As at August 10, 2006, the Company had 40,861,331 common shares outstanding and 570,000 share
options outstanding under its stock-based incentive plans.

Risks
The Company’s properties/operations are subject to certain risks including but not limited to
government regulations relating to mining, metal prices and currency rate fluctuations, competition,
receipts of permits and approval from government authorities, operating hazards and other risks
inherent to the exploration, development and operation of a mine. The Company’s risk factors are more
fully described in the Company’s Annual Information Form.
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Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements
Certain statements contained in the foregoing Management’s Comments and elsewhere constitute
forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements involve a number of known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements
of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date the statements were
made, and readers are advised to consider such forward-looking statements in light of the risks set out
above.

Non-GAAP Performance Measures
Zinc Cash Production Cost (US$/pound) is a key performance measure that management uses to
monitor performance. Management uses these statistics to assess how well the Company’s producing
mines are performing compared to plan and to assess overall efficiency and effectiveness of the mining
operations. These performance measures have no meaning within Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (“GAAP”) and, therefore, amounts presented may not be comparable to similar data
presented by other mining companies. The data is intended to provide additional information and
should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in
accordance with GAAP.
The following table presents the calculation of Zinc Cash Production Costs (US$/pound) for each of the
Company’s operation for the periods indicated.
Reconciliation of unit cash costs of zinc to consolidated statements of operations
Thousands of US dollars, except zinc cash production cost per pound

Operating expenses, excluding depreciation
Treatment charges for zinc
Bi-product credits
Other items effecting cash production costs
Total

Three Months Ended
30 June, 2006

Six Months Ended
30 June, 2006

Zinkgruvan Storliden
Galmoy
12,014
13,289
13,173
23,801
5,273
11,947
(8,640)
(14,427)
(2,274)
(2,086)
(7,494)
19
25,089
(3,359)
22,865

Zinkgruvan Storliden
Galmoy
22,425
25,961
25,975
37,272
10,043
23,564
(19,213)
(28,248)
(6,062)
(3,417)
(14,537)
(478)
37,067
(6,781)
42,999

Zinc metal payable (tonnes)
Zinc metal payable (000's pounds)
Zinc cash production cost per pound *

19,403
42,764
0.59

4,809
10,600
(0.32)

10,662
23,499
0.97

34,672
76,416
0.49

11,797
26,000
(0.26)

25,212
55,567
0.77

* of which treatment charges for zinc

0.56

0.50

0.51

0.49

0.39

0.42
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Lundin Mining Corporation
INTERIM CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Thousands of US dollars

(Unaudited)

(Unaudited)

(Audited)

As at June 30,

As at June 30,

As at December 31,

2006

2005

2005

Notes

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash
Accounts receivable
Investments
Inventories
Prepaid expenses

$

131,482
47,575
8,523
1,311
188,891

3

Fixed assets
Long term receivables
Investments
Properties, plant and equipment
Future income tax assets
Deferred financing costs

7,113
17,565
289,058
3,190
1,905
318,831
507,722

$

$

$

41,798
13,184
19,553
10,528
1,018
86,081
5,053
306,346
4,729
2,537
318,665
404,746

$

$

74,409
20,231
9,609
1,340
105,589
5,121
3,349
288,217
2,753
1,785
301,225
406,814

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable
Current portion of deferred revenue
Short-term credit facility

$

7,593
15,951
12,607
23,523
2,747
62,421

Long-term liabilities
Capital lease obligation

$

11,226
14,341
3,958
5,555
3,379
23,018
61,477

$

10,453
7,723
7,646
13,434
2,509
41,765

1,139

-

1,547

59,394
14,171
17,357
36,040
126,962

57,376
11,284
17,186
34,146
119,992

55,667
12,111
16,093
34,488
118,359

-

479

627

Provisions
Deferred revenue
Provisions for pension
Asset retirement obligations and other provisions
Future income tax liabilities

3

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
SHAREHOLDERS´EQUITY
Share capital
Contributed surplus
Retained earnings
Cumulative translation adjustments

4

244,109
1,660
83,875
(12,444)
317,200
507,722 $

$
See accompanying notes

Approved by the Board:

Lukas H. Lundin

William A. Rand
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242,443
1,335
1,395
(22,375)
222,798
404,746 $

243,305
1,357
25,253
(25,399)
244,516
406,814

Lundin Mining Corporation
INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Thousands of US dollars
(except per share amounts)

Sales
Cost of sales

$

Gross margin

(Unaudited)

(Unaudited)

(Unaudited)

(Unaudited)

(Audited)

Three months

Three months

Six months

Six months

Twelve months

ended June 30,

ended June 30,

ended June 30,

ended June 30,

ended Dec 31,

2006

2005

2006

2005

2005

112,918
(51,730)

43,537
(36,184)

204,716
(101,605)

79,570
(62,064)

192,073
(150,709)

61,188

7,353

103,111

17,506

41,364

Expenses
General exploration and project investigation
Selling, general and administration
Stock based compensation

Other income/expenses
Interest and other income
Interest and bank charges
Foreign exchange gains/(losses)
Loss on copper and lead contracts

Income before undernoted

(2,083)
(2,723)
(757)
(5,563)

(1,565)
(2,152)
(480)
(4,197)

(3,652)
(5,036)
(2,572)
(11,260)

(3,166)
(4,795)
(480)
(8,441)

(7,146)
(8,976)
(1,887)
(18,009)

1,183
(9)
(1,725)
(3,924)
(4,475)

81
(69)
1,223
1,235

1,627
(150)
(2,802)
(9,901)
(11,226)

484
(74)
1,020
1,430

1,465
(511)
4,041
(2,095)
2,900

51,150

4,391

80,625

10,495

26,255

-

-

-

-

17,810

Income before income taxes
and non-controlling interest

51,150

4,391

80,625

10,495

44,065

Income taxes
Non-controlling interest

(13,989)
-

(1,183)
(38)

(21,830)
(173)

(3,721)
(669)

(13,291)
(811)

37,161

3,170

58,622

6,105

29,963

Gain on sale of investments

Net income for the period

$

Retained earnings (deficit) beginning of period
Net income

46,714
37,161

(1,775)
3,170

25,253
58,622

(4,710)
6,105

(4,710)
29,963

Retained earnings end of period

$

83,875

1,395

83,875

1,395

25,253

Basic earnings per share

$

0.91

0.08

1.44

0.17

0.78

Diluted earnings per share

$

0.90

0.08

1.43

0.17

0.78

Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding

40,740,712

38,991,799

40,717,272

36,352,245

38,416,486

Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding

41,160,672

39,210,820

41,094,334

36,562,270

38,658,521

See accompanying notes
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Lundin Mining Corporation
INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS´EQUITY
(Unaudited)
Share capital

Thousands of US dollars

As at December 31, 2004

$

New share issues
Translation adjustments
Net income for the period
As at March 31, 2005

$

185,005

855

(1,775)

(3,202)

480
1,083

(19,173)
3,170

$

242,443

1,335

1,395

(22,375)

353
217
(1,268)
9,637
$

242,796

1,552

11,032

(23,643)

1,004

588
(1,083)

(588)
(1,756)
14,221

$

243,305

1,357

25,253

(25,399)

243
2,289
21,461
$

243,305

1,600

46,714

(23,110)

203

(143)
10,666
37,161

$

244,109

1,660
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166,348
14,727
(3,127)
2,935
180,883
56,347
8
480
(18,090)
3,170
222,798
353
217
(1,268)
9,637
231,737

(2,839)
14,221
244,516
243
2,289
21,461
268,509
203
661

661
143

Total

1,004
393

393

Stock based compensation
Exercise of stock options
Transfer of contributed surplus
on exercise of stock options
Translation adjustment for the period
Net income for the period
As at June 30, 2006

(75)

56,347
8

Stock based compensation
Translation adjustments
Net income for the period
As at March 31, 2006

(4,710)

2,935

Exercise of stock options
Stock based compensation
Transfer of contributed surplus
on exercise of stock options
Translation adjustments
Net income for the period
As at December 31, 2005

855

Cumulative
translation
adjustments

(3,127)

Exercise of stock options
Stock based compensation
Translation adjustments
Net income for the period
As at September 30, 2005

170,278

Retained
earnings

14,727

New share issues
Exercise of stock options
Stock based compensation
Translation adjustments
Net income for the period
As at June 30, 2005

Contributed
surplus

83,875

(12,444)

10,666
37,161
317,200

Lundin Mining Corporation
INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

(Unaudited)

(Unaudited)

(Unaudited)

(Audited)

Three months

Three months

Six months

Six months

Twelve months

ended June 30,

ended June 30,

ended June 30,

ended June 30,

ended Dec 31,

2006

2005

2006

2005

2005

37,161 $

3,170 $

58,622 $

Thousands of US dollars

Cash flow from operating activities
Net income for the period

Add/(deduct non-cash items

$

Amortization of deferred revenue
Depreciation and amortization
Stock based compensation
Gain on asset dispositions
Future income taxes
Provisions for pensions and other
Net changes in non-cash working capital items

(656)
13,226
203
(1,114)
673
4,922

Total cash-flow from operating activities

54,415

Cash flow from (used in) financing activities
Common shares issued
Repayment of debt
Proceeds from loan facility

661
(73)
-

Total cash-flow from (used in) financing activities

588

Cash flow used in investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Mining properties and related expenditures
Securities held as investments
Proceeds on asset dispositions
Total cash-flow used in investing activities

588

24,306

66,665

(17,496)
23,018

1,365
(40,514)
23,018

5,522

(16,131)

(65,942)
(5,060)
-

(70,849)
(17,957)
(4,294)
37,080

(18,662)

(68,574)

(28,147)

(71,002)

(56,020)

5,826

(2,430)

7,513

(3,708)

(6,785)

42,167

(48,724)

57,073

(44,882)

(12,271)

86,680

86,680

89,315
131,482 $

Supplementary information regarding non-cash transactions
FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Common shares issued for acquisition of NAN/Arcon
$
Equipment acquired through capital lease
$

$
$

5,522

661
(73)
-

(3,083)
51,999
1,090
(17,810)
(769)
902
4,373

(13,159)
(15,120)
132

Cash, beginning of period

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Interest paid
Taxes paid

(17,496)
23,018

77,119

(1,228)
22,355
456
3,721
(288)
(6,815)

29,963

(65,942)
(2,632)
-

Increase/(decrease) in cash

$

16,758

(1,438)
27,263
446
82
(294)
892
(8,454)

$

(8,283)
(10,511)
132

Impact of foreign exchange on cash balances

Cash, end of period

(614)
13,309
456
1,183
710
(1,456)

6,105

90,522

74,409

41,798 $

131,482 $

41,798

$

74,409

- $
- $

57,430 $
57,430 $

- $
- $

72,165
72,165

$
$

71,074
1,547
72,621

- $
108 $

64 $
- $

11 $
13,333 $

79
-

$
$

417
3,219

See accompanying notes
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Lundin Mining Corporation

NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 (Unaudited)
(In United States dollars)
1.

Basis of Presentation
The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of Lundin Mining Corporation (the
“Company” or “Lundin Mining”) are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles using the same accounting policies and methods of application as those
disclosed in Note 2 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2005.
These interim consolidated financial statements do not contain all of the information required by
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for annual financial statements and therefore
should be read in conjunction with the Company’s 2005 annual audited consolidated financial
statements.
These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements reflect all normal and recurring
adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of the
respective interim periods presented.

2.

Acquisitions
(a) North Atlantic Natural Resources AB
On December 30, 2004 the Company acquired all of Boliden Mineral AB’s (“Boliden’s”)
11,537,000 shares in NAN, representing 36.9% of the outstanding shares and votes. The
consideration for all of Boliden’s NAN shares amounts to 2,176,800 newly issued Lundin
Mining shares, representing 6.5% of the shares and votes in Lundin Mining on an undiluted
basis. Applying the market price on the Toronto Stock Exchange for Lundin Mining’s shares of
CAD $10.40 (SEK 56.32), the total consideration for all of Boliden’s NAN shares was CAD
$22,638,720 (approximately $18.4 million).
Prior to the acquisition of Boliden’s NAN shares, Lundin Mining held 11,580,000 shares in
NAN, representing 37.1% of the shares and votes. Following the acquisition, Lundin Mining
held 23,117,000 shares in NAN, representing 74.0% of the shares. A public offer (the “Offer”)
in line with the Swedish Industry and Commerce Stock Exchange Committee’s (Näringslivets
Börskommitté (NBK)) mandatory bid rules was made to all remaining NAN shareholders in
February 2005. Shareholders holding 7,367,854 shares, representing 23.6% of the total
number of shares and votes of NAN, accepted the Offer. Combined with the 23,117,000
shares held by the Company prior to the Offer, Lundin Mining held 30,484,854 shares in NAN,
representing 97.6% of the total number of shares and votes. As consideration of the 23.6%
the Company issued an additional 1,383,321 common shares at a price of CAD$13.25
(US$10.65) per share, being the average closing price of the Company’s shares on the
Toronto Stock Exchange the two days before, the day of, and two days after the date of
announcement.
As of June 30, 2006 Lundin Mining controls 31,240,710 shares in NAN which equals 100% of
the outstanding shares. The remaining 2.4% of the shares were obtained through the
Swedish corporate procedures for compulsory purchase during the second quarter 2006. In
order to achieve ownership of these shares Lundin Mining has provided the trustee in the
arbitration proceedings with a bank guarantee in the amount of $2.0 million. The final
purchase price has not yet been decided by the arbitration tribunal but Lundin Mining has
requested the arbitration tribunal to set the price per share to SEK 13.10 ($1.80). A final
decision by the arbitration tribunal is expected before the end of 2006.
The acquisition of the outstanding shares has been accounted for using the purchase method.
The allocation of the fair value of the net assets acquired is as follows:
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Purchase price:

Consideration paid with new shares
Consideration paid in cash
Acquisition expenses paid in cash

$

33,420,000
2,071,000
2,419,000

$

37,910,000

Net assets acquired:

Cash
Other working capital, net
Mining properties
Property, plant and equipment
Future income tax liabilities
Other provisions

Less:

$

5,195,000
2,822,000
44,204,000
198,000
(6,778,000)
(300,000)
$ 45,341,000

Carrying value of prior investment in NAN
$

(7,431,000)
37,910,000

(b) ARCON International Resources Plc
On March 3, 2005 the Board of Lundin Mining and the Board of ARCON announced that they
had reached an agreement in principle on the terms of a recommended merger of the two
companies.
Lundin Mining offered (the “Merger Offer”) to acquire all of the issued and to be issued
ARCON shares on the following basis: $36.2198 cash (the “cash component”) and 3.2196
Lundin Mining Swedish Depository Receipts (“SDRs”) (the “share component”) for every 100
ARCON shares.
The cash component represented a value of approximately $65.3 million and the share
component represented a value of approximately $56.3 million. The combined value of the offer
was $121.6 million. As consideration for the share component, the Company issued an
additional 5,621,239 common shares at a price of CAD$12.53 (US$10.02) per share, being the
average closing price of the Company’s shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange the two days
before, the day of, and two days after the date of announcement.
On April 12, 2005 the Directors of Lundin Mining announced that all of the conditions of the
Merger Offer had been satisfied or waived and, accordingly, the Merger Offer was declared
unconditional in all respects. ARCON was consolidated in the financial statements of Lundin
Mining as of May 1, 2005. The acquisition of ARCON has been accounted for using the
purchase method. The allocation of the fair value of the net assets acquired is as follows:
Purchase price:

Cash paid
Consideration paid with new shares
Acquisition expenses paid in cash

$

65,277,000
56,347,000
5,347,000
$ 126,971,000

Net assets acquired:

Cash
Other working capital, net
Mining properties
Property, plant and equipment
Other long-term receivables
Other long-term liabilities
Other provisions

$ 2,251,000
(15,030,000)
135,657,000
17,773,000
3,930,000
(9,492,000)
(8,118,000)
$ 126,971,000
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3.

Agreement with Silver Wheaton Corporation
On December 8, 2004 the Company entered into an agreement with Silver Wheaton Corporation
(“Silver Wheaton”) whereby the Company agreed to sell all of its silver production from the
Zinkgruvan mine in Sweden to Silver Wheaton in consideration for an upfront cash payment of $50
million (CAD60.6 million), 6 million (post-consolidation) Silver Wheaton shares and 30 million Silver
Wheaton share purchase warrants with an aggregate fair value of $22.8 million, plus a per ounce
payment at a price equal to the lesser of (a) $3.90 (subject to a consumer price adjustment after
three years) and (b) the then prevailing market price per ounce of silver.
During 2005 Zinkgruvan sold all of the shares and warrants in Silver Wheaton for net proceeds of
approximately $37.1 million and a profit before tax of approximately $17.8 million.
The Company has agreed to deliver all silver produced from Zinkgruvan over the life of mine with
a minimum of 40 million ounces of silver to be delivered to Silver Wheaton over a 25-year period.
If at the end of the 25-year period, the Company has not delivered the agreed 40 million ounces,
then it has agreed to pay to Silver Wheaton US$1.00 per ounce of silver not delivered.
The upfront cash payment of $50 million and the aggregate fair value of the shares and warrants of
$22.8 million have been deferred in the balance sheet and are realized in the income statement when
the actual deliveries of silver occur. The deferred per ounce amount which is realized in the income
statement is based on deliveries of 40 million ounces and equals approximately $1.65 per ounce of
silver delivered. Total revenue from silver currently equals approximately $5.55 per ounce, including
$3.90 per ounce which is invoiced to Silver Wheaton upon delivery of silver.

4.

Share capital
The authorized and issued share capital is as follows:
(a) Authorized:
Unlimited number of common shares with no par value and one special share with no par
value.
Shares issued and outstanding
Balance, December 31, 2004
Shares issued to acquire shares in
Balance, March 31, 2005
Shares issued to acquire shares in
Exercise of options
Balance, June 30, 2005
Exercise of options
Balance, September 30, 2005
Exercise of options
Transfer of contributed surplus on
Translation adjustment
Balance, December 31, 2005
Balance, March 31, 2006
Exercise of options
Transfer of contributed surplus on
Balance, June 30, 2006

NAN
ARCON

exercise of stock options

exercise of stock options
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Number of
shares

Amount
(US $’000)

33,419,271
1,383,321
34,802,592
5,621,239
2,000
40,425,831
53,000
40,478,831
215,000
40,693,831
40,693,831
67,500
40,761,331

170,278
14,727
185,005
57,430
8
242,443
353
242,796
1,004
588
(1,083)
243,305
243,305
661
143
244,109

(b) Incentive stock options outstanding and held by directors, officers and employees of the

Company are as follows:
Options

Outstanding at December 31, 2005
Granted in 2006
Exercised in 2006
Outstanding at June 30, 2006

Number of
Shares

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price
(CAD $)

667,500
70,000
(67,500)
670,000

$11.29
$25.83
$11.20
$15.07

Expiry dates

July 8, 2006
April 12, 2007
August 8, 2007
November 8, 2007
February 13, 2008
April 9, 2008
Total

100,000
250,000
85,000
165,000
45,000
25,000
670,000

5.

Related party transactions
During the three months ended June 30, 2006, and June 30, 2005 charges from a company owned
by the Chairman of the Company for management and administrative services were $45,000 and
$45,000 respectively. For the six months period ended June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2005 the
corresponding amounts were $90,000 and $84,400.

6.

Guarantees
During 2006, a major Swedish bank has issued a bank guarantee of SEK 65 million (approx. $8.4
million) related to the future reclamation costs at Zinkgruvan. The beneficiary of the guarantee is
the Swedish authorities. Lundin Mining has agreed to indemnify the Swedish bank for the
corresponding amount of the guarantee.

7.

Segmented Information
The Company is currently engaged in one operating segment, mining, exploration and
development of mineral properties, primarily in Sweden and in Ireland. Geographic segmented
information is as follows:
In thousands of United
States dollars

Sales

Sweden
Ireland

Total assets
Sweden
Ireland
Canada

Three months ended
June 30,
June 30,
2006
2005

Six months ended
June 30,
June 30,
2006
2005

90,250
20,668
112,918

33,060
10,477
43,537

156,639
48,077
204,716

69,093
10,477
79,570

332,621
152,351
22,750
507,722

236,759
158,520
9,467
404,746

332,621
152,351
22,750
507,722

236,759
158,520
9,467
404,746
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Supplementary information (unaudited)
Significant differences between Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(“Canadian GAAP”) and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) /
International Accounting Standards (“IAS”).
The shares of Lundin Mining trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange and the Stockholm Stock Exchange
(“SSE”). Most companies that trade on the SSE are required to report according to IFRS/IAS.
However, as a Canadian company, Lundin Mining is required to report according to Canadian GAAP.
The Company has reviewed the differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS/IAS and has identified
the following items which would or may have a significant impact on the financial statements of
Lundin Mining.
According to IFRS 3, future costs such as restructuring items, which are expected to occur
subsequent to an acquisition, should not be provided for in the purchase price allocation. Instead,
these costs should be realized in the income statement when the costs actually occur. However,
according to Canadian GAAP, restructuring costs that are expected to occur as a result of an
acquisition should be provided for in the purchase price allocation. Restructuring costs that arose
during 2005, as a result of the acquisitions of NAN and ARCON, in the amount of $2.1 million, have
been provided for in the purchase price allocations.
According to Canadian GAAP, impairment test of assets should be carried out by comparing the future
cash flows of the assets to their carrying values. Future cash flows are dependent on a number of
assumptions, including, among other things, future metal prices, exchange rates and discount rates.
According to Canadian GAAP, future cash flows should be based on undiscounted values. Lundin
Mining believes that the future cash flows from the Company’s assets exceed their carrying values
and, accordingly, no write downs are necessary. According to IAS 36, the future cash flows would be
based on discounted values.
According to Canadian GAAP, the investments the Company holds in other companies should be
valued at the lower of cost or fair market value. However, according to IAS 39, these investments
would be recorded at fair market value. The fair market value, as at June 30 2006, was $20.3 million,
which exceeded the carried cost value by $2.7 million.
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
1.

List of directors and officers at June 30, 2006:
(a) Directors:
Adolf H. Lundin
Brian D. Edgar
Edward F. Posey
John H. Craig
Karl-Axel Waplan
Lukas H. Lundin, Chairman
Pierre Besuchet
William A. Rand
Tony O’Reilly Jnr
(b) Officers:
Lukas H. Lundin, Chairman
Karl-Axel Waplan, President and Chief Executive Officer
Anders Haker, Chief Financial Officer
Kjell Larsson, Vice President Mining
Neil O’Brien, Vice President Exploration
Manfred Lindvall, Vice President Environment, Health and Safety
Kevin Hisko, Corporate Secretary

2.

Financial information
The report for the third quarter 2006 will be published on October 26, 2006.

3.

Other information
Address (Vancouver office):
Lundin Mining Corporation
Suite 2101
885 West Georgia Street
Vancouver B.C. V6C 3E8
Canada
Telephone: +1 604 689 7842
Fax: +1 604 689 4250
Address (Sweden office):
Lundin Mining AB
Hovslagargatan 5
SE-111 48 Stockholm
Sweden
Telephone: +46 8 545 074 70
Fax: +46 8 545 074 71
Website: www.lundinmining.com.
The corporate number of the Company is 306723-8.
For further information, please contact:
Karl-Axel Waplan, President and CEO: +46-705-10 42 39, ka.waplan@lundinmining.com
Anders Haker, CFO: +46-708-10 85 59, anders.haker@lundinmining.com
Catarina Ihre, Manager, Investor relations: +46-706-07 92 63, catarina.ihre@lundinmining.com
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VANCOUVER OFFICE
Lundin Mining Corporation
Suite 2101 - 885 West Georgia Street
Vancouver B.C. V6C 3E8
Canada
Tel +1 604 689 78 42
Fax +1 604 689 42 50

STOCKHOLM OFFICE
Lundin Mining AB
Hovslagargatan 5
SE-111 48 Stockholm
Sweden
Tel +46 8-545 074 70
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Zinc is a silvery grey metal. It has
a melting point of 419.5°C and
a boiling point of 907°C.
Lundin Mining is an active explorer for minerals
and a fast growing producer of base metals,
with a focus on zinc. The company owns
three mines, two in Sweden, Zinkgruvan and
Storliden, and one in Ireland, Galmoy. The
exploration portfolio is extensive and it also
includes interests in international ventures
and development projects. Lundin Mining has
its head office in Vancouver, Canada, and its
executive management team in Stockholm,
Sweden. Lundin Mining’s shares are listed on
the Toronto Stock Exchange and its SDRs on
the Stockholm Stock Exchange O-list.

Operations in brief

Through the acquisition of Zinkgruvan in
2004, Lundin Mining became an active
player in the mining industry. Since then
Lundin Mining has grown into an exploration and mining company capable of competing on the world stage with a strong
asset base and skilled employees. Apart
from Zinkgruvan, Lundin Mining owns the
Storliden mine in Sweden and the Galmoy
mine in Ireland.
The objective of Lundin Mining’s
operations is to create shareholder value,
through building and maintaining effective
operations, with the foundation built on
ensuring that safety, environmental and
social responsibility issues are given primary focus.
Lundin Mining intends to grow by
developing exploration projects into commercial operations, through acquisitions of
profitable production assets that meet the
company’s requirements and through consistent improvements of existing assets.
Lundin Mining is strategically focused
on the discovery and acquisitions of high
quality mineral deposits that can be developed into high-profit, low cost mines.
Lundin Mining has a focus on zinc, but
will also participate in other promising
opportunities, such as copper. Geograph-

ically, Sweden and Ireland dominate the
company´s exploration portfolio.
The company’s ability to increase production volumes is mainly dependent on
the capacity to commence new production
based on successful exploration, increased
production within existing mines and
through improvements of mining technology.
Mission
Lundin Mining’s mission is to explore for
minerals and extract metals in a costeffective and environmentally responsible manner, with health and safety for its
employees as key values.
Vision
Lundin Mining’s vision is to maximise
shareholder value through building a mineral exploration and mining company with
the aim to grow into a world leading metal
producer.
Strategy
To realise its vision, the company pursues
the following strategy:
Optimisation of existing mining
operations.
Brownfield exploration near existing
mines.

Greenfield exploration potential in
Sweden and Ireland.
Financial investments in projects.
Further aquisitions – operational mines,
development projects and exploration
projects.
Financial objectives
The primary objective of Lundin Mining is to create value for its shareholders
through profitable operations and growth.
Value is generated by a combination
of cash flow from producing assets and
through exploration leading to an increase
in reserves and resources. Cash flow
from producing assets can be improved
through professional management, leading to higher production levels and lower
production costs.
Lundin Mining aims at increasing
mineral reserves and resources through
exploration and through acquisitions. The
company intends to fund acquisitions
mainly through internally generated cash
flow.
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NAN’s team of geologists discovered a new
zinc and copper depo sit, Storliden, in the
Skellefte district.

2002

A new exploration company, North Atlantic
Natural Resources AB
(NAN) was formed,
jointly owned with
Boliden. NAN was listed
on the Stockholm Stock
Exchange.

1998

South Atlantic Ventures started its activities in Sweden through the acquisitions
of two small exploration companies, with
exploration licenses in three districts; the
Bergslagen district, the Skellefte district in
Västerbotten and the Norrbotten district. At
the time, South Atlantic Ventures was also
active in South America and Africa, searching for mineral deposits.

1997

1996

Milestones
The Storliden
mine started
production,
operated by
Boliden.

Production assets

Greenfield exploration

Investments

Zinkgruvan mine, Sweden (zinc, lead,
silver)

Norrbotten copper-gold project

Mehdiabad project, Iran. Lundin Mining has
a 19.9 per cent interest in Union Resources
Ltd., which holds 38 per cent in the Mehdiabad zinc, lead and silver deposit .

Operations

Galmoy mine, Ireland (zinc, lead, silver)
Storliden mine, Sweden (zinc, copper)

Copperstone-Eva
Skellefte District

Sunridge Gold Corp., Lundin Mining has a 10
per cent interest in the company, which holds
promising exploration properties in Eritrea,
aquired in 2006.

Swedish Nickel Properties
Bergslagen District
Ireland Greenfields

Zinc and copper prices rose significantly.
2005

Zinkgruvan

69,981

61,547

Storliden

32,024

22,348

Galmoy

Cash flow generated by operating activities of
USD 66.7 million (12.2).

Total

74,321

68,849

176,326

152,744

10,839

8,254

COPPER (tonnes)

Public offer for the remaining shares in NAN.

Storliden
Acquisition of the Galmoy mine in Ireland.
LEAD (tonnes)

Acquisition of 19.9 per cent interest in Union Resources.

2,500

Zinc, price and inventories

ZINC (tonnes)

Net income of USD 30.0 million (4.8).

Zinc cash price

USD/tonne

LME zinc inventories

’000 tonnes

1,500
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2,000

1,000
1,500
750

Zinkgruvan

36,674

31,448

Galmoy

17,284

15,002

Total

53,958

46,450

1,866,061

2,038,291

SILVER (oz)
Zinkgruvan
Galmoy
Total

203,292

207,591

2,069,353

2,245,882

100 per cent of production is included for 2004
and 2005. This does not reflect Lundin Mining’s
ownership during these periods.
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Source: LME, Bloomberg

Public equity offering in Canada and Sweden raised CAD 152 million.

Lundin Mining made a public offer for the remaining
shares in NAN. As of December 31, Lundin Mining held 97.5
per cent in NAN.

Acquisition of Swedish Zinkgruvan from Rio Tinto – a zinc, lead and silver
underground mine. The purchase price was USD 101 million plus a maximum of USD 5 million in price participation payments over two years.

Acquisition of the Irish Galmoy zinc and lead mine and several exploration rights in Ireland, through a formal merger
with Arcon. The purchase price was USD 121.6 million.

Entered an agreement with Silver Wheaton, where Zinkgruvan is to sell
forward the mine’s silver production.

Secondary listing on the O-list of the Stockholm Stock Exchange.
Name changed from South Atlantic Ventures to Lundin Mining.

2005

Lundin Mining acquired Boliden’s shares in NAN on December 30, and
increased the holding to 74 per cent.

2004

2004

Sales of USD 192.1 million (39.9).

Metal production

Highlights 2005

Metal production of 176,326 tonnes of zinc, 53,958
tonnes of lead and 10,839 tonnes of copper.

Acquisition of 19.9 per cent in Australian exploration company
Union Resources at a price of USD 3.4 million. Union
Resources’ main asset is a 38 per cent holding in Mehdiabad
project, one of the world’s largest undeveloped zinc deposits.
Primary listing on the Stockholm Stock Exchange, the O-list.

Building for the future
Letter from the President
My first year as President and CEO of Lundin Mining was marked by high activity. We have grown rapidly
through acquisitions of assets and through financial investments. Our exploration team has identified
several promising mineral deposits, which will be further evaluated to determine whether they are commercially viable. Healthy demand for metals in combination with limited new mining capacity caused a fall
in inventories and a surge in prices for our most important metals; zinc, lead and copper.
We started our activities in the spring of 2004, with a vision of building a major exploration and mining
company, covering the whole chain from greenfield exploration to mine production. Being a young company, we have put emphasis on building a corporate identity based on entrepreneurship, openness and
dedicated employees. Our operations are based on respect for every individual employee with health and
safety as cornerstones.
High activity
Following our acquisition of Zinkgruvan in 2004, which turned Lundin Mining into a mining company, we
have continued to grow our asset base in 2005. During the first quarter we acquired NAN Resources,
which brought in the Storliden zinc and copper mine, together with a number of promising exploration
projects in Sweden.
In April, the Ireland-based zinc and lead mine Galmoy was added to our asset portfolio, together with
interesting exploration licenses in several locations in Ireland, through a formal merger with Arcon. Our
team has a high focus on technical improvements with the aim of extending the mines’ expected life-time
and to reduce the cost base. We have initiated a project in Galmoy, which will lead to improved efficiencies
during 2006. At Zinkgruvan, improvements in the operational efficiency are continuously being made.
Later in the year we entered into a highly interesting zinc venture in Iran through an investment in the
Australian mining company Union Resources. In the beginning of 2006 we pursued an investment in Sunridge Gold Corp., a company with several promising exploration projects in Eritrea. As one way of growing
our business, we will continue to invest in interesting projects in cooperation with partners.
A strong year for base metals
Most base metals had a strong year in 2005, with signifi cant price increases, and the positive trend has
continued into 2006. The outlook, in the near and medium terms, is healthy. Consumption is expected to
continue to grow, mainly driven by demand from China and India. Moreover, as investments in the mining
industry were neglected for several years, there is currently a global shortage of mining capacity, especially in zinc and lead. Long lead times from exploration to mine production indicate that there will be limited
new capacity on the market in the next two to three years.
A leading zinc player
Today, Lundin Mining owns three mines, all primarily focused on zinc production. We have become a leading
zinc player with a substantial exploration portfolio. Supported by owners and board, our ambition is to
continue to grow. The global zinc mining industry is fragmented with a number of small and medium sized
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President and CEO

Karl-Axel Waplan

players. We believe that the industry will consolidate in the next coming years, and we are well positioned
to act when opportunities arise. Also, our exploration portfolio will be further developed and include projects
primarily within zinc, copper and lead, with precious metals as by-products.
An experienced team
Being part of the Lundin Group of Companies, with its vast international network, has proven to be an
advantage for us when growing our asset base. Our management team also has long experience from
international exploration and mining. Lundin Mining is characterised by its dedicated team of professionals,
all with a long-term view on the company’s operations.
Successful growth creates value
Lundin Mining has been successful in establishing itself as a leading European zinc producer. A continuous
focus on our employees’ safety, combined with our experience and skills in exploration and production,
constitutes the foundation on which we will grow and create value for our shareholders.
Our employees and owners have been enthusiastic and supportive during the changes in 2005. In 2006
we will continue to explore, evaluate and develop new projects.

Stockholm in March 2006
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Share and SDR information

Background
Originally listed on the Canadian TSX
Venture Exchange as South Atlantic Diamonds Corp. in September 1994, the
company changed its name to South
Atlantic Ventures Ltd. in 2002 and to Lundin Mining Corporation before moving to
Toronto Stock Exchange in August 2004.
The company’s Depository Receipts
(SDR) were traded on the New Market
of the Stockholm Stock Exchange from
December 2003 until they were listed on
the Stockholm Stock Exchange O-list in
December 2004. As of January 1, 2006,
the Lunding Mining SDRs are listed on the
Attract-40 section of the O-list.
Share performance and turnover
During 2005 Lundin Mining’s share price
increased by 61 per cent from CAD
10.48 to CAD 16.85. The Toronto Stock
Exchange Diversified Metals and Mining
Index increased by 47 per cent during the
same period. The company’s SDR price
increased by 93 per cent from SEK 58.25
to SEK 112.50. The Stockholm OMX All
Share Index increased by 33 per cent during the same period. At the end of 2005,
the market value of Lundin Mining, based
on the latest price paid, amounted to CAD
685.7 million (SEK 4,578.1 million). A total
of 34.8 million Lundin Mining shares and
SDRs were traded during 2005, equivalent to a share turnover of 86 per cent.
Dividend policy
Lundin Mining’s dividend policy is to give
funding priority to ongoing exploration
projects and growth of the company’s
operations prior to considering distribu-
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tion to shareholders. The company will
determine if and when dividends should
be declared and paid in the future, based
on Lundin Mining’s financial position at the
relevant time.
Ownership
At the end of 2005, the 20 largest shareholders held 33.76 per cent of the votes
and capital. The ownership structure in
Lundin Mining based on public information
as per December 31, 2005, is shown in
the table on page 7.
Share capital
Lundin Mining’s share capital as of
December 31, 2005, amounted to
USD 243,305,000 distributed among
40,693,831 shares. All shares outstanding
are common shares and carry equal rights
to vote and participation in Lundin Mining’s
assets and earnings. Since the initial formation of Lundin Mining, the company’s
share capital has developed as shown in
the table on page 7.
Incentive schemes
Lundin Mining operates an employee
incentive scheme based on stock options,
which entitle the option holder to acquire
shares in the company. Under the stock
option plan, 3,000,000 shares are made
available for the company to grant incentive stock options to certain employees
of the company. The number of common
shares reserved under the stock option
plan was based on 10 per cent of the
issued and outstanding share capital of the
company. The term of any option granted
will be fixed by the Board of Directors and

may not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant.
Authorised securities
Lundin Mining is authorised to issue an
unlimited number of common shares without nominal or par value and one special
share without nominal or par value.
Shareholder value
To increase turnover in Lundin Mining
shares and give both current and future
owners the opportunity to evaluate the
business as fairly as possible, the company’s senior management strives continuously to develop and improve financial
information relating to the company by taking an active role in meetings with investors, analysts and the media.

As of December 31, 2005

Holding

Percentage

Shares issued and outstanding

1

Lundin, Adolf H.*

8,131,250

19.98%

2

Indexia Holdings Ltd

3,631,000

8.92%

3

GMO Funds

2,616,830

6.43%

Shares issued to acquire
shares in NAN

4

HQ Funds

643,884

1.58%

Balance, March 31 2005

5

Skandia Liv

521,000

1.28%

6

Länsförsäkringar Funds

462,652

1.14%

Shares issued to acquire
shares in ARCON

7

Other

24,687,215

60.67%

Total

40,693,831

100.00%

2005

2004

EPS, USD

0.78

0.21

Dividends

Nil

Nil

Equity per share

6.01

4.98

P/E

18.1

40.7

Price year-end SEK

112.5

58.25

Price year-end CAD

16.85

10.48

40,693,831

33,419,271

Diluted weighted average
no. of shares

38,658,521

Lundin Mining share (LHS)
Diversified Metals and Mining Index (RHS)

Excercise of options
Balance, June 30 2005

Share capital

* Held through companies controlled by Adolf H. Lundin.

No of shares year-end

Balance, December 31 2004

22,432,326

Incentive stock options

Share data

Major shareholders

Name

Excercise of options
Balance, September 30 2005
Excercise of options
Transfer of contributed surplus
on exercise of stock options
Balance, December 31 2005

Options

Amount
(USD ’000)

33,419,271

170,278

1,383,321

14,727

34,802,592

185,005

5,621,239

56,347

2,000

8

40,425,831

241,360

53,000

353

40,478,831

241,713

215,000

1,004

0

588

40,693,831

243,305

No of
options

Weighted
average
exercise
price (CAD)

Outstanding, December 31 2004

372,500

6.41

Granted in 2005

565,000

12.00

Exercised in 2005
Outstanding, December 31 2005

Lundin Mining SDR (LHS)

Volumes traded in thousands
(incl. trades after closing)

OMX Index (RHS)

30

No of shares

(270,000)

5.98

667,500

11.29

Volumes traded in thousands
(incl. trades after closing)
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Metals markets

The macroeconomic environment
According to OECD, the world economy
grew by approximately 2.7 per cent in
2005, compared to 3.3 per cent in 2004.
The US economy was strong with a 3.6
per cent growth in GDP. Economic activity in Western Europe remained slow, with
an aggregate GDP growth of 1.4 per cent.
Higher growth rates in new EU-member
countries were not able to off-set the slow
growth in major economies such as Germany.
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Global changes in demand

China’s share of consumption

Zinc

30

The Chinese economy grew by approximately 10 per cent in 2005. The economic
activity in the rest of Asia was also high,
with continued strong industrial production and infrastructural investments and
rising private consumption. China remains
the driving force in the region, but India is
becoming increasingly important, with
significant GDP per capita growth.
The strong world economy has led to a
surge for metals, such as zinc and copper.
Prices increased sharply and reached
historically high levels in 2005, and have
continued its upward trend in early 2006.

Global metal markets enjoyed a strong
year in 2005 with significant price
increases for a number of base and precious metals, including Lundin Mining’s
main metals, zinc, lead and copper.

Metal prices are affected by a number of
factors, of which the most important are
changes in supply and demand. For zinc,
lead and copper the construction and
automotive industries are among the largest consumers. Thus, the price of these
metals is to a large extent affected by the
business cycle and general economic
growth.
In recent years, only limited new mining
capacity has come into operation, which
has led to a decrease in global metal
inventories. Although exploration for new
mineral deposits is increasing, it will take
several years before any significant new
mining production will affect the market
balance. The market deficit, in particular
within zinc, is expected to remain at least
over the next two to three years.
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Metals markets Zn

Market structure
Some 54 per cent of all zinc produced is
directed to galvanising of steel. The automotive and construction industries are the
main end-consumers. Western Europe is
the largest consumer, accounting for 25
per cent of demand, whereas China is the
second most important region, accounting for 20 per cent of demand. China is
expected to outgrow Europe as the leading consumer in the next years. Indeed,
China turned into a net importer in 2004.
During the period 2000–2004 zinc consumption growth was slower than for other
base metals, but has improved during the
past fifteen months.
Global mining groups tend to have relatively little focus on zinc compared to other
metals, e.g. copper, gold and iron ore. The
top three zinc producers accounted for 19
per cent of world production in 2004. The
corresponding share for copper is 27 per

Zinc cash price

USD/tonne

Recent trends
Zinc prices lagged other metals in 2003
and 2004 but took off in 2005. In 2005,
zinc prices increased by over 50 per cent
to USc 85/lb (USD 1950/tonne) yearend. Compared to the rock bottom level
of around USc 35/lb, (USD 770/tonne)
in late 2002, zinc prices have increased
by some 140 per cent. The surge in zinc
prices has continued into 2006.
Global demand for zinc increased by
around 4 per cent in 2005, compared to
over 6 per cent in 2004. Production in
2005 is estimated to have increased by
less than 2 per cent.

LME zinc inventories
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Global zinc balance

Zinc, price and inventories

2,500

LME zinc inventories started to decrease
in 2004. The downturn accelerated in 2005
and LME stocks fell from approximately
630,000 tonnes at the end of 2004 to
394,000 tonnes at the end of 2005, and
have continued to decrease into 2006.
Despite the downturn, stock levels are still
relatively high. With expectations of a market deficit of zinc in 2006, inventories are
expected to continue to decrease.
As for capacity, the extended period of
low zinc prices resulted in closures and
mothballing of mines. Moreover, exploration was neglected for a number of years
and there is limited new capacity coming
on stream in, at least, the next two to three
years. The current situation with a global
shortage of zinc mining is thus expected to
persist over the next few years.

cent and for nickel 42 per cent. The zinc
mining market is thus relatively fragmented
and is characterized by a large number of
small to medium sized players – many of
whom operate only one mine.
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Metals markets Cu

Market structure
Copper is used in a wide range of products, directed both to industrial production, infrastructure investments and
private consumption. Long-term consumption growth of copper shows a global
rate of roughly 3 per cent. Consumption
growth differs between global regions.
In the Western World – North America
and Europe – consumption actually fell
between 1999 and 2004 by as much as
9 per cent. Asian growth has dramatically
taken off during the last 5 years with a
consumption growth of 16 per cent.
Western Europe is the world’s largest
copper consumer, accounting for 24 per
cent of global demand. China’s share of
consumption is 19 per cent. With continued strong demand growth, China is forecast to become the world’s largest copper
consumer over the next few years.

Copper cash price

Copper, price and inventories

5,000

USD/tonne

Following the long period of low prices
during the 1990s and the early years of
the current decade, the copper market
underwent a phase of consolidation. A
few large integrated mining and smelting
groups now dominate the industry.
Capacity increases have been limited
in the industry in the past few years. However, the sharp increase in copper prices
since 2003 is expected to lead to openings of both mothballed mines and new
mine capacity in the next few years.
Recent trends
Copper prices continued to strengthen
in 2005. Following a surge of over 60 per
cent in 2004, the LME price increased by
a further 45 per cent in 2005. Year-end
2005, the LME copper price touched USc
210/lb (USD 4,600/tonne). Copper prices
have increased by 200 per cent since the
end of 2002. In February 2006 the price was

around USc 220/lb (USD 4,700/tonne),
which is the highest for over 25 years.
Global copper consumption is estimated to have increased by just above
3 per cent in 2005. In 2004, copper
demand rose by almost 9 per cent. Production grew at a pace of over 7 per cent
in 2005.
In 2005, LME inventories of copper
increased from the rock bottom levels
reached in 2004. Inventories at the end of
2005 amounted to approximately 90,000
tonnes compared to 49,000 tonnes at
the end of 2004. Although inventories
have increased, they are still considered
to be very low and correspond to only a
few days of consumption. Added to the
LME inventory is, among other, Shanghai
copper stocks of approximately 60,000
tonnes. The current market deficit is
expected to ease in 2006, as new mine
capacity will come into production.
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Metals markets Pb

Market structure
The main usage for lead is automotive
batteries, but the metal is also used for
chemicals and alloys. Global production
of cars and commercial vehicles is thus
an important indicator for lead demand.
China’s share of global consumption is
increasing and is currently 15 per cent,
compared to the Western European share
of 25 per cent.
The main part of the lead produced
comes as a by-product to zinc production.
There are few pure lead mines in production and exploration was limited during the
long period with low prices. Global mine
production has been more or less constant at 3 million tonnes per annum since
1999.

Lead cash price

Lead, price and inventories

1,500

USD/tonne

Lead production is to a large extent based
on secondary smelting. Over 90 per cent
of automotive batteries in Western Europe
are recycled. The market for secondary
lead is fragmented, with many small suppliers feeding the lead smelters. Thus, the
downturn in production of primary lead
has been compensated for by an up-turn
in the production of secondary lead, which
has increased from around 60 per cent of
all lead produced in the 1990s to almost
70 per cent in 2004.
Recent trends
During the first six months of 2005, lead
prices were relatively stable. After a setback during the third quarter prices recovered towards the end of the year. Year-
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end, the LME lead price was USc 50/lb
(just above USD 1,100/tonne), allowing a
15 per cent increase during the year.
Global consumption is estimated to
have increased by 3.5 per cent in 2005.
Production volumes increased by approximately 7 per cent.
LME lead inventories increased modestly in 2005, from 40,000 tonnes at the
end of 2004 to 44,000 tonnes at the end
of 2005. During the beginning of 2006
stock levels have increased further, but
are still very low in a historic comparison.
Despite the low inventory levels there is no
market shortage for concentrates. Higher
utilisation rates in the smelters have therefore had a positive impact on lead treatment charges.

Metals markets
Treatment charges
Treatment charges
Concentrates are processed by smelters into metals. The payment that smelters receive for processing concentrates
is called Treatment and Refining Charges
(TC’s and RC’s). The TC’s and RC’s are
negotiated annually between mining companies and the smelting industry. The main
part of the smelters’ production volumes
are based on annual contracts and only
small volumes are treated on the spot market. Mining companies benefit from high
metal prices and low treatment charges,
whilst smelters benefit from high treatment
charges.
While there is a shortage of zinc in concentrate, produced from mines, the zinc
smelting industry suffers from overcapacity.

Despite the strong increase in zinc prices,
treatment charges remain under pressure
as capacity utilisation rates in the smelters
remain low.
In 2005 spot zinc treatment charges
fell from around USD 100 per tonne to
well below USD 50 per tonne and the
forecast for 2006 points at continued low
treatment charges. Copper treatment
charges and refining charges increased
in 2005 after several years of pressure
downwards. Lead treatment charges
remained unchanged during 2005.
Lundin Mining is affected mainly by
changes in zinc treatment charges, but
also has some exposure to changes in
copper treatment and refining charges.
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Exploration

Successful exploration is essential for Lundin Mining to increase reserves, secure
future cash flow and ensure continued
growth. A team of approximately 20 internationally experienced geoscientists and
technicians continuously evaluate greenfield and near-mine projects. The team also
actively identifies and evaluates new opportunities and investments in a broad, international perspective. In 2005, Lundin Mining
invested USD 7.14 million in exploration.
Exploration expenditures in 2006 will
increase to approximately USD 9 million.
In 2005, Lundin Mining’s main exploration efforts were in Sweden. The most
important areas are the Skellefte District,
the Bergslagen District and the Norrbotten District. Lundin Mining also obtained
several exploration licenses in Ireland
when acquiring the Galmoy mine. The
company has also invested in interesting
projects in other parts of the world.
Industry trends
Exploration is essential for the long-term
survival of the mining industry. Nonetheless, it was neglected for a long period
when low metals prices hurt the industry’s
profitability. In 2003 exploration started to
pick up after more than six years of shrinking activity. Following the surge in metal
prices since 2003 a number of junior
companies have entered the market while
established mining companies have also
increased their exploration activities.
Exploration can be divided into greenfields projects and near-mine or mine-site
exploration. The lead-time between discovery and mine production is dependent
on a number of factors including whether
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there is existing infrastructure. Once a
deposit is discovered, feasibility studies
are concluded before a decision to go into
production is taken. It normally takes several years before a discovery is turned into
a producing mine.
Storliden near-mine exploration
Near-mine exploration continued in 2005
and comprised of drill testing and down
hole electromagnetic geophysical surveying. Drilling in 2006 will focus on further
testing of a deep mineralised horizon southwest of the mine, in addition to possible
extensions of the deposit’s northeast zone.
Zinkgruvan near-mine exploration
In-mine exploration has focused on exploring a deep, down-dip extension of the
western part of the deposit. Minor zinc
mineralisations have been intercepted and
further drilling from a planned exploration drift will be conducted to fully test
the zone. A second exploration drift to
test the down-dip extension of the highgrade Burkland ore zone is also planned
to start in 2006. The near-mine targets,
Vinnern and Meltorp, are underlain by the
same sequence of rocks that host the
Zinkgruvan ore body. In 2005, drilling was
conducted at Vinnern to test geophysical
anomalies. Minor zinc mineralisation was
observed and the results will be used to
direct further drilling. At Meltorp, two drill
holes were completed. Minor zinc mineralisation was intercepted which suggests
that a greater concentration may lie at
depth. Additional targets have also been
selected for drill-testing in 2006.

Galmoy near-mine exploration
Prior to Lundin Mining’s consolidation of
Galmoy, only one drill rig was in operation for near-mine exploration. Since July
2005, four rigs operate the area. In 2005,
drilling amounted to 140 holes for a total
of 15,587 metres. Highlights of the drill
results include a near-mine delineation of
the K South Zone, and a discovery of a
new zone of zinc-lead mineralisation north
of the CW South ore zone. Geophysical resurveying with new, more powerful
equipment of the Galmoy licence block
was carried out in 2005, and will continue
in 2006. So far seven anomalies have
been revealed of which three have been
prioritised for drill-testing in early 2006.
The Norrbotten copper-gold project
The project is located along the “Kiruna
Break”, a regional structure associated
with numerous copper-gold prospects
and world-class iron ore deposits. Exploration has focused on expanding the
Rakkurijärvi discovery zone of iron oxide
copper-gold mineralisations, discovered
by Anglo American and Rio Tinto. Compiled drilling results indicate a moderately
plunging zone of copper-gold mineralisation that remains open at depth. Drilling in
early 2006 will focus on testing for both
down-dip and eastern extensions of the
discovery zone. This work is being done
as part of an option agreement with Anglo
American and Rio Tinto.
The Copperstone project
The Copperstone project is located near
the Storliden mine. In 2005, drilling of
geophysical targets intersected wide-

spread zones of copper-bearing sulphide mineralisations. These zones are
interpreted to comprise an extensive and
well-developed feeder system of the type
associated with nearby large polymetallic
massive sulphide deposits. A drill budget
of 6,000 metres has been allocated for
this project in 2006.
The Eva Discovery
Eva is a large, near-surface, low-grade
massive sulphide deposit near Copperstone. Eva remains open to the southeast
and is terminated by a dyke and fault to the
south. The focus for 2006 is exploration
of a higher grade, more copper-rich zone
of massive sulphide mineralisation, similar
to Storliden.

In-mine and nearmine projects

Skellefte District
A 6,000-line kilometre airborne geophysical survey, which was completed

deposits whose ore can be trucked to the
Zinkgruvan concentrator in addition to
larger deposits that represent stand-alone
operations. In 2006, exploration efforts
will include airborne geophysics, ground
follow-up target definition work and drilltesting. A drill budget of 6,000 metres has
been allocated.

in September, outlined several discrete,
coincident electromagnetic and magnetic anomalies. These anomalies suggest potential for near-surface massive
sulphide mineralisation. Additional target
definition and drill-testing is required in
2006.
Swedish nickel properties
Lundin Mining controls several properties
in the Skellefte District in northern Sweden
which contain known nickel prospects, for
instance the Lappvattnet nickel deposit.
Lundin Mining is actively seeking a joint
venture partner with nickel exploration
expertise for continued work in the area.

Ireland Greenfields
Lundin Mining controls several prospecting licences in Ireland, some of which hold
known resources such as the Keel deposit
which has an historic resource (non-compliant with NI43-101) of 5 million tonnes
grading 6.8 per cent zinc, 1.2 per cent
lead and 28 g/t silver. In 2006, a target
definition and a target testing program is
planned for the Keel property, including an
initial 3,000 metres of drilling.

Bergslagen District
In 2005, Lundin Mining acquired a large
land holding in the Bergslagen region,
near the Zinkgruvan mine. The strategy is to identify small, high grade zinc

Storliden mine (zinc, copper)
Zinkgruvan mine (zinc, lead, silver)

Norrbotten District

Galmoy mine (zinc, lead)
Storliden

Skellefte District

Norrbotten copper-gold project
Bergslagen District

Greenfield
exploration

Skellefte District

Zinkgruvan

Copperstone-Eva
Swedish Nickel Properties
Bergslagen District
Ireland Greenfields
Galmoy

Ireland Greenfields
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Zinkgruvan

Lundin Mining acquired Zinkgruvan in
2004 and the mine constitutes one of the
company’s principal assets. Located in
central Sweden, Zinkgruvan has been in
production continuously since 1857. The
main metal is zinc, with lead and silver as
by-products. The mine, which is the largest underground zinc mine in Sweden,
is ranked in the lowest cash cost quartile among global zinc mines. The estimated reserve life is 11 years. Additional
resources may support mining for another
7 to 8 years.
In 2005, Lundin Mining conducted a
review of the mine with the objective to
increase ore production and to reduce
dilution and ore losses. New planning
tools and software have been developed
to better optimise production and to facilitate long term planning, and will gradually
be implemented. The review also includes
a study of the possibility to develop a
zone of copper mineralisation. It has been
found difficult to mine at this stage due to
rock mechanical issues caused by location on hanging wall of the currently mined
zinc-orebody. The viability of the copperorebody will be evaluated in light of current metal price predictions.
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Agreement with Silver Wheaton
In 2004, Lundin Mining entered an agreement with Silver Wheaton Corp., in which
Zinkgruvan sold forward all of its silver
production. Lundin Mining has committed itself to deliver a minimum of 40 million
ounces of silver over a period of 25 years.
In return, Lundin Mining obtained a combination of USD 50 million as immediate
cash payment plus shares and warrants
as well as USD 3.90 per ounce delivered
metal.
Operations in 2005
In 2005, ore production in Zinkgruvan
amounted to 803,883 tonnes, an increase
of 9.7 per cent from 2004 when the mine
produced 732,812 tonnes. The increase
is partly explained by the production problems that occurred in the third quarter of
2004, which were related to disturbances
of ore flow in the ore passes.
Production of zinc metal amounted
to 69,981 tonnes in 2005, an increase
of 8,434 tonnes compared with 2004.
The lead metal production amounted to
36,674 tonnes compared with 31,448
tonnes in the previous year. Ore grades
were higher in 2005 compared with 2004.
The average zinc grade was 9.4 per cent
and lead 5.1 per cent. The mine’s zinc
cash cost was approximately USc 27/lb,
compared to USc 25/lb in 2004, net of
by-products.

Zinkgruvan

Ore milled (tonnes)

2005

2004

803,883

732,812

GRADES
Zinc (%)

9.4

9.1

Lead (%)

5.1

4.9

Silver (g/tonne)

95

99

RECOVERIES
Zinc (%)

93

92

Lead (%)

89

88

Silver (%)

76

75

Zinc (tonnes)

69,981

61,547

Lead (tonnes)

36,674

31,448

1,866,061

2,038,291

85,683

69,633

27

25**

Silver (oz)
Sales (TUSD)
Zinc cash cost (Usc/lb)*

* Zinc cash cost is the sum of direct costs,
indirect cash costs and credits from by-products
** The cash cost for 2004 has been recalculated.

Zinkgruvan

Zinkgruvan

METAL PRODUCTION
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Galmoy

The Galmoy mine was consolidated into
Lundin Mining following the formal merger
with Arcon in May 2005. The mine was
constructed during the years 1995-1997,
and started production in 1997. Its main
metal is zinc, with lead and silver obtained
as by-products. The Galmoy mine has an
expected life of 5 years, with additional
resources that may support mining for
one more year. In 2002, the mine reserves
increased due to the discovery of the RZone.
Lundin Mining initiated a programme
in the spring of 2005 to improve the efficiency of the operation through higher
utilisation of production processes with
increased metal recoveries and enhanced
quality of concentrates. The concentrator
will also be upgraded from original design
to enable processing of larger tonnages.
As a part of the programme, the concentrator had a planned four-day shutdown in
September when an upgrading of the zinc
filter was carried out. The programme also
includes the addition of an extra tailings
line and back-up pumping capacity in the
flotation circuit, and a reorganisation of
the maintenance function. The main part of
the programme will be completed during
the first half of 2006.
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Operations in 2005
Ore extracted at Galmoy amounted to
644,058 tonnes in 2005 and was 4.3 per
cent higher than in 2004. Average zinc
grades increased to 13.7 per cent in 2005
from 12.9 per cent the year before. Lead
grades in 2005 were 4.0 per cent compared to 5.4 per cent in 2004. Production
of zinc metal amounted to 74,321 tonnes
in 2005, an increase of 5,472 tonnes compared with 2004. Lead metal production
amounted to 17,284 tonnes compared
with 15,002 tonnes in the previous year.
Improved processing in the lead circuit
has resulted in better recoveries with
higher concentrate grades.
Average zinc cash cost in 2005 was
USc 46/lb, compared with USc 41/lb
in 2004. The cash cost was negatively
affected by the mill shutdown during the
autumn. When the efficiency programme
is completed, the cash cost is expected
to decrease.

Galmoy

2005

2004

644,058

641,290

Zinc (%)

13.7

12.9

Lead (%)

4.0

5.4

Zinc (%)

84

83

Lead (%)

68

43

Ore milled (tonnes)
GRADES

RECOVERIES

Zinc (tonnes)

74,321

68,849

Lead (tonnes)

17,284

15,002

Sales (TUSD)

68,289

46,480

46

41

Zinc cash cost (Usc/lb)*

* Zinc cash cost is the sum of direct costs, indirect
cash costs and credits from by-products

Galmoy

Galmoy

METAL PRODUCTION

19

Storliden

The Storliden underground deposit,
located in the Skellefte District, was discovered by NAN in 1998 and became
operational in 2002. The time between
discovery and actual production was
extremely short. Following Lundin Mining’s
acquisition of NAN in the spring of 2005,
Storliden was fully consolidated into Lundin Mining.
The deposit consists of copper and
zinc, and is estimated to have ore reserves
to sustain a maximum of two more years
of production. The mine’s cash cost is
very competitive due to the high content
of copper in the ore. With the ambition of
replacing the deposit, exploration efforts
in the area are ongoing (see the Exploration section).
The Storliden mine is, through an agreement operated by Boliden, who also process the extracted ore into metal concentrate at the Boliden Area Operations,
some 90 kilometres from the mine.
Operations in 2005
Production in the Storliden mine
amounted to 319,411 tonnes in 2005,
an increase of 32,662 tonnes compared
with 2004, when production amounted
to 286,749 tonnes. Produced zinc metal
amounted to 32,024 tonnes compared
to 22,348 tonnes in 2004 and copper
metal to 10,839 tonnes compared to
8,254 tonnes in 2004. The main reason
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for the increase is the executed mine plan.
Extraction in 2005 was mainly carried out
in the Central Zone, which contains significantly higher ore grades than other parts
of the mine. In 2004, most extraction took
place in the Eastern and Western zones.
Both zinc and copper grades were higher
in 2005 compared to 2004. The average
grade of zinc was 10.9 (8.4) per cent and
of copper 3.7 (3.1) per cent.
Zinc cash costs in 2005 were less
than zero, as the income from the mine’s
by-product copper was higher than costs
from production and smelting charges.
In 2004, the zinc cash cost amounted to
USc 12/lb, net of by-products.

Storliden

Ore milled (tonnes)

2005

2004

319,411

286,749

GRADES
Copper (%)

3.7

3.1

10.9

8.4

Copper (%)

92

90

Zinc (%)

93

91

Zinc (%)
RECOVERIES

Copper (tonnes)

10,839

8,254

Zinc (tonnes)

32,024

22,348

Sales (TUSD)

58,959

33,119

<0

12

Zinc cash cost (Usc/lb)*

* Zinc cash cost is the sum of direct costs, indirect
cash costs and credits from by-products

Storliden

Storliden
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Other investments

Investments in projects in co-operation
with partners or as joint ventures are part
of Lundin Mining’s strategy. With a global
view the company actively seeks promising projects at early to advanced stages.
Although zinc discoveries are in focus,
opportunities in metals such as copper
and gold are also being evaluated as they
arise. In 2005, Lundin Mining acquired
19.9 per cent of Union Resources Ltd. and
in early 2006 approximately 10 per cent of
Sunridge Gold Corp.
Union Resources Limited
In August 2005, Lundin Mining acquired
a 19.9 per cent holding in the Australian
exploration company Union Resources
Limited. Lundin Mining’s total investment
is approximately USD 3.4 million. The
company has obtained two seats on the
board of Union Resources.

In 2000, Union Resources discovered one
of the world’s largest known undeveloped
resources of zinc, the Mehdiabad project, and owns 38 per cent of the project.
Mehdiabad is located in central Iran. The
deposit, which also contains lead and silver, is comparable in size with other giant
projects such as Century in Australia and
Red Dog in Alaska, USA.
Union Resources has entered into
an agreement with Itok, a private Iranian
company and joint venture partner, with
the objective of acquiring Itok’s share
of the project. Upon completion, Union
Resources will hold 50 per cent of the
Mehdiabd project.
Feasibility studies are expected to be
completed in the first six months of 2006.
First run economics suggest an operating
cost well within the lowest quartile of producing zinc mines globally, with possible

Activities

Mehdiabad

Eritrea
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Iran

production volumes of 500,000 tonnes
per annum of zinc metal and 180,000
tonnes per annum of lead and silver concentrates. The project could potentially
supply 5 per cent of global zinc demand.
The project enjoys the support of the
Iranian government.
Sunridge Gold Corp.
In February 2006, Lundin Mining invested
approximately USD 4.5 million in the
Canadian company Sunridge Gold Corp.
Sunridge has several advanced copperzinc-gold exploration projects in Eritrea in
northeastern Africa. Lundin Mining holds
just under 10 per cent of the shares in
Sunridge, and will be entitled to two seats
on the board of the company.

Mineral reserves and resources

Zinkgruvan
As of December 31, 2005, the Proven and
Probable Mineral Reserves at the Zinkgruvan Mine were 8.161 million tonnes grading 9.7 per cent zinc, 4.7 per cent lead
and 98 grams per tonne silver. In addition,
a copper deposit exists in the structural
hanging wall of the Burkland ore deposit
consisting of copper in the form of disseminated and stockwork chalcopyrite
hosted in dolomitic marble. The Mineral
Reserves, which are reported in addition
to Mineral Resources, were estimated
by the Zinkgruvan Mine staff in accordance with the requirements of the Canadian Securities Administrators’ National
Instrument 43-101 (“NI 43-101”) and the
Council of the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum definitions
(“CIM standards”).
The Qualified Persons responsible
for the Zinkgruvan Mineral Reserve and
Resource estimates are Per Hedström
and Lars Malmström, as employees of the
Zinkgruvan mine and members of the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.
The estimates were audited by Watts,
Griffis and McOuat Limited of Toronto,
Canada, in accordance with the provisions of NI 43-101 and the CIM standards.
The Qualified Persons responsible for the
audit of the Zinkgruvan Mineral Reserve
and Resource estimates were John Sullivan, P. Geo.,Senior Geologist and Stephen Cheeseman, P. Geo., Senior Associate Geologist.
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Galmoy
As of December 31, 2005, the Proven and
Probable Mineral Reserves at the Galmoy
Mine were 3.553 million tonnes grading
14.7 per cent zinc, 4.1 per cent lead and
26 grams per tonne silver. The Mineral
Reserves, which are reported in addition
to Mineral Resources, were estimated by
the Galmoy Mine staff according to the
standards and definitions incorporated in
the Code for Reporting Mineral Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves (“IMM Reporting Code”).
The Qualified Person responsible
for these estimates is EurGeol Mr Mike
Lowther PGeo MIMMM CEng, Mine
Superindendent. The estimates were
audited by Watts, Griffis and McOuat Limited in accordance with the requirements
of NI 43-101 and restated to comply with
the CIM standards. The Qualified Persons responsible for the audit and restatement of the Galmoy Mineral Reserve and
Resource estimates were John Sullivan,
P. Geo., Senior Geologist and Stephen
Cheeseman, P. Geo., Senior Associate
Geologist.
Storliden
As of December 31, 2005, the Proven
and Probable Mineral Reserves at the
Storliden Mine were 0.527 million tonnes
grading 8.5 per cent zinc, 3.1 per cent
copper, 0.3 grams per tonne gold and
24 grams per tonne silver. The Mineral
Reserves are reported separate from an

additional 0.323 million tonnes of Measured and Indicated Mineral Resource of
which 0.255 million tonnes is inaccessible being material predominately in pillars or beneath. The estimates have been
prepared in accordance with the requirements of NI 43-101 and comply with the
CIM standards.
The Qualified Person responsible for
these estimates is Mr. Adam Wheeler,
C.Ing, Eur,Ing, MIMM, an independent
consultant. The work has been completed with assistance from both NAN
and Boliden technical personnel. This
work also included visits to the mine
itself. For the development of the Life
of Mine Study used in the estimation of
Mineral Reserves, Adam Wheeler was
also assisted by Dr R. Dowdell (C.Eng,
MIMM), an independent mining consultant
based in Cornwall, England.

Zinkgruvan
December 31, 2005

Tonnes
(’000)

Zinc
(%)

Lead
(%)

Silver
(g/t)

Proven

6,267

Probable

1,894

9.8

5.3

111

9.2

2.5

Total

8,161

57

9.7

4.7

98

Zinkgruvan

Zinkgruvan

MINERAL RESERVES

MINERAL RESOURCES
Measured

611

6.7

1.0

25

Indicated

1,236

9.2

3.3

86

Total

1,847

8.4

2.5

66

Inferred

8,463

10.5

4.4

105

Tonnes
(’000)

Zinc
(%)

Lead
(%)

Copper
(%)

2,800

0.5

0.0

2.9

32

890

0.2

0.0

3.1
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Tonnes
(’000)

Zinc
(%)

Lead
(%)

Silver
(g/t)

2,892

15.9

4.6

31

660

9.6

2.0

5

3,553

14.7

4.1
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Measured

1,071

11.8

2.5

63.4

Indicated

536

9.0

1.6

2.3

Total

1,607

10.9

2.2

43.0

Inferred

None

–

–

–

Tonnes
(’000)

Zinc
(%)

Copper
(%)

Silver
(g/t)

Zinkgruvan Copper Zone
December 31, 2005

Silver
(g/t)

MINERAL RESOURCES
Indicated
Inferred

Galmoy
December 31, 2005
MINERAL RESERVES
Proven
Probable
Total

Galmoy

MINERAL RESOURCES

Storliden
December 31, 2005

Gold
(g/t)

MINERAL RESERVES
Proven

405

9.7

3.4

26

0.3

Probable

122

4.4

2.1

21

0.2

Total

527

8.5

3.1

24

0.3

Storliden

MINERAL RESOURCES
Measured

222

4.4

2.5

31

0.4

Indicated

101

3.5

2.2

33

0.5

Total

323

4.1

2.4

32

0.4

26

2.0

2.3

45

0.6

Inferred
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Employees

At the end of 2005, Lundin Mining had
562 employees, 317 of whom work in
Sweden and 245 in Ireland. This corresponds to an increase of 272 employees
since year-end 2004, largely due to the
acquisition of NAN and Galmoy. 86 per
cent of the company’s employees are men
and 14 per cent women.

Employees

Health and safety
EU and national legislation contain numerous regulations relating to health and
safety, which are of major importance
to the mining industry. A number of new
directives have been issued in recent
years addressing health and safety matters, related to employees exposed to
risks deriving from vibration, noise, electromagnetic fields and optical radiation,
for example.
Lundin Mining is dedicated to the belief
that respect for every individual employee
is the foundation for good business.
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A cornerstone for mutual respect is that
no one should be harmed in any way at
any of Lundin Mining’s operations. As a
consequence, the Lundin Mining Safety
Standard was implemented in early 2006,
with the prime objective of reaching zero
accidents in the company’s operating
and exploration units.
Lundin Mining’s strategy is to minimise
as far as possible the health and safety
risks to which employees are exposed
and hence to always be one step ahead
of the legislation. To support that objective Lundin Mining’s Health and Safety
standard includes specific safety rules.
The standards, which go beyond laws and
regulations, also include identification and
management of risks and also address
behaviour and attitudes to safety.
At Zinkgruvan the number of accidents
have decreased in recent years and 2005
marked the second lowest number of
accidents ever reported at the mine. This

positive development is the result of a
long-term healthcare and safety focus. For
example, all safety related activities are
monitored and handled through a safety
management system.
At Galmoy, increasing emphasis has
been placed on health and safety during 2005. These efforts have included
increased training and disaster management. A key part of the company’s emergency preparedness plan is the Mine Rescue Team, which is trained to operate in
irrespirable atmospheres.
Lundin Mining’s contractors are also
part of the company’s health and safety
standard. Boliden Mineral, the contractor at Storliden, has a long track record
of successful and systematic work within
health, safety and environment.

The mining industry is a major contributor
to the material needs and economic health
of the industrialised world. The development of mineral resources can generate
substantial wealth and become a catalyst
for economic growth, mineral production,
processing and marketing. These activities must be carried out with the natural
environment in mind.
Lundin Mining’s general principles
Lundin Mining’s business idea is to
explore for minerals and extract metals
while at the same time demonstrating
that the entire sequence of events leading to success minimize the impact to
the environment. Lundin Mining is totally
committed to managing its activities in an
environmentally responsible manner and
all company activities are thus planned
and managed to minimise the effect on the
environment.
While complying with applicable legislation and environmental requirements
Lundin Mining strives to maximize best
practices. Thus, a Lundin Mining environmental standard has been developed.
Lundin Mining trains and supports its
employees to fulfil environmental responsibilities and work closely with local
communities taking into account environmental concerns and economic needs. A
strict policy of efficient use of energy and
materials is followed in all aspects of the
company’s activities. As part of this work,
an inventory of the use of energy is made
on a yearly basis.

The principal environmental impacts of
Lundin Mining’s mining operations are
land usage, consumption of energy and
waste disposal. With regard to these
activities, Lundin Mining is subject to
extensive environmental legislation and
regulation in Sweden, Ireland and other
countries. Where applicable, the company
is subject to joint EU regulations concerning storage, emissions and waste management and the management of chemicals. In accordance with its environmental
protection undertaking, Lundin Mining
has introduced systems and routines to
reduce the environmental impact of its
mines.
All of Lundin Mining’s operations hold
the permits required for their ongoing
activities and expansions. All operations
during 2005 were conducted within the
framework imposed by legislation and
applicable terms and conditions.

The environmental objectives

The environment and
corporate responsibility

To cooperate with landowners
in the area.
To minimise disruption to
landowners, wildlife, livestock,
vegetation and the land.
To rectify any damages caused
by exploration or mining.
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Risks and hedging

zinc, zinc prices are heavily influenced by
economic fluctuations.
Through its international operations,
Lundin Mining is exposed to currency risks
including both transaction and translation
exposure. The company’s revenues are in
USD, whereas costs mainly occur in SEK
and EUR.
Hedging
Lundin Mining’s policy is to have full exposure towards changes in zinc prices which is
considered the company’s major metal.
However, as by-products from zinc
mining, the company obtains other metals
such as lead, copper and to a lesser extent
precious metals. To secure cash flow from
these by-products Lundin Mining has hedged some of its copper and lead volumes
in 2006. The major part of the company’s
silver production has been sold forward.

Copper

Q1-2006

Q2-2006

Q3-2006

Q4-2006

tonnes

1,275

1,300

800

625

(USD
million)
Impact
on earnings

As of December 31, 2005, 4,000 tonnes
of copper has been hedged through forward contracts for the 2006 production.
Lundin Mining has also hedged 12,000
tonnes of the company’s lead production
through an option strategy as of December 31, 2005.
Sensitivities
The financial results of the company are
sensitive to the fluctuations in metal prices
and currencies. The table below shows
the impact on earnings excluding hedging
and income taxes, based on a movement
of metal prices of USc 5/lb and the production volumes of 2005. The currency
impact on earnings excluding hedging and
income taxes is based on the production
volumes of 2005, and relates to SEK and
Euro movements against the USD.

+/– USc 5/lb
Zinc

+/– USc 5/lb
Lead

+/– USc 5/lb
Copper

10.5

4.5

1.1

SEK 1.00
movement

Euro 0.10
movement

+/– 18.2

+/– 5.9

FORWARD SALES
USc/lb

174

174

174

174

3,825

3,825

3,825

3,825

Q1-2006

Q2-2006

Q3-2006

Q4-2006

3,000

3,000

3,000

3,000

USD/tonne

Lead
tonnes

(USD
million)
Impact on
earnings

BOUGHT PUT OPTIONS
USc/lb
USD/tonne

43

39

37

38

940

850

825

840

SOLD CALL OPTIONS
USc/lb
USD/tonne
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50

48

48

49

1,110

1,050

1,050

1,050

Sensitivities

Hedging contracts, 31 December 2005

Risks
Lundin Mining’s properties and operations
are subject to certain risks including but
not limited to government regulations relating to mining, metal prices and currency
rate fluctuations, competition, receipts of
permits and approval from government
authorities, operating hazards and other
risks inherent to the exploration, development and operation of a mine.
Lundin Mining’s cash flow and financial
results are highly dependent on fluctuations in metals prices and currencies. The
most important metal is zinc, but the company is also affected by price changes in
copper, lead and to some extent silver. The
price of the company’s metals is primarily
determined by changes in supply and
demand from the industrial sector. Since
the automotive and the construction
industry are two of the largest buyers of

Corporate governance practices

business and operations, including progress in respect of profits, liquidity and significant contractual matters.
At its initial meeting in May 2005 the
Board appointed a number of committees,
each of which has its own charter and delegated responsibilities.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is comprised of
three Board members, each of whom is
independent of the Company. The Audit
Committee, which meets at least five
times per year, oversees the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting processes, systems of internal controls and
the audits of the Company’s financial
statements and reviews the Company’s
quarterly and annual financial statements.

Operating structure, December 31, 2005

Board of Directors
The board of directors (the “Board”) is
primarily responsible for supervising the
management of the Company’s business
and affairs. Its authority is determined by
the provisions of the Canada Business
Corporations Act and by the Company’s
By-laws. In addition, the Board’s activities are governed by a set of procedural
rules which are reviewed and adopted by
the Board annually. The Board regularly
reviews its guidelines and policies and,
not less than annually, considers how its
corporate governance practices align
with guidelines established by the Toronto
Stock Exchange.
The Board is comprised of nine individuals, each of whom was elected by
the Company’s shareholders at the 2005
Annual General Meeting held on May 25,
2005. At the Board’s first meeting, held on
May 26, 2005, the Board appointed various senior officers including Lukas Lundin
as Chairman of the Board and Karl-Axel
Waplan as President and CEO.
The Board meets as required to conduct its business, which includes the
approval of the quarterly and annual
financial statements of the Company. The
Company’s external corporate counsel is
the Corporate Secretary of the Companys
who attends at all meetings of the Board
and most meetings of the Board’s committees.
The Board’s Chairman is responsible
for monitoring the Company’s development through regular contact with the
President and CEO, who ensures that the
Board regularly receives reports concerning the development of the Company’s

Compensation Committee
Three non-executive members of the
Board make up the Compensation Committee, which is responsible for administering the Company’s executive compensation program. The Compensation
Committee meets not less than annually
to receive information concerning, and to
determine matters relating to, executive
compensation.
Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee
This Committee is comprised of three
non-management Board members and
assists the Board in identifying qualified
individuals for Board membership, recommends compensation for the Board and
its committees, and develops and implements corporate governance guidelines.

Lundin Mining Corporation
(Canada)

Lundin Mining AB
(Sweden)

Zinkgruvan
Mining AB
(Sweden)

GALMOY
Mines Ltd
(Ireland)

North Atlantic
Natural
Resources AB
(Sweden)

Lundin Mining
Exploration AB
(Sweden)

Lundin Mining
Exploration Ltd
(Ireland)
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Board of Directors
1 Lukas H. Lundin Chairman

2 Pierre Besuchet Director

5 Anthony O’Reilly Jnr Director

7 William A. Rand Director

Born 1958. Board member since
1994. Other board duties: Chairman
of Tanganyika Oil Company Ltd., Tenke
Mining Corp., Canadian Gold Hunter
Corp., Red Back Mining Inc., International Uranium Corporation, and Valkyries Petroleum Corp.; board member of Lundin Petroleum AB, Vostok
Nafta Investment Ltd., and Atacama
Minerals Corp. Bachelors Degree
in Engineering from New Mexico Institute of Mining and Technology, USA.
Shares in Lundin Mining: 51,831.
Incentive stock options: 0.

Born 1933. Board member since
1994. Other board duties: Director
of Canadian companies and Swiss
banks. Diploma from Commercial
School, Lausanne and from American Institute of Banking, New York.
Shares in Lundin Mining: 157,400.
Incentive stock options: 0.

Born 1966. Board member since
2005. Chief Executive of Providence
Resources Plc. Other board duties:
Independent News & Media PLC and
Fitzwilton Limited. BA degree – Economics and history – from Brown University, Rhode Island Shares in Lundin Mining: 21,878. Incentive stock
options: 0.

Born 1942. Board member since
1994.
Other board duties: Board
member and Chairman of Pender
Financial Group Corporation, Board
member of Canadian Gold Hunter
Corp., International Uranium Corporation, Lexacal Investment Corp.,
Dome Ventures Corporation, Lundin
Petroleum AB, Tanganyika Oil Company Ltd., Tenke Mining Corp., Vostok
Nafta Investment Ltd. and Valkyries
Petroleum Corp. Commerce degree
(Honours Economics) from McGill
University. Law degree from Dalhousie University. Master of Law degree in
International Law from the London
School of Economics.
Shares in
Lundin Mining: 25,458.
Incentive
stock options: 0.

Adolf H. Lundin Director
(not in picture)
Born 1932. Board member since
2004.
Other board duties: Chairman of Vostok Nafta Investment Ltd.,
honorary chairman of Lundin Petroleum AB and board member of Tenke
Mining Corp.
Master of Science
degree (Department of Engineering)
from the Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm. Master of Business
Administration degree from Centre d’Etudes Industrielles, Geneva.
Shares in Lundin Mining: 8,131,250.
Incentive stock options: 0.
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3 John H. Craig Director
Born 1947. Board member since
2003. Other board duties: International Uranium Corporation, Tenke
Mining Corp., Canadian Gold Hunter
Corp., Tanganyika Oil Company Ltd.
and Atacama Minerals Corp. Bachelor of Administration and Law from
the University of Western Ontario.
Shares in Lundin Mining: 10,000.
Incentive stock options: 0.

4 Brian D. Edgar Director
Born 1950. Board member since
1994. Other board duties: Pender
Financial Group Corporation, Dome
Ventures Corp., International Uranium
Corp., Red Back Mining Inc., Valkyries
Petroleum Corp., Lexacal Investment
Corp. and White Knight Resources
Ltd. Law degree and Arts degree
from University of British Columbia,
Vancouver, Canada Shares in Lundin Mining: 10,000. Incentive stock
options: 0.

6 Edward F. Posey Director
President of Atacama Minerals.
Born 1943. Board member since
1996. Other board duties: Cortex
Mining and Exploration Company Inc.
Graduate in Mining Geophysics from
the University of Utah, Salt Lake City.
Shares in Lundin Mining: 140,751.
Incentive stock options: 0.

For information regarding salaries, remunerations and pensions,
see Supplementary information.
For information regarding related party transactions, see Note 8, 10.

Board committees
Audit Committee: William A.
Rand, Brian D. Edgar and Anthony
O’Reilly Jnr.
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee: John H. Craig, William A.

Rand, Pierre Besuchet and KarlAxel Waplan (ex officio). Compensation Committee: Lukas H.
Lundin, John H. Craig and William
A. Rand.
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Senior Executives
8 Karl-Axel Waplan
President and CEO

1 Karl-Axel Waplan
President and CEO

3 Kjell Larsson
Vice President Mining

Born 1951. Board member since
2005. M.Sc. in Mechanical Engineering from the Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden. Shares
in Lundin Mining: 1,000. Incentive
stock options: 200,000.

Born 1951. Employed by Lundin
Mining since 2004. See Board of
Directors to the left.

Born 1957. Employed by Lundin
Mining since March 2005. M.Sc.
(Department of Engineering) from
Luleå Tekniska Högskola, Sweden.
Shares in Lundin Mining: 0.
Incentive stock options: 75,000.

2 Anders Haker
Chief Financial Officer
Born 1961. Employed by Lundin
Mining since April 2005. B.Sc. in
Business Administration from the
University of Uppsala, Sweden.
Shares in Lundin Mining: 0.
Incentive stock options: 75,000.

4 Neil O’Brien
Vice President Exploration

from Queens University, Ontario,
Canada. Shares in Lundin Mining: 0. Incentive stock options:
75,000.

5 Kevin Hisko
Corporate Secretary
Born 1958. Partner, McCullough
O’Connor Irwin LLP, Vancouver.
Shares in Lundin Mining: 0.
Incentive stock options: 0.

Born 1960. Employed by Lundin Mining since September 2005.
Ph.D. in Geological Sciences

Auditors
KPMG LLP, Toronto, Ontario,
Canada Lundin Mining’s auditor
since 2005.
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Management’s discussions and analysis
of results of operations and financial condition
(Amounts in United States Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Twelve months ended December 31, 2005

These Management’s comments of the financial condition and results of the
operations, analyzes the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 and is dated
March 30, 2006.
The following discussion and analysis of the results of operations and financial condition (“MD&A”) for Lundin Mining Corporation, which together with its
subsidiaries is collectively referred to as (“Lundin Mining”) or (“the Company”),
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements for the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the related notes therein.
The financial information in this MD&A is derived from the Company’s consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles. Additional information about the Company and
its business activities is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
Recent developments and 2005 highlights
Acquisition of North Atlantic Natural Resources
On December 30, 2004 Lundin Mining announced that it had acquired all of Boliden’s 11,537,000 shares in North Atlantic Natural Resources AB (“NAN”), representing approximately 37% of the outstanding shares and votes. Following the
acquisition, Lundin Mining held 23,117,000 shares in NAN, representing 74.0%
of the outstanding shares and votes of the company. On January 21, 2005 Lundin
Mining made a public offer for all outstanding shares in NAN. The NAN shareholders were offered either one newly issued share in Lundin Mining for each 5.3
shares in NAN (the “Share alternative’’) or Swedish Kronor (“SEK”) 10.75 per
share in NAN (the “Cash alternative”).
On March 23, 2005 the Company announced that shareholders holding
7,367,854 shares, representing 23.6% of the total number of shares and votes of
NAN, had accepted the offer. There were 7,331,595 shares submitted under the
Share alternative and 36,259 shares submitted under the Cash alternative. Combined with the 23,117,000 shares held by Lundin Mining prior to the offer, Lundin
Mining now holds 30,484,854 shares in NAN, representing 97.6% of the total
number of shares and votes. Lundin Mining has initiated compulsory purchase of
the remaining shares in NAN.
Acqusition of ARCON International Resources P.l.c.
On March 3, 2005 the Board of Lundin Mining and the Board of ARCON International Resources P.l.c. (“ARCON”) announced that they had reached an agreement in principle on the terms of a recommended merger of the two companies.
On March 18, 2005 the Independent Directors of ARCON and the Board of Lundin Mining announced that a formal offer would be made by Lundin Mining which
the Independent Directors of ARCON intended to recommend. The terms of the
merger offer provided ARCON shareholders with an opportunity to realize cash
value in respect of some of their shareholding in ARCON while also retaining an
investment in the enlarged group by way of a shareholding in Lundin Mining.
The merger created a substantial independent group with significant zinc and
lead mining operations in Europe, as well as copper and silver production and a
substantial exploration portfolio.
Lundin Mining offered to acquire all of the issued and to be issued ARCON
shares on the following basis: For every 100 ARCON Shares $36.2198 cash
(the “cash component”) and 3.2196 Lundin Mining Swedish Depository Receipts
(“SDRs”) (the “share component”). The cash component represented a value of
$65.3 million and the share component represented a value of $56.3 million. The
combined value of the offer was $121.6 million. The offer was conditional on an
80% minimum acceptance level.
On April 12, 2005 the Directors of Lundin Mining announced that all of the
conditions of the Merger Offer had been satisfied or waived and, accordingly, the
Merger Offer was declared unconditional in all respects. In June 2005, Lundin
Mining controlled 100% of the outstanding shares of ARCON. ARCON is consolidated in the financial statements of Lundin Mining as of May 1, 2005.

Acquisition of a 19.9% interest in Union Resources Limited
On August 22, 2005 Lundin Mining announced that its wholly owned subsidiary,
Lundin Mining AB, had signed an agreement to acquire up to a 19.9% interest in
Union Resources Limited (“Union”), a publicly traded Australian mining company.
On October 27, 2005 Lundin Mining announced that the acquisition was completed after Union obtained shareholder approval. Union is listed on the Australian
Stock Exchange and on the Alternative Investment Market (“AIM”) of the London
Stock Exchange.
Union discovered, and is now managing a bankable feasibility study (“BFS”)
over, the world class Mehdiabad zinc/lead/silver mineralization located in central
Iran, on behalf of Mehdiabad Zinc Company (“MZC”).
MZC was initially a company owned jointly between Union, IMPASCO and Itok
GmbH (“Itok”). IMPASCO, a company owned by the Iranian government, held
50%, Union’s beneficial interest effective March 2005 was 38% and the balance
was held by Itok.
Pursuant to the agreement with Union, Lundin Mining, through its wholly owned
subsidiary, subscribed for 151,000,000 units of Union at a price of Australian
$0.03 per unit. Each unit is comprised of an ordinary share of Union and an
option to purchase an additional ordinary share at an option exercise price of Australian $0.10 per ordinary share exercisable up to and including March 31, 2009.
Lundin Mining’s total investment in Union is Australian $4.5 million (US$3.4
million) and initially resulted in Lundin Mining owning slightly less than 19.9% of
the issued shares of Union. As a result of its investment, Lundin Mining has two
seats on the board of directors of Union.
Union announced on October 27, 2005 that it had reached an agreement with
Itok to acquire Itok’s position in MZC. Upon completion of that transaction, Union’s
interest in the Mehdiabad Project increased to 50%. Pursuant to the announcement made on October 27, 2005, Union issued 110,000,000 Union shares to
Itok in respect of the acquisition of Itok’s position in the Mehdiabad project.
Union announced on December 13, 2005 that Itok had not settled the share
swap agreement within the time that was stipulated in the agreement between
Union and Itok. Subsequently, Union allowed an extension of time to assist Itok to
complete the settlement. The purpose of the extension was solely to allow MZC to
obtain the formal approval of its major government shareholder to the transfer of
shares in MZC from Itok to Union, as required under the Iranian commercial code
and for no other purpose.
When the transaction between Union and Itok is completed Lundin’s holdings
will be diluted to 17.4% of the share capital in Union. However, Lundin has the
right to participate in future capital raisings which will help protect the Company
from further dilution.
Financing arrangement with Sunridge Gold Corp.
In February 2006, Lundin Mining entered into a financing arrangement with Sunridge Gold Corp. (“Sunridge”), a publicly traded Canadian mining company listed
on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol ”SGC”.
Sunridge is drilling several advanced exploration projects in Eritrea in northeastern Africa including the high-grade Adi Nefas Gossan zinc/gold/copper volcanogenic massive sulphide (VMS) project, the high-grade copper/gold Debarwa
VMS deposit, the Gupo gold deposit and several other high priority targets.
These projects form part of the Asmara Joint Venture Project in which Sunridge
currently holds a 40% interest and has an option to earn a 70% interest. The
remaining interest is held by Sub Sahara Resources (Eritrea) Ltd., a subsidiary of
Sub-Sahara Resources NL, an Australian public company.
The Asmara Project encompasses over 1,100 square kilometers and is located
immediately to the north, south and west of Eritrea’s capital city of Asmara. The
infrastructure is excellent with roads, power, water and airports servicing the project area. The licensed area covers rocks of the Nubian-Arabian shield which is a
large Pre-Cambrian shield covering much of Northeast Africa. Eritrea is a country
with immense geological potential yet still relatively unexplored by modern mining
methods. The main discoveries to date are Nevsun’s large, high-grade Bisha VMS
Project and Sunridge’s high-grade Debarwa and Adi Nefas VMS Projects.
Lundin Mining will bring to the strategic alliance technical and financial expertise and assist Sunridge to rapidly advance its projects to the production stage.
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Pursuant to the agreement with Sunridge, Lundin Mining has subscribed for
3,150,000 units of Sunridge by way of a non-brokered, private placement at a
price of CAD $1.66 per unit for an investment of CAD $5,229,000 (approximately
$4.5 million). Each unit consists of one common share of Sunridge and one common share purchase warrant. Each warrant is exercisable into one additional
common share of Sunridge at a price of $2.07 for a period of two years from the
closing of the private placement. Upon the completion of the private placement,
Lundin Mining will hold just under 10% of the common shares of Sunridge
Upon completion of its investment in Sunridge, Lundin Mining will be entitled to
two seats on the board of directors of Sunridge.
Sale of the holdings in Silver Wheaton Corporation
Pursuant to a transaction initially announced in December 2004, Zinkgruvan
Mining AB (“Zinkgruvan”) the Corporation’s wholly-owned subsidiary, received
6,000,000 shares and 30,000,000 warrants from Silver Wheaton as partial payment for the sale of all of the Zinkgruvan silver production. During the third quarter
of 2005 Zinkgruvan sold the 6,000,000 shares for net proceeds of approximately
$25.2 million. The sale of the shares resulted in a realized profit before taxes of
approximately $11.2 million, which was recognized during the third quarter.
During the fourth quarter, Zinkgruvan also sold the warrants for net proceeds of
approximately $11.9 million and a profit before tax of approximately $6.6 million.
Lundin Mining Board
On May 25, 2005, at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Lundin Mining, Mr. Tony O’Reilly Jnr was appointed as a Director of the Company. Mr O’Reilly
was previously the Chairman of ARCON International Resources P.l.c.
Lundin Mining Management Group
On April 15, 2005 Mr. Karl-Axel Waplan was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer of Lundin Mining Corporation. Mr Waplan was previously Executive
Vice President, Operations of Lundin Mining. He has held several positions within
the mining industry including Vice President of Marketing and Sales for Boliden
Limited.
Mr. Kjell Larsson was appointed Vice President of Mining of Lundin Mining as
of March 14, 2005. Mr. Larsson has over 22 years experience in engineering and
management in the Swedish and international mining industry and has held senior
management positions at Inco Limited, Boliden and LKAB
On April 4, 2005 the Company announced that Mr. Anders Haker was
appointed Chief Financial Officer of Lundin Mining. Mr. Haker has a long international financial background as well as experience from the mining industry. He has
previously held the position as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
within Boliden.

On August 3, 2005 the Company announced Mr Neil O’Brien was appointed
Vice President Exploration. Mr. O’Brien previously worked for Teck Cominco in
Mexico. Mr. O’Brien began his employment with Lundin Mining on September 1,
2005.
On February 15, 2006, Mr Manfred Lindvall was appointed Vice President Environment, Health and Safety and joined the management team of Lundin Mining.
Mr Lindvall previously held the position as Vice Presicent, Environment, Health &
Safety at Boliden.
Per share data
Year ended Year ended
December December
31, 2004
31, 2005
Shareholders’ equity/share1), ($)

6.01

Basic earnings/share, ($)

0.78

0.21

Diluted earnings/share, ($)

0.78

0.21

Nil

Nil

Dividends

4.98

Basic weighted average number
of shares outstanding

38,416,486 22,160,451

Diluted weighted average number
of shares outstanding

38,658,521 22,432,326

Number of shares outstanding at the period end

40,693,831 33,419,271

1)

Shareholders’ equily/share is defined as shareholders’ equily devided by total number of
shares outstanding at period end.

Selected annual information
Year ended Year ended Year ended
December December December
31, 2005 31, 2004(i) 31, 2003(i)
Sales ($’000)
Net income ($’000)
Net income per share, basic and
diluted ($)
Total assets ($’000)

192,073

39,922

–

29,963

4,764

181

0.78

0.21

0.02

406,814

327,174

14,445

(i) Restated for the change in the reporting currency of the Company. See note 2 of the
consolidated financial statements.

Selected quarterly information
Three months ended

Dec-05

Sep-05

Jun-05

Sales ($’000)

63,820

48,683

43,537

36,033

22,465

16,444

2,183

–

Net income (loss) ($’000)

14,221

9,637

3,170

2,936

2,090

2,738

149

(106)

Net income (loss) per share, basic ($) (i)

0.35

0.24

0.08

0.09

0.07

0.08

0.01

(0.01)

Net income (loss) per share, diluted ($) (i)

0.35

0.24

0.08

0.09

0.07

0.08

0.01

(0.01)

(i) The income (loss) per share (basic and diluted) is determined separately for each quarter.
Consequently, the sum of the quarterly amounts may differ from the year to date amount disclosed in the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements as a result of using different
weighted average numbers of shares outstanding.
(ii) Restated for the change in the reporting currency of the Company. See note 2 of the
consolidated financial statements.
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Mar-05(ii) Dec-04(ii,iii) Sep-04(ii,iii) Jun-04(ii,iii) Mar-04(ii,iii)

(iii) The Sales and Net Income is determined separately for each quarter. The sum of the
quarterly amounts for 2004 differs from the year to date amount due to the change of reporting currency. The quarterly amounts for 2004 are translated from Canadian dollars to US
dollars at the average rate during the quarter. The year to date amount is translated at the
average rate during 2004.

The general increase in sales, net income and net income per share on a quarterly
comparison are due to the acquisitions of Zinkgruvan in the second quarter of
2004, NAN in the first quarter of 2005 and ARCON during the second quarter of
2005. The metal prices of the Lundin Mining’s main metals, zinc, lead and copper,
have also increased during 2005 compared to 2004 which have contributed to
increased sales and net income.
The Company reported record net income for the fourth quarter of 2005.
Increased metal prices, supported by stable production at the mines, contributed
to higher net income compared to all previous quarters reported by Lundin Mining. During the fourth quarter of 2005, net income was also positively affected by
the sale of the warrants the Company was holding in Silver Wheaton. The sale of
these warrants resulted in a profit before tax of $6.6 million.

General Exploration and project investigation
The Company has significantly increased exploration activities after the acquisition of NAN and ARCON in 2005. During 2005, the Company spent $7.1 million
on exploration compared to $2.8 million in 2004.
Net income
The increase in net income for 2005, compared to 2004, is due to the acquisitions of the three mines and significantly higher metal prices for all metals produced by the Company. During 2005, net income was also positively affected by
the sale of the Silver Wheaton shares and warrants that Lundin Mining received
in connection with the sale of the silver production from Zinkgruvan (see note 7
to the Consolidated Financial Statements). The Company recognized a profit of
$17.8 million before tax during 2005 for the sale of the shares and warrants.

Comparison of the 2005 and 2004 financial years
Liquidity and capital resources

Summary of operations – Metal production

Year ended Year ended
December December
31, 2004
31, 2005

Zinc (tonnes)
Zinkgruvan

69,981

61,547

Storliden

32,024

22,348

Galmoy
Total

74,321

68,849

176,326

152,744

Copper (tonnes)
Storliden

10,839

8,254

Lead (tonnes)
Zinkgruvan

36,674

31,448

Galmoy

17,284

15,002

Total

53,958

46,450

1,866,061

2,038,291

Silver (ounces)
Zinkgruvan
Galmoy
Total

203,292

207,591

2,069,353

2,245,882

100% of production at Zinkgruvan, Storliden and Galmoy is included for 2004 and 2005. This
does not, however, represent Lundin Mining’s actual ownership during these periods. Zinkgruvan was acquired in June 2004. The ownership of NAN (owner of Storliden) was 74% as of
December 31, 2004 and 97,5% as of December 31, 2005. ARCON (owner of Galmoy) was
acquired in April 2005.

Results of operations
Sales
The increase in total sales for 2005 compared to 2004 is partially due to the
acquisitions of Zinkgruvan in 2004, NAN (owner of Storliden) in the first quarter
of 2005 and ARCON (owner of Galmoy) in the second quarter of 2005. The
increase in sales is also significantly impacted by the increased metal prices from
2004 to 2005.

Working capital, including cash and short term financial debt
At December 31, 2005, the Company had working capital of $63.8 million compared to working capital of $108.5 million at December 31, 2004. Cash was
$74.4 million as at December 31, 2005 compared to $86.7 million as at December 31, 2004. The change in the working capital is primarily due to the purchase
of ARCON during the second quarter of 2005 and the sale of the Company’s
holdings in Silver Wheaton in the third and fourth quarter of 2005.
Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable increased to $20.2 million as at December 31, 2005 from
$17.0 million at December 31, 2004. The inclusion of ARCON has increased the
Company’s receivables by $5.9 million compared to year-end 2004. The receivables at Zinkgruvan and NAN are lower compared to year-end 2004.
Current liabilities
Current liabilities increased to $41.8 million as at December 31, 2005 from $23.2
million at December 31, 2004. The main reason for the increase as of December
31, 2005 compared to year-end 2004 is the inclusion of the Galmoy operations
during 2005 and an increase of the short term income tax liabilities which have
increased to $13.4 million due to the taxable income generated during 2005.
Long-term liabilities and provisions
Long-term liabilities and provisions have decreased during 2005 compared to
December 31, 2004. The main reason for the change is the amortization of the
deferred revenue and changes in the conversion rate of Swedish currency to
USD. The weakening Swedish currency during 2005 has decreased the longterm liabilities when the Swedish amounts are expressed in USD.
Currency hedging and hedging of metal prices
The Company had no outstanding currency hedging contracts as of December
31, 2005. As of the same date, Lundin Mining had entered into the following
metal hedging contracts. Approximately 35% of the expected payable copper
production for 2006 has been hedged. The corresponding amount for lead is
approximately 25%. The Company has no outstanding zinc hedging contracts.

Selling, General and Administrative Costs
The increase in costs for 2005 over 2004 is attributed to the increase in corporate activities due to the acquisitions of the three mines and the establishment of
a corporate office in Stockholm.
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Copper

Volume (tonnes)

Forward sales

US$/pound

Q1-2006

Q2-2006

Q3-2006

Q4-2006

Total volume 2006

1,275

1,300

800

625

4,000

1.74

1.74

1.74

1.74

US$/tonne

3,825

3,825

3,825

3,825

Lead

Volume (tonnes)

3,000

3,000

3,000

3,000

Bought put options

US$/pound

0.43

0.39

0.37

0.38

US$/tonne

940

850

825

840

Sold call options

US$/pound

0.50

0.48

0.48

0.49

US$/tonne

1,110

1,050

1,050

1,080

12,000

The mark-to-market valuation of the outstanding contracts created an unrealized loss for accounting purposes of $2.1 million as of December 31, 2005.

Metal prices and treatment charges

Development of currencies during 2005 and 2004

Compared to 2004, the price of zinc has increased considerably. The reduction
in inventory levels of zinc on the London Metal Exchange (“LME”) seen during the
end of 2004 has continued during 2005 and into 2006. The price of zinc has continued to rise and is currently trading above 2,200 US$/tonne (1.00 US$/pound).
The price of lead has followed the same pattern as zinc and increased significantly
compared 2004. Lead is currently trading around 1,200 US$/tonne (0.54 US$/
pound).
METAL PRICES (LME/LBMA)
(average)
Zinc
Lead
Copper

2004

Change
%

SEK per USD

7.47

7.35

+2

SEK per CAD

6.17

5.65

+9

CAD per USD

1.21

1.30

–7

USD per EUR

1.25

1.24

+/–0

Contractual obligations

2005

2004

Change %

0.63

0.48

+32

US$/tonne

1,381

1,048

+32

US$/pound

0.44

0.40

+10

US$/tonne

976

887

+10

2006

US$/pound

1.67

1.30

+28

2007

407

3,678

2,866

+28

2008

202

7.31

6.65

+10

2009

3

US$/oz

The treatment charges (“TC”) and refining charges (“RC”) for copper increased
during 2005. At the same time the base TC for zinc has continued downwards
based on a deficit of concentrate and the Company believes the TC for zinc will
remain at historically low levels over the next few years. It should be noted that the
smelters benefit from higher zinc prices due to the price participation mechanism in the agreements between the mines and the smelters. The TC for lead has
decreased somewhat compared to the end of 2004.

Outlook for metal prices
The outlook for metal prices for 2006 is, in general, very positive. The growth in
demand, especially from Asia, is expected to continue and this is not expected to
be met by a similar increase in production. Accordingly, we expect that the price
for zinc, copper and lead will remain strong during 2006.
It should be noted that the price of silver for all silver production from Zinkgruvan going forward has been fi xed by the silver sale transaction with Silver Wheaton whereby Zinkgruvan receives $3.90 cash per ounce or the market price if the
market price of silver is less than $3.90 per ounce. The up-front cash payment
received from Silver Wheaton in December 2004 has been deferred on the balance sheet and is realized in the income statement when the actual deliveries of
silver occur.
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2005

US$/pound

US$/tonne
Silver

Exchange rates (average)

The Company is party to certain operating leases and contracts. Future minimum
payments under these agreements at December 31, 2005 are as follows:

2010

$ 993

$ 1,605

These agreements relate to office rent, office equipments and car leases.

The Company has agreed to deliver all future production of silver from Zinkgruvan
to Silver Wheaton, with a delivery guarantee of a minimum of 40 million ounces of
silver over a 25-year period. If at the end of the 25-year period, the Company has
not delivered the minimum of 40 million ounces, then it has agreed to pay to Silver
Wheaton $1.00 per ounce of silver not delivered.
Pursuant to the Zinkgruvan acquisition agreement with Rio Tinto, the Company
was obliged to pay Rio Tinto a maximum of $5 million in price participation payments based on the performance of zinc, lead and silver prices for a period of
up to two years. As of December 31, 2005 Lundin Mining has paid the maximum
amount of $5 million to Rio Tinto.
The Storliden mine was developed by, and is being operated pursuant to an
agreement with, Boliden Mineral AB (“Boliden”). The Company’s subsidiary,
NAN, is the operator of the mine and Boliden is the main contractor of the mine.
Ore is being processed at the Boliden Area Operations mill. After all costs of the
operation are paid, the remaining cash flow is shared in the ratio two-thirds/onethird to NAN and Boliden respectively. The fee charged by Boliden for mining the
mine is cost plus 15%. For one-fi fth of the Storliden deposit, NAN pays a 1.5%
annual royalty on the Net Smelter Return to Cogema SA.

Critical accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles requires management to establish accounting policies and to make estimates that affect both the amount and timing of the
recording of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Some of these estimates
require judgments about matters that are inherently uncertain.
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 include a summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Company. The following policies are considered to be the critical
accounting policies since they involve the use of significant estimates.

Mining properties and related expenditures
The Company carries its mining properties at cost less a provision for impairment.
The Company expenses exploration costs, which are related to specific projects,
until the commercial feasibility of the project is determinable. The costs of each
property and related capitalized development expenditures are amortized over the
economic life of the property on a units-of-production basis. Costs are charged
for operations when a property is abandoned or when impairment in value that
is other than temporary has been determined. General exploration costs are
charged to operations as incurred.
The Company undertakes a review of the carrying values of mining properties
and related expenditures whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their carrying values may exceed their estimated net recoverable amounts
determined by reference to estimated future operating results and undiscounted
net cash flows. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value of
those assets is not recoverable and exceeds their fair value. In undertaking this
review, management of the Company is required to make significant estimates
of, amongst other things, future production and sale volumes, unit sales prices,
future operating and capital costs and reclamation costs to the end of the mine’s
life. These estimates are subject to various risks and uncertainties, which may ultimately have an affect on the expected recoverability of the carrying values of the
mining properties and related expenditures.

Income taxes
Future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences
between the financial statement carrying values of assets and liabilities and their
respective income tax bases (“temporary differences”), and losses carried forward. Future income tax assets and liabilities are measured using tax rates that
are expected to be in effect when the temporary differences are likely to reverse.
The effect on future income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
included in operations in the period in which the change is substantively enacted.
The amount of future income tax assets recognized is limited to the amount of the
benefit that is more likely than not to be realized.
Management of the Company is required to exercise judgments and make
assumptions about the future performance of the Company in determining its ability to utilize loss carry-forwards and thereby realize the benefits of future income
tax assets.

Stock-based compensation
Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted the amended recommendations
of the CICA Handbook Section 3870, “Stock-based Compensation and Other
Stock-based Payments”. Under the amended standards of this Section, the fair
value of all stock-based awards granted are estimated using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model and are recorded in operations over their vesting periods.

The compensation costs related to stock options granted after January 1, 2004 is
recorded in operations.
Previously, the Company provided note disclosure of pro forma net earnings
and pro forma earnings per share as if the fair value based method had been used
to account for stock options granted to employees, directors and officers after
January 1, 2002. The amended recommendations have been applied retroactively
from January 1, 2002 without restatement of prior periods.

Asset retirement obligations
On January 1, 2004, the Company adopted the recommendations of the CICA
Handbook Section 3110, “Asset Retirement Obligations”, which requires that the
fair value of liabilities for asset retirement obligations be recognized in the period
in which they are incurred. A corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the
related assets is generally recorded and depreciated over the life of the assets.
The amount of the liability is subject to re-measurement at each reporting period.

Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies in the Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2005 are consistent with the policies applied as of December 31, 2004.

Recent Canadian accounting pronouncements
In April 2005 the CICA issued Section 1530, Comprehensive Income. This Section establishes standards for reporting and display of comprehensive income.
It does not address issues of recognition or measurement for comprehensive
income and its components. The mandatory effective date for the new Section is
for interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or
after October 1, 2006. Management does not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position
and results of operations.
In 2005 the CICA issued Section 3855, Financial Instruments, Recognition
and Measurement. This Section establishes standards for recognizing and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and non-financial derivatives. The following four fundamental decisions serve as cornerstones underlying this Section:
1) financial instruments and non-financial derivatives represent rights or obligations that meet the definitions of assets or liabilities and should be reported in
financial statements;
2) fair value is the most relevant measure for financial instruments and the only
relevant measure for derivative financial instruments;
3) only items that are assets or liabilities should be reported as such in financial
statements; and
4) special accounting for items designated as being part of a hedging relationship should be provided only for qualifying items.
The mandatory effective date for the new Section is for interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2006.
Management does not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations.
During 2005, the CICA also issued Section 3861, Financial Instruments - Disclosure and Presentation. This Section establishes standards for presentation of
financial instruments and non-financial derivatives, and identifies the information
that should be disclosed about them. The presentation paragraphs deal with the
classification of financial instruments, from the perspective of the issuer, between
liabilities and equity, the classification of related interest, dividends, losses and
gains, and the circumstances in which financial assets and financial liabilities
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are offset. The disclosure paragraphs deal with information about factors that
affect the amount, timing and certainty of an entity’s future cash flows relating to
financial instruments. This Section also deals with disclosure of information about
the nature and extent of an entity’s use of financial instruments, the business purposes they serve, the risks associated with them and management’s policies for
controlling those risks. This Section applies to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2006. Management does not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations.
In April 2005 the CICA issued Section 3865, Hedges. This Section establishes
standards for when and how hedge accounting may be applied. Hedge accounting
is optional. This Section is based on the same four fundamental decisions that
serve as cornerstones to Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement,
Section 3855 - above. Accordingly, this Section does not affect whether a financial instrument or other derivative is reported in the financial statements. The
special accounting permitted by this Section does not affect the requirement that
all derivative financial instruments be measured at fair value. This Section generally
does not permit gains or losses on hedging items to be deferred in the balance
sheet as if they were assets or liabilities. This Section contains requirements that
specify when a hedge may qualify for special accounting. The mandatory effective
date for the new Section is for interim and annual financial statements relating to
fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2006. Management does not expect
the adoption of this standard to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations.
In 2005 the ClCA issued Section 3831, Non-Monetary Transactions. The main
feature of this Section is a general requirement to measure an asset or liability
exchanged or transferred in a non-monetary transaction at fair value, unchanged
from the requirement in former CICA Section 3830. However, an asset exchanged or
transferred in a non-monetary transaction is measured at its carrying amount when:
• the transaction lacks commercial substance;
• the transaction is an exchange of a product or property held for sale in the ordinary course of business for a product or property to be sold in the same line of
business to facilitate sales to customers other than the parties to the exchange;
• neither the fair value of the asset received nor the fair value of the asset given
up is reliably measurable; or the transaction is a non-monetary non-reciprocal
transfer to owners that represents a spin-off or other form of restructuring or
liquidation.
The ”commercial substance” criterion replaces the ”culmination of the earnings
process” criterion in former Section 3830. The new requirements are effective
for non-monetary transactions initiated in periods beginning on or after January
1, 2006. Management does not expect the adoption of this standard to have a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of
operations.
In April 2005, the CICA issued Section 3051, Investments which continues
to establish standards for accounting for investments subject to significant influence and for measuring and disclosing certain other non-financial instrument
investments. Section 3051 also contains new guidance on when an other-thantemporary decline in value of an investment remaining subject to the Section has
occurred. This Section applies to interim and annual financial statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2006. Management does not
expect the adoption of this standard to have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial position and results of operations.
On March 2, 2006, the ClCA issued EIC 160, Stripping Costs Incurred in
the Production Phase of a Mining Operation. The Emerging Issues Committee
reached a consensus that stripping costs should be accounted for according to
the benefit received by the entity. Generally, stripping costs should be accounted
for as variable production costs that should be included in the costs of the inventory produced (that is, extracted) during the period that the stripping costs are
incurred. However, stripping costs should be capitalized if the stripping activity
can be shown to represent a betterment to the mineral property. A betterment
occurs when the stripping activity provides access to sources of reserves that will
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be produced in future periods that would not have otherwise been accessible in
the absence of this activity. The Committee reached a consensus that capitalized stripping costs should be amortized in a rational and systematic manner over
the reserves that directly benefit from the specific stripping activity. In the mining industry, the unit of production method is generally the appropriate method.
The Committee noted that the reserves used to amortize capitalized stripping
costs will normally differ from those used to amortize the mineral property and
related life-of-mine assets as the stripping costs may only relate to a portion of
the total reserves. The accounting treatment as described in this Abstract should
be applied to stripping costs incurred in fiscal years beginning on or after July 1,
2006, and may be applied retroactively. The Company is currently evaluating the
implications of this announcement.

Related party transactions
The Company has transactions with related parties that are disclosed in Note 12
of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Outstanding share data
As of March 30, the Company had 40,693,831 common shares outstanding and
712,500 share options outstanding under its stock-based incentive plans.

Risks
The Company’s properties/operations are subject to certain risks including but
not limited to government regulations relating to mining, metal prices and currency
rate fluctuations, competition, receipts of permits and approval from government authorities, operating hazards and other risks inherent to the exploration,
development and operation of a mine. The Company’s risk factors are more fully
described in the Company’s Annual Information Form.

Disclosure controls and internal controls
As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report, the Company’s management evaluated the effectiveness of its disclosure controls. Based on that
evaluation, the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls are effective in
ensuring that material information relating to Lundin Mining is made known to
management on a timely basis, and is included in this Annual Report.
During the period covered by this Annual Report, there has been no change
in internal control over financial reporting that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements
Certain statements contained in the foregoing Management’s Discussions and
Analysis and elsewhere constitute forward-looking statements. Such forwardlooking statements involve a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of
the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Readers
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements,
which speak only as of the date the statements were made, and readers are advised
to consider such forward-looking statements in light of the risks set out above.

Directors:

Adolf H. Lundin

Lukas H. Lundin, Chairman

Brian D. Edgar

Pierre Besuchet

Edward F. Posey

William A. Rand

John H. Craig

Tony O’Reilly Jnr

Karl-Axel Waplan

Vancouver, B. C., Canada, March 30, 2006

Management’s Report

Auditors’ Report

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Lundin Mining Corporation and its subsidiaries, and all information in the annual report are the responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors. The
financial statements include some amounts that are based on management’s best
estimates, which have been made using careful judgement. The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Financial and operating data elsewhere in
the annual report are consistent with the information contained in the financial
statements.
In fulfilling their responsibilities, management of the Company and its subsidiaries has developed and continue to maintain systems of internal accounting controls that are appropriate in the circumstances. Although no cost effective system
of internal controls will prevent or detect all errors and irregularities, these systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded
from loss or unauthorised use, transactions are properly recorded and the financial records are reliable for preparing the financial statements.
The Board of Directors carries out its responsibility for the financial statements
in this annual report principally through its audit committee, comprising management and outside directors. The audit committee reviews the Company’s annual
consolidated financial statements and recommends their approval to the Board of
Directors. The Company’s auditors have full access to the audit committee, with
and without management being present. These financial statements have been
audited by KPMG LLP, Chartered Accountants, and their report follows.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Lundin Mining Corporation as
at December 31, 2005 and the consolidated statements of operations, changes
in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2005
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.
The consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2004 and for the
year then ended, prior to the change in reporting currency as described in Note
2(b), were audited by other auditors, who expressed an opinion without reservation on those statements, in their report dated March 23, 2005. We have audited
the translation of the December 31, 2004 financial statements and in our opinion,
such translation, in all material respects, is appropriate and has been properly
applied.

Karl-Axel Waplan
President and CEO

Chartered Accountants

Vancouver, B. C., Canada
March 30, 2006

Anders Haker
Chief Financial Officer

Toronto, Canada
February 14, 2006 (except as to Note 9 which is as of March 1, 2006)
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As at December 31,

Consolidated balance sheets

Thousands of US dollars

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash
Accounts receivable
Investments
Inventories
Prepaid expenses

Long term receivables
Investments
Properties, plant and equipment
Future income tax assets
Deferred financing costs

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other accrued liabilities
Due to related parties
Income taxes payable
Current portion of deferred revenue

Capital lease obligation
Deferred revenue
Provisions for pensions
Asset retirement obligations and other provisions
Future income tax liabilities

Notes

$

7

7
8
9
11

10

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 7, 9 and 15)
The accompanying notes are an integral parts of these consolidated financial statements.
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$ 86,680
17,009
22,776
4,605
636

105,589

131,706

5,121
3,349
288,217
2,753
1,785

583
–
187,184
5,474
2,227

301,225

195,468

$ 406,814

$ 327,174

$

$

4
6
11

12(a)

2004 (restated, note 2)

74,409
20,231
–
9,609
1,340

4
5

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital
Contributed surplus
Retained earnings (deficit)
Cumulative translation adjustments

2005

10,453
7,723
7,646
–
13,434
2,509

9,486
6,528
1,247
8
3,020
2,892

41,765

23,181

1,547
55,667
12,111
16,093
34,488

–
69,423
13,334
11,137
37,978

119,906

131,872

627

5,773

243,305
1,357
25,253
(25,399)

170,278
855
(4,710)
(75)

244,516

166,348

$ 406,814

$ 327,174

For the years ended December 31,

Consolidated statements of operations

Thousands of US dollars (except per share amounts)

Notes

Sales
Cost of sales

2005

2004 (restated, note 2)

$ 192,073
(150,709)

$ 39,922
(28,671)

Gross margin

41,364

11,251

Expenses
General exploration and project investigation
Selling, general and administration
Stock based compensation

(7,146)
(8,976)
(1,887)

(2,762)
(4,818)
(452)

(18,009)

(8,032)

1,465
(511)
4,041
(2,095)

412
(84)
404
–

2,900

732

26,255

3,951

17,810
–

671
1,325

44,065

5,947

(13,291)
(811)

(1,183)
–

Other income/expenses
Interest income
Interest and bank charges
Foreign exchange gains
Unrealized loss on copper and lead hedges

14(a)

Income before the undernoted
Gain on sale of investments
Equity in income of NAN

7

Income before income taxes
and non-controlling interest
Income taxes
Non-controlling interest

11

Net income for the year

$ 29,963

$

Deficit beginning of the year
Net income for the year

$ (4,710)
29,963

$ (9,474)
4,764

Retained earnings (deficit) end of the year

$ 25,253

$ (4,710)

Basic earnings per share

$

0.78

$

0.21

Diluted earnings per share

$

0.78

$

0.21

Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding 10(c)

38,416,486
38,658,521

4,764

22,160,451
22,432,326

The accompanying notes are an integral parts of these consolidated fi nancial statements.
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Share Contributed
capital
surplus

Consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity

Thousands of US dollars

As at December 31, 2003
Exercise of stock options and warrants
Transfer of contributed surplus on
exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation
New share issues
Translation adjustments
Net income
As at December 31, 2004
Exercise of stock options
Transfer of contributed surplus
on exercise of stock options
New share issues
Stock-based compensation
Translation adjustments
Net income
As at December 31, 2005

$

20,906

$ (9,474)

2,011

–

–

–

2,011

335
–
147,026
–
–

(335)
452
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
4,764

–
–
–
(164)
–

–
452
147,026
(164)
4,764

855

$ (4,710)

1,365

–

–

–

1,365

588
71,074
–
–
–

(588)
–
1,090
–
–

–
–
–
–
29,963

–
–
–
(25,324)
–

–
71,074
1,090
(25,324)
29,963

$ 243,305

$ 1,357

$ 25,253

$

The accompanying notes are an integral parts of these consolidated financial statements.

42

$

$

89 $

Total

738

$ 170,278

$

Cumulative
Retained translation
earnings adjustments

12,259

(75) $ 166,348

$ (25,399) $ 244,516

For the years ended December 31,

Consolidated statements of cash flow

Thousands of US dollars

Notes

Cash flow from operating activities
Net income for the year

2005

$ 29,963

2004 (restated, note 2)

$

4,764

Add/(deduct) non-cash items

Amortization of deferred revenue
Depreciation and amortization
Stock based compensation
Gain on asset dispositions
Equity in income of NAN
Future income taxes
Provision for pensions and other
Net changes in non-cash working capital items

7

(3,083)
51,999
1,090
(17,810)
–
(769)
902
4,373

(429)
9,004
452
(671)
(1,325)
15
(235)
609

66,665

12,184

1,365
–
–
–
(40,514)
23,018

113,167
50,028
(2,160)
(775)
–
–

(16,131)

160,260

(70,849)
(17,957)
(4,294)
–
37,080

(92,943)
(4,946)
–
711
941

Total cash flow used in investing activities

(56,020)

(96,237)

Impact of foreign exchange on cash balances
Increase/(decrease) in cash
Cash, beginning of year

(6,785)
(12,271)
86,680

3,523
79,730
6,950

$ 74,409

$ 86,680

$

–
71,074
1,547
–
–

$ 21,207
18,693
–
541
1,131

$ 72,621

$ 41,572

$
$

$
$

Total cash-flow from operating activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Common shares issued
Deferred revenue
Financing costs
Due to related parties
Repayment of debt
Proceeds from loan facility

7

Total cash flow from (used in) financing activities
Cash flow for investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Mining properties and related expenditures
Securities held as fixed assets
Repayment of loan receivable from NAN
Proceeds on asset dispositions

3

7

Cash, end of year
Supplementary information regarding non-cash transactions
Financing and investing activities

Investments in Silver Wheaton received as
proceeds from deferred revenue
Common shares issued for acquisition of NAN/Arcon
Equipment acquired through capital lease
Common shares issued for mineral property acquisition
Common shares issued for acquisition expenses

Other supplementary information

Interest paid
Taxes paid

417
3,219

84
–

The accompanying notes are an integral parts of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(Amounts in USD unless otherwise indicated)

1. Description of business

2. Cont.

The Company has interests in base metal, silver and gold properties located in
Sweden and in Ireland.
The main assets of the company are the Zinkgruvan mine, located about 200
kilometres southwest of Stockholm, Sweden and the Galmoy zinc/lead mine in
Ireland. Lundin Mining also owns the Storliden zinc/copper mine in the Skellefte
District of northern Sweden. In addition to the three mines, Lundin Mining holds
exploration permits covering substantial areas in Sweden as well as in Ireland.
Lundin Mining also holds about 19.9% of the shares of Union Resources – which
controls 38% of Mehdiabad, zinc/lead deposit, in central Iran.

of exchange in effect at the year-end. Non-monetary items are translated at historical exchange rates. Revenue and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates prevailing during the year, except for depreciation and amortization, which are translated at the same exchange rates as the assets to which they
relate.
Following the establishment of an executive office in Stockholm, Sweden, in
April 2005, the Company decided that Zinkgruvan and Lundin Mining AB would
use the Swedish krona (SEK) as their measurement currency. ARCON will continue to use the Euro as its measurement currency and the measurement currency
of Lundin Mining will continue to be the Canadian dollar.
North Atlantic Natural Resources AB (“NAN”) has been considered a self-sustaining foreign operation, used the Swedish krona as its measurement currency,
and has been accounted for by using the current rate method.
The change in measurement currencies has been applied starting April 1, 2005.

2. Significant accounting policies
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) that require management to make assumptions and estimates that affect the reported amounts
and other disclosures in these consolidated financial statements. Actual results
may differ from those estimates.
Significant estimates used in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements include, amongst other things, the recoverability of accounts receivable, the proven and probable ore reserves, the estimated net realizable value
of inventories, the composition of future income tax assets and future income
tax liabilities, the expected economic lives of and the estimated future operating
results and net cash flows from mineral properties, plant and equipment, and the
anticipated costs of asset retirement obligations including the reclamation of mine
sites and the provision for pensions.
The significant accounting policies used in these consolidated financial statements are as follows:
(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its
wholly-owned subsidiaries and 97.5% in its partially-owned subsidiary, North
Atlantic Natural Resources AB. All significant inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation. Investments, over which the
Company has the ability to exercise significant influence, are accounted for by
the equity metod. Under this method, the Company includes in its statements of
operations its share of the net earnings or losses of equity investees. Other investments, not subject to significant influence are accounted for at cost.

(c) Investments
Short term investments are carried at the lower of cost and quoted market value.
(d) Inventories
Materials and supplies have been valued at weighted average cost less allowances for obsolescence. Ore stockpile and concentrate stockpile inventories
have been valued at the lower of production cost and net realizable value. Production costs include mining costs, milling costs, service on ground, direct labour
and mine-site overhead expenses.
(e) Mineral properties, plant and equipment
Mineral properties, plant and equipment are carried at cost (including development and preproduction costs), less accumulated depletion and depreciation
including provisions for impairment. Exploration costs are charged to operations
in the period incurred until such time as it has been determined that a property
has economically recoverable reserves, in which case, subsequent exploration
costs are capitalized.
Depletion of each mineral property is provided on a unit-of-production basis
over the economic life of the property. Depreciation of plant and equipment is
provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated economic life of the assets as
follows:
Years
Buildings, mine-site
Buildings, other

(b) Translation of foreign currencies
Effective April 1, 2005, the reporting currency of Lundin Mining was changed
from the Canadian to the US dollar. The board and management of Lundin Mining
reassessed which currency was most suitable to its financial statement users.
Based on the circumstance that most of the sales of the Lundin Mining Group (the
“Group”) are denominated in US dollars and that most of the assets owned by the
Group are valued in US dollars, a decision was taken by the board to change the
reporting currency from the Canadian dollar to the US dollar.
As a consequence, the financial statements for all years presented have been
translated into the new reporting currency using the current rate method. Under
this method, the statement of operations and the cash flow statement items for
each year are translated into the reporting currency using the rates in effect
at the date of the transactions, and assets and liabilities are translated using
the exchange rate at the end of the year. All resulting exchange differences are
reported as a separate component of shareholders’ equity. The Company has
also reassessed the measurement currencies of its corporate offices and its mining operations.
Lundin Mining AB and Zinkgruvan Mining AB (“Zinkgruvan”) had previously
used the Canadian dollar as their measurement currency and had been considered integrated foreign operations. These entities had been accounted for using
the temporal method. Under this method, monetary items are translated at the rate

Plant and machinery
Equipment

Life of mine
20–50
5–20
5

The Company reviews the carrying values of its mineral properties, plant and
equipment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying values may exceed their estimated net recoverable amounts determined by
reference to estimated future operating results and undiscounted net cash flows.
An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value of those assets is not
recoverable.
(f) Derivatives
(i) The Company uses financial instruments to manage its exposure to commodity prices. The Company applies the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
AcG-13, Hedging Relationships, relating to the circumstances in which hedge
accounting is appropriate, including the identification, documentation, designation and effectiveness of hedges, and the discontinuance of hedge accounting.
Where the Company has formally documented the relationship between the
derivates and hedged items, the risk management objective and strategy for using
each derivative, and linking all derivatives to specific commitments or forecasted
transactions, hedge accounting is applied. The Company would recognize revenue on its sales contracts when the designated production is delivered to meet
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2. Cont.
the contracted commitment.
Where the Company has not met the specific documentation standards, the
derivates are marked-to market with the resulting gain or loss being recorded in
the statement of operations.
(ii) The Company received an upfront payment in relation to the Silver Wheaton
agreement (Note 7). In addition, our past sales practices, productive capacity and
delivery intentions are consistent with the definition of a normal sales contract.
Accordingly we have elected to account for our silver sales contract as “normal
sales contract” with the result that the principles of AcG-13 are not applied to
them. Instead we apply revenue recognition accounting principles. Deferred revenue will be recognized as sales on delivery of the silver. Arrangement fees for the
Silver Wheaton agreement shown as deferred financing costs will be amortized to
operations on the same basis as the deferred revenue.
(g) Provision for pensions
Zinkgruvan has a defined benefit pension plan, which is unfunded. The cost of the
defined benefit pension plan is determined periodically by independent actuaries. The actuarial valuation is based on the projected benefit method pro rated on
service (which incorporates management’s best estimate of future salary levels,
retirement ages of employees and other actuarial factors). For each year actuarial
gains and losses, i.e. unbudgeted changes in the value of the pension commitment, are calculated. Accumulated actuarial gain s and losses are amortized over
the estimated remaining period of services.
(h) Asset retirement obligations
The Company’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various governmental laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment. These
environmental regulations are continually changing and generally becoming more
restrictive. The Company has made, and intends to make in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations. The Company has estimated the
future cost of reclamation and closure, including site rehabilitation and long-term
treatment and monitoring costs to net present value. Such estimates are, however,
subject to change based on negotiations with regulatory authorities, changes in
laws and regulations, and changes in estimated discount rate. These estimates
are reviewed annually.
The Company records a liability for the estimated future costs associated with
legal obligations relating to the reclamation and closure of its mining properties
described above.
This amount is initially recorded at its discounted present value with subsequent annual recognition of an accretion amount on the discounted liability. An
equivalent amount is recorded as an increase to mining interests and expensed as
depreciation and depletion over the useful life of the property. Changes resulting
from revisions to the timing or the amount of the original estimate of undiscounted
cash flows are recognized as an increase or a decrease in the carrying amount
of the liability for reclamation and closure cost obligations, and the related asset
retirement cost is capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related longlived asset.
(i) Revenue recognition
Revenue from the sale of metals is recognized, net of related royalties and sales
commissions, when: (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (ii) the
risks and rewards of ownership pass to the purchaser including delivery of the
product; (iii) the selling price is fi xed or determinable, and (iv) collection is reasonably assured.
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(j) Stock-based compensation
The Company has a stock option plan which is described in Note 10 (b). The
Company accounts for its grant of options under the plan using the fair value
based method of accounting for stock-based compensation. Accordingly, the
fair value of stock options at the date of grant, determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, is amortized to operations, with an offsetting credit to
contributed surplus, on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. If and when
the stock options are ultimately exercised, the applicable amounts of contributed
surplus are transferred to share capital.
(k) Income taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method.
Under this method, future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based
on differences between the financial statement carrying values of assets and
liabilities and their respective income tax bases (“temporary differences”). Future
income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates expected to be
in effect when the temporary differences are likely to reverse. The effect on future
income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is included in operations
in the period in which the change is enacted or substantively enacted. The amount
of future income tax assets recognized is limited to the amount of the benefit that
is more likely than not to be realized.
(l) Earnings per share
The basic earnings per share are calculated using the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding during the year. In calculating diluted earnings per
share, the treasury stock method is used for the purpose of determining the common share equivalents with respect to outstanding stock options and warrants to
be included in the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, if
dilutive. In applying the treasury-stock method, the assumed proceeds upon the
exercise of outstanding stock options and warrants is used to purchase common
shares at the average market price during the year.
(m) Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to
the current year’s presentation.

3. Acquisitions
(a) Zinkgruvan Mine
The Company acquired, on June 2, 2004, a 100% interest in North Mining Svenska AB (“NMS”) and a 100 percent indirect interest in Zinkgruvan Mining AB
(“ZM”) from Rio Tinto Plc (“Rio Tinto”). This 100% interest comprised all of the
outstanding shares of NMS and a loan payable by NMS to Rio Tinto. ZM owns the
Zinkgruvan mine. The purchase price for NMS and ZM was $100 million in cash
plus payments of SEK 39.7 million for working capital and a $1 million non-refundable deposit. In addition, the Company was required to pay Rio Tinto a maximum
of $5 million in price participation payments based on the performance of zinc,
lead and silver prices for a period up to two years. The performance of lead and
silver prices from the date of acquisition resulted in an additional payment of $5.0
million. No additional payments are therefore required.
The acquisition was financed through a public equity offering in Canada and
Sweden. The Company issued 20 million common shares at a price of CAD $8 per
common share for net proceeds of approximately CAD $152 million (US$127 million).
The acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method. The allocation of the fair value of the net assets acquired is as follows:
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Purchase price:
Cash paid

Purchase price:
$

111,336,000

Acquisition expenses paid by issue of shares

1,131,000

Acquisition expenses paid in cash

1,493,000
$

113,960,000

$

10,713,000

Net assets acquired:
Cash

Consideration paid with new shares

1,853,000

Mining properties

133,155,000

Properties, plant and equipment

16,155,000

Future income tax assets

4,752,000

Long-term receivables

35,896,000

2,476,000

$

42,078,000

Plant and equipment

198,000

Future income tax liabilities

(6,183,000)

Other provisions

(300,000)
$

(31,181,000)

Less:

Provision for pensions

(11,936,000)

Non-controlling interest

Other provisions

(10,083,000)

Carrying value of prior investment in NAN

113,960,000

5,195,000
2,822,000

Mining properties

Future income tax liabilities

(b) North Atlantic Natural Resources AB (“NAN”)
On December 30, 2004 the Company acquired all of Boliden Mineral AB’s
(“Boliden’s”) 11,537,000 shares in NAN, representing 36.9% of the outstanding
shares and votes. The consideration for all of Boliden’s NAN shares amounts to
2,176,800 newly issued Lundin Mining shares. Applying the market price on the
Toronto Stock Exchange for Lundin Mining’s shares of CAD $10.40 (SEK 56.32),
the total consideration for all of Boliden’s NAN shares was CAD $23 million
(approximately $18.7 million).
Prior to the acquisition of Boliden’s NAN shares, Lundin Mining held
11,580,000 shares in NAN, representing 37.1% of the shares and votes. Following the acquisition, Lundin Mining held 23,117,000 shares in NAN, representing 74.0% of the shares and votes. A public offer (the “Offer”) in line with the
Swedish Industry and Commerce Stock Exchange Committee’s (Näringslivets
Börskommitté (NBK)) mandatory bid rules was made to all remaining NAN shareholders in February 2005. Shareholders holding 7,367,854 shares, representing 23.6% of the total number of shares and votes of NAN, accepted the Offer.
Combined with the 23,117,000 shares held by the Company prior to the Offer,
Lundin Mining, now holds 30,484,854 shares in NAN, representing 97.6% of
the total number of shares and votes. As consideration for the 23.6% the Company issued an additional 1,383,321 common shares at a price of CAD $13.25
(US$10.65) per share, being the average closing price of the Company’s shares
on the Toronto Stock Exchange the two days before, the day of, and two days after
the date of announcement.
The acquisition of 36.9% of the outstanding shares from Boliden Mineral AB
and 23.6% of the outstanding shares pursuant to the Offer to the remaining
shareholders have been accounted for using the purchase method. The allocation
of the fair value of the net assets acquired is as follows:

$

Other working capital, net

532,000

$

33,420,000

Net assets acquired:
Cash

Other working capital, net

$

Acquisition expenses paid in cash

$

43,810,000
(483,000)
(7,431,000)

$

35,896,000

(c) ARCON International Resources Plc
On March 3, 2005 the Board of Lundin Mining and the Board of ARCON
announced that they had reached an agreement in principle on the terms of a recommended merger of the two companies.
Lundin Mining offered (the “Merger Offer”) to acquire all of the issued and to
be issued ARCON shares on the following basis: $36.2198 cash (the “cash component”) and 3.2196 Lundin Mining Swedish Depository Receipts (“SDRs”) (the
“share component”) for every 100 ARCON Shares.
The cash component represented a value of approximately $65.3 million and
the share component represented a value of approximately $56.3 million. The
combined value of the offer was $121.6 million. As consideration for the share
component, the Company issued an additional 5,621,239 common shares at a
price of CAD $12.53 (US$10.02) per share, being the average closing price of
the Company’s shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange the two days before, the
day of, and two days after the date of announcement.
On April 12, 2005 the Directors of Lundin Mining announced that all of the
conditions of the Merger Offer had been satisfied or waived and, accordingly, the
Merger Offer was declared unconditional in all respects. ARCON was consolidated in the financial statements of Lundin Mining as of May 1, 2005.
The acquisition of ARCON has been accounted for using the purchase method.
The allocation of the fair value of the net assets acquired is as follows:

Purchase price:
Cash paid

$

Consideration paid with new shares

65,277,000
56,347,000

Acquisition expenses paid in cash

5,347,000
$

126,971,000

Net assets acquired:
Cash

$

2,251,000

Other working capital, net

(15,030,000)

Mining properties

135,657,000

Plant and equipment

17,773,000

Other long-term receivables

3,930,000

Other long-term liabilities

(9,492,000)

Other provisions

(8,118,000)
$

126,971,000
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4. Investments

5. Inventories

Investments comprise of the following:

Inventories comprise of the following:

($’000)

2005

2004

Silver Wheaton Corp. – 6 million shares and
30 million share purchase warrants (Note 7)

($’000)

2005

Ore stock piles

Short term
$

–

$

22,776

$

2,021

2004
$

1,828

Concentrate stock piles

3,982

439

Materials and supplies

3,606

2,338

$

9,609

$

4,605

Long term
Union Resources Ltd. – 151 million shares and 151
million share purchase warrants with a total market
value at December 31, 2005 of $9.2 million.

$

3,349

$

–

6. Properties, plant and equipment

($’000)
Mineral properties

$

Plant and equipment
$

Cost

Depreciation/
depletion per
Note 2

Dec 31-04
Net book value

$ 256,825

$ 177,421

$ 7,698

$ 169,723

31,392

19,433

1,972

17,461

$ 288,217

$ 196,854

$ 9,670

$ 187,184

Cost

Depreciation/
depletion per
Note 2

Dec 31-05
Net book value

307,317

$ 50,492

39,652

8,260

346,969

$ 58,752

The net book value of assets under capital lease amounts to $1,138,000 (Nil) for 2005 and 2004 respectively.

7. Deferred revenue

8. Cont.

On December 8, 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with Silver
Wheaton Corp. (“Silver Wheaton”) whereby the Company agreed to sell all of
its silver production from the Zinkgruvan mine in Sweden to Silver Wheaton in
consideration for an upfront cash payment of $50 million (CAD 60.589 million), 6
million (post-consolidation) Silver Wheaton shares and 30 million Silver Wheaton
share purchase warrants with an aggregate fair value of $22.776 million, plus
a per ounce payment at a price equal to the lesser of (a) US$3.90 (subject to a
consumer price adjustment after three years) and (b) the then prevailing market
price per ounce of silver.
During the third quarter of 2005 Zinkgruvan sold the 6,000,000 shares for net
proceeds of approximately $25.2 million. The sale of the shares resulted in a realized profit before taxes of approximately $11.2 million, which was recognized during the third quarter.
During the fourth quarter, Zinkgruvan also sold the warrants for net proceeds of
approximately $11.9 million and a profit before tax of approximately $6.6 million.
The Company has agreed to deliver all silver produced from Zinkgruvan over the
life of mine with a minimum of 40 million ounces of silver to be delivered to Silver
Wheaton over a 25-year period. If at the end of the 25-year period, the Company
has not delivered the agreed 40 million ounces, then it has agreed to pay to Silver
Wheaton US$1.00 per ounce of silver not delivered.

Information about Zinkgruvan’s defined benefit and other retirement plans as at
December 31, 2005 and 2004 is as follows:
($’000)
Balance beginning of year/Balance
assumed by the Company (Note 3(a))

$ 11,598

$ 11,936

537

271

Interest costs

533

319

Actuarial losses

862

1,021

Benefits paid

(425)

(236)

Foreign exchange adjustment

(377)

(1,713)

$ 12,728

$ 11,598

Balance end of year
Unrecognized actuarial gains
Accrued benefit liability
Provision for indirect taxes on
non-vested pension obligations
Total provision for pension obligations

The Company has calculated its liability relating to the defined benefit plan of ZM
using the Projected Unit Credit Method. Actuarial assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:
(%)

2005

2004

Discount rate

5.0

5.5

Rate of salary increase

3.0

2.5

Long-term rate of inflation

3.0

2.0
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2004

Current service costs

Pension obligations covered by insurance policies
8. Provision for pensions

2005

Accrued benefit obligation:

(862)

(1,021)

$ 11,866

$ 10,577

237

2,196

8

561

$ 12,111

$ 13,334

The defined benefit plan is unfunded and, accordingly, there are no plan assets
and the Company made no contributions to the plan. The Company’s pension
expense related to the defined benefit plan is as follows:
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($’000)

2005

2004

537

$ 271

Interest costs

533

319

Indirect taxes

252

142

$ 1,322

$ 732

Current service costs

Pension expense

$

In addition, the Company recorded pension expense of $1,498,000 and
$610,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, relating to defined contribution plans.

9. Asset retirement obligations and other provisions
Consist of the Company’s asset retirement obligations and other provisions relating to the operations of Zinkgruvan, NAN and ARCON, as follows:
($’000)

2005

2004

Asset retirement obligation
Balance, beginning of year

$ 11,137

$

–

Increase in obligations for
Amounts arising on acquisition of mineral property
interests (Notes 3(a), (b) and (c))
Re-valuation of reclamation liability
Foreign exchange adjustment
Balance, end of year
Other provisions
Balance, end of year

6,186

11,398

76

(180)

(1,732)

(81)

$ 15,667

$ 11,137

426

–

$ 16,093

$ 11,137

Zinkgruvan Mining’s environmental consultants have presented a revised report
on the estimated closure costs of the tailings facility. The closure plan, for the
tailings facility, indicates a final closure cost of approximately SEK 10 million
($1.3 million). The revised closure plan was presented to the Environmental Court
on March 1, 2006, and a final decision is expected during the first half of 2006.
Until a final decision from the Environmental Court has been received the Company
has retained its original accrual of SEK 65 million ($8.2 million). The original
accrual of SEK 65 million has been fully amortized in the consolidated statement
of operations.
The liability for reclamation and closure cost obligations for ARCON at December 31, 2005 is $6.1 million. The undiscounted value of this liability is $9.5 million.
An inflation rate assumption of 2.5% has been used. The asset retirement obligation has been determined using a discount rate of 8%.
NAN have estimated the liability for reclamation and closure cost at December
31, 2005 to $0.4 million. The amount originally recorded to mining interests is
fully amortized.
Other provisions, $426,000 are related to obligations to land owners close to
the existing mining operations regarding future rights in explorations.

10. Share capital
(a) The authorized and issued share capital is as follows:
Authorized – unlimited number of common shares with no par value and one
special share with no par value.
($’000)

Number of
shares

Amount

Common shares issued and outstanding:
Balance as at December 31, 2003

9,776,457

Equity financing, net of financing expenses (Note 3(a)) 20,000,000

$

20,906
126,661

Shares issued for acquisition expense (Note 3(a))

171,300

Shares issued to acquire a mineral property

187,214

541

2,176,800

18,693

Purchase of NAN (Note 3(b))

1,131

Stock options exercised

380,000

659

Warrants exercised

727,500

1,352

Transfer of contributed surplus
on exercise of stock options
Balance as at December 31, 2004
Stock options exercised

–

335

33,419,271

170,278

270,000

1,365

Purchase of NAN (Note 3(b))

1,383,321

14,727

Purchase of ARCON (Note 3(c))

5,621,239

56,347

–

588

Transfer of contributed surplus on
exercise of stockoptions
Balance as at December 31, 2005

(b) Stock options
The Company has a stock option plan (the “Plan”) in which 3 million common
shares were made available for the Company to grant incentive stock options to
certain directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company. The number of common shares reserved under the Plan was based on 10% of the issued
and outstanding share capital of the Company. The term of any option granted
under the Plan will be fi xed by the Board of Directors and may not exceed 10 years
from the date of grant. No optionee shall be entitled to a grant of more than 5% of
the Company’s outstanding issued shares. There is no vesting period but a four
months lock up period from the date of grant.
The continuity of incentive stock options issued and outstanding during 2005
and 2004 is as follows:

40,693,831 $ 243,305
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2005
Number of options

2004
Weighted average
exercise price (CAD $)

Number of options

Weighted average
exercise price (CAD $)

Outstanding at beginning of year

372,500

$

6.41

585,000

$ 3.14

Granted

565,000

$ 12.00

167,500

$ 8.05

5.98

(380,000)

$ 2.10

$ 11.29

372,500

$ 6.41

Exercised

(270,000)

Outstanding at end of year

$

667,500

As at December 31, 2005, 100,000 options exercisable at CAD $7.75 each expire
on July 8, 2006, 12,500 options, exercisable at CAD $8.50 expire on October 5,
2006, 290,000 options, exercisable at CAD $11.50 expire on April 12, 2007,
85,000 options, exercisable at CAD $12.27 expire on August 8, 2007, and
180,000 options, exercisable at CAD $12.65 expire on November 8, 2007.
The Company recorded stock-based compensation expenses of $1,887,000 in
operations for the year ended December 31, 2005, using the fair value method of
accounting.
The weighted average grant-date fair value of stock options granted during the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 was CAD $2.16 and CAD $3.51,
respectively. The fair values of these options were determined using a BlackScholes option pricing model, recognizing forfeitures as they occur, using the
following weighted average assumptions:

Average risk-free interest rate (%)
Expected life (years)

2005

2004

3.0

3.1

2

2

Expected volatility (%)

30

78

Expected dividends

Nil

Nil

(c) Diluted earnings per share
(in thousands expect per share amounts)

2005

2004

Earnings available to common shareholders

$ 29,963

$ 4,764

38,416

22,160

243

272

Divided by:
Weighted average shares outstanding (000’s)
Effect of dilutive securities:
Emloyee stock options
Adjusted weighted average shares
and assumed conversions

38,659

22,432

Basic earnings per share

$

0.78

$

0.21

Diluted earnings per share

$

0.78

$

0.21

The calculation of the diluted income per share for the years ended December
31, 2005 and 2004 excluded the dilutive effect of nil options and 67,500 options,
respectively, as they were antidilutive.

11. Income taxes
The split between current and future taxes are as follows:

Temporary differences and loss carry-forwards which give rise to future income
tax assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

($’000)

2005

2004

Current income tax

$ 14,060

$ 1,168

($’000)

Future tax

$

$

Future income tax assets:

Income tax expense

$ 13,291

(769)

15

$ 1,183

Mineral properties

2005
$

Canadian tax loss carry forwards
The reconciliation of income taxes computed at the Canadian statutory tax rates
to the Company’s income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004 is as follows:
Combined basic federal and provincial rates (%)
Income tax expense based on
statutory income tax rates

Swedish tax loss carry forwards
Irish tax loss carry forwards
Provisions for pensions

2005

2004

35.6

35.6

$ 15,687

$ 2,117

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:

Other provisions

-

3,180

3,149
-

Valuation allowance

(5,642)

(1,669)

Net future income tax assets

35,472

5,474

Tax-allocation reserve

5,746

3,104

61,461

34,874

Future income tax liabilities

$ 67,207

$ 37,978

Net future income tax liability

$ 31,735

$ 32,504

Mining properties

Tax benefits recognized on prior year losses

(3,882)

(335)

50

2,325

7,143

(267)

Income tax expense

–
32,719
1,624

(2,972)

Other

505
1,164

41,114

foreign tax rates

Non-taxable income

$

3,591

Future income tax liabilities:

Difference between Canadian statutory tax rates and

Tax benefits not recognized on
current year gains/losses

–

2004

3,410

–

–

(374)

1,048

42

$ 13,291

$ 1,183

After taking into account the right of offset these
balances are presented as:
Net future tax asset

$

Net future tax liability

$ 34,488

2,753

$

5,474

$ 37,978

11. Cont.

14. Financial instruments

At December 31, 2005, the Company had accumulated non-capital losses for
Canadian income tax purposes of approximately $10.5 million, which expire as
follows:

(a) Financial risk
There is financial risk that the value of the Company’s financial instruments will
fluctuate as a result of changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates, and
the degree of volatility of those rates. Lundin Mining has entered into hedging contracts, during the year, with the objective of giving the Company price protection
if the prices of the Company’s by-products, lead and copper, were to decline. For
2006, 4,000 tonnes of the copper production from Storliden have been hedged
through forward contracts at the price $1.74/pound ($3,825/tonne). The Company has also hedged 12,000 tonnes of the lead production from Zinkgruvan
and Galmoy for 2006 through an option strategy. The Company has bought put
options at the average price $0.39/pound ($864/tonne) and has also sold call
options at the average price of $0.49/pound ($1,073/tonne).
Approximately 35% of the expected payable copper production for 2006 has
been hedged as of December 31, 2005. The corresponding amount for lead is
approximately 25%. The Company has no outstanding zinc hedging contracts as
of the same date.

2006

$

331,000

2007

$

344,000

2008

$

366,000

2009

$

568,000

2010

$

418,000

2011

$ 2,403,000

2012

$ 6,086,000

The Company also has, through its subsidiaries, other tax losses and other
deductions carried forward, the amounts of which have been tax benefited and
recognized in the financial statements.

The contracts are as follows:
12. Related party transactions
Volume 2006
Copper (tonnes)

All transactions are recorded at the exchange amount.

Forward sales (US$/pound)
(a) Due to related parties in current liabilities consists of:
($’000)
Amounts payable to companies owned
by a director of the Company

2005

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

1,275

1,300

800

625

4,000

1.74

1.74

1.74

1.74

Forward sales (US$/tonne)

3,825

3,825

3,825

3,825

Lead (tonnes)

3,000 12,000

2004
3,000

3,000

3,000

0.43

0.39

0.37

$ –

$ 8

Bought Put Options (US$/pound)

$ –

$ 8

Bought Put Options (US$/tonne)

940

850

825

0.38
840

Sold Call Options (US$/pound)

0.50

0.48

0.48

0.49

Sold Call Options (US$/tonne)

1,110

1,050

1,050

1,080

(b) Other charges from related parties consist of:
2005
Management and administrative services

2004

$ 175,000 $ 148,800

The services is charged from Namdo Management Services, a company owned
by the Chairman of the Company.

(b) Fair values
The fair value of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, other current liabilities and the amounts due from and to related parties is estimated to approximate
their carrying values due to the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial
instruments.

13. Segmented information
The Company is currently engaged in one operating segment, mining, exploration
and development of mineral properties, primarily in Sweden and in Ireland. Geographic segmented information is as follows:
($’000)

15. Commitments

2005

2004

$ 144,443

$ 39,922

Sales
Sweden
Ireland

Ireland

The Company is party to certain operating leases and contracts. Future minimum
payments under these agreements at December 31, 2005 are as follows:

47,630

–

2006

$ 192,073

$ 39,922

2007

407

2008

202

Total assets
Sweden

The mark-to-market valuation of the outstanding contracts created an unrealized
loss for accounting purposes of $2.1 million as of December 31, 2005.
The Company had no outstanding currency hedging contracts as of December
31, 2005.

$ 251,575

$ 327,174

155,239

-

$ 406,814

$ 327,174

$

2009

993

3
$ 1,605

These agreements relate to office rent, office equipments and car leases.
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16. Subsequent events
On January 16, 2006 Lundin Mining entered into a financing arrangement with
Sunridge Gold Corp. (“Sunridge”), a publicly traded Canadian mining company
listed on the TSXV under the symbol “SGC”.
Sunridge is currently drilling several advanced exploration projects in Eritrea in
northeastern Africa. These projects form part of the Asmara Joint Venture Project
in which Sunridge currently holds a 40% interest and has an option to earn a 70%
interest. The remaining interest is held by Sub Sahara Resources (Eritrea) Ltd., a
subsidiary of Sub-Sahara Resources NL, an Australian public company.
Pursuant to the agreement with Sunridge, Lundin Mining has subscribed for
3,150,000 units of Sunridge by way of a non-brokered, private placement at a
price of CAD $1.66 per unit for an investment of CAD $5,229,000. Each unit
consists of one common share of Sunridge and one common share purchase

warrant. Each warrant is exercisable into one additional common share of Sunridge at a price of CAD $2.07 for a period of two years from the closing of the private placement. Upon the completion of the private placement, Lundin Mining will
hold just under 10% of the common shares of Sunridge. This private placement is
subject to all regulatory approvals. The securities comprising the units will be subject to a four month hold period from the date of closing.
Upon completion of its investment in Sunridge, Lundin Mining will be entitled to
two seats on the board of directors of Sunridge.

Supplementary information (unaudited)
(Amounts in United States Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Significant differences between Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (“Canadian GAAP”) and International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) / International Accounting Standards (“IAS”).
The shares of Lundin Mining trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange and the
Stockholm Stock Exchange (“SSE”). Most companies that trade on the SSE are
required to report according to IFRS/IAS. However, as a Canadian company,
Lundin Mining is required to report according to Canadian GAAP. The Company
has reviewed the differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS/IAS and has
identified the following items which would or may have a significant impact on the
financial statements of Lundin Mining.
According to IFRS 3, future costs such as restructuring items, which are
expected to occur subsequent to an acquisition, should not be provided for in the
purchase price allocation. Instead, these costs should be realized in the income
statement when the costs actually occur. However, according to Canadian GAAP,
restructuring costs that are expected to occur as a result of an acquisition should
be provided for in the purchase price allocation. Restructuring costs that arose
during 2005, as a result of the acquisitions of NAN and ARCON, in the amount of
$2.1 million, have been provided for in the purchase price allocations.
According to Canadian GAAP, impairment test of assets should be carried out
by comparing the future cash flows of the assets to their carrying values. Future
cash flows are dependent on a number of assumptions, including, among other
things, future metal prices, exchange rates and discount rates. According to
Canadian GAAP, future cash flows should be based on undiscounted values. Lundin Mining believes that the future cash flows from the Company’s assets exceed
their carrying values and, accordingly, no write downs are necessary. According
to IAS 36, the future cash flows would be based on discounted values.
According to Canadian GAAP, the investment the Company holds in Union
Resources should be valued at the lower of cost or fair market value. However,
according to IAS 39, this investment would be recorded at fair market value. The
fair market value, as at December 31 2005, was $9.2 million, which exceeded the
carried cost value by $5.8 million.
Adoption of annual report
The annual report has been submitted by the Board of Directors on March 30,
2006. The balance sheets and profit and loss accounts are to be adopted by the
Company’s shareholders at the annual general meeting on May 31, 2006.
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Compensation to Directors and Management
Remuneration and other compensation Board of Directors
As resolved by the Board of Directors, remuneration is paid to the Chairman of
the Board and directors in the amount of US$180,000 per year to the Chairman
and SEK 250,000 to each of the other directors, elected by the Annual General
Meeting. In addition, remuneration is paid to each member of the Audit, Governance and Compensation committees in the amount of SEK 50,000 per year. All
expenses incurred by Directors in respect of their duties are reimbursed by the
Company.
No separate remuneration is paid to the President and CEO in his capacity as a
Director of the Board.
Remuneration of Management
It is the responsibility of the Board of Directors to review and recommend compensation policies and schemes for the Company, and to set salary and benefit
levels and award incentive stock options.
The Company’s compensation policy is designed to be competitive with similar
mineral exploration and mining companies and will recognize and reward executive performance consistent with the success of the Company’s business. The
current compensation plan for the President and Chief Executives consists of
salary, benefits, bonuses, pension and incentive stock options. In establishing
levels of compensation, the Board of Directors takes into consideration individual
performance, responsibilities, length of service and levels of compensation
provided by industry competitors. “Other Chief Executives” refers to the three
employees, Kjell Larsson, Neil O’Brien and Anders Haker, that together with the
President constitute the Company’s Management.
Compensation Committee
As of April 13, 2005, the Board constituted a Compensation Committee to
administer the Company’s executive compensation program. The Compensation
Committee is comprised of Messrs. John H. Craig, William A. Rand and Lukas H.
Lundin, a majority of whom are independent directors. The Compensation Committee shall meet at least annually to receive information on and determine matters
regarding executive compensation in accordance with policies approved by the
Board. Recommendations for changes to the policies shall be reviewed on an
annual basis to ensure that they remain current, competitive and consistent with
the Company’s overall goals.

ment will be less any severance payments to which the President and CEO may
be entitled at law in respect of the termination of the employment.
The Company and the Company’s other Chief Executives have a mutual term of
notice of six to twelve months. In the event of termination on part of the Company
a severance pay of six to twelve monthly salaries is payable. The severance pay
will not be settled against any other income. In the event of termination on part of a
Chief Executive no severance pay is granted.

Severance pay
The President and CEO obtains benefits according to prevailing terms of the
Company. The contract is for a term of two years commencing April 15, 2005
and expiring on April 15, 2007. The contract will be renewed and the conditions
unchanged unless, not less than three months prior to the expiration of the contract either party shall have given written notice to the other that it does not wish
to further extend the contract.
If the employment is terminated for any reason other than (a) for cause of the
President and Chief Executice Officer; (b) by the voluntary resignation; or (c) by
the non-renewal of the contract, then the President and Chief Executice Officer
is entitled to be paid the equivalent of his remuneration for the balance of the
unexpired term of the employment contract, i.e. to and until April 15, 2007. In the
event of a change of control of the Company, the President and CEO is entitled to
receive the termination compensation equal to nine months base salary. This pay-

Pensions
For the President and Chief Executice Officer and other Chief Executives, the
Company applies pension insurances with fi xed fees. Pension costs refer to the
expenses that affect the net result for the year. The retirement age is 65 years
and the pension agreement stipulates that pension provisions shall amount to
25–35% of the pension-entitled salary.

Remuneration and other benefits during the year
Board remuneration/ Base salary
Chairman of the Board

$

180,000

Variable
salary
$

–

Other
benefi ts
$

Pension
expense

–

$

–

Financial
instruments
$

–

Total
$

180,000

Other Board members

267,716

–

–

–

–

267,716

President and CEO

282,605

46,850

1,500,000

39,588

164,631

2,033,674

Other Chief Executives(three individuals)
Total

351,655

51,535

7,126

92,964

378,652

881,932

$ 1,081,976

$ 98,385

$ 1,507,126

$ 132,552

$ 543,283

$ 3,363,322

Exchange rates, SEK/USD: 7.4706; CAD/USD: 1.2118
Comments on the table:
• Base salary in 2005 of $282,605 consists of $63,879 paid to the previous
President and CEO for the period January 1 to April 14 and $218,726 paid
to the current President and CEO for the period April 15 to December 31.
• Variable salary was expensed in 2005, but will be settled in cash in 2006.
Actual variable salary corresponds to two months salary for the President and
CEO and the other Chief Executives.

• Other benefits of $1,500,000 was paid to the previous President and CEO
upon termination of contract.
“Financial instruments” in the table above refers to calculated fair value at the time
of issue for those stock options that Chief Executives were granted free of charge
in 2005. For disclosure of the valuation of the stock options, see below.

Allocated incentive stock options
Plan 2004/2006 Previous year
Number

Plan 2005/2007 Current year

Value/
benefi t, USD

Value/
benefi t, USD

Chairman of the Board

–

–

–

Other Board members

–

–

–

100,000

267,763

100,000

164,631

–

–

225,000

378,652

100,000

$ 267,763

325,000

$ 543,283

President and CEO
Other Chief Executives (three individuals)
Total

$

Number

$

–
–

During 2004 the President and CEO was granted stock options free of charge.
Up to December 31, 2005, the President and CEO and three Chief Executives
were granted stock options free of charge. The fair value of the options issued
under the incentive scheme program has been calculated in accordance with the
Black-Sholes options valuation model. Based on an analysis of the historic volatility for the Company’s and comparable companies’ market value, the expected
volatility during the duration of the options has been estimated to be 30%. The
terms for the option plan are stated in note 10 (b) of the consolidated financial
statements.
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Corporate directory
Officers

Registered and records office

Lukas H. Lundin, Chairman

Suite 1100 - 888 Dunsmuir Street
Vancouver, British Columbia,
Canada V6C 3K4

Edward F. Posey, President, up to April 14, 2005
Karl-Axel Waplan, President and Chief Executive Officer, from April 15, 2005
Anders Haker, Chief Financial Officer

Solicitors

Kjell Larsson, Vice President of Mining
Kevin Hisko, Corporate Secretary

McCullough O’Connor Irwin
Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada

Neil O’Brien, Vice President of Exploration
Manfred Lindvall, Vice President of Environment, Health and Safety

Share Capital

Directors

Authorized: Unlimited number of common shares
Issued and outstanding: 40,693,831 shares

Adolf H. Lundin
Brian D. Edgar *
Edward F. Posey
John H. Craig

Registrar and transfer agent
Computershare Trust Company of Canada
510 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada

Karl-Axel Waplan
Lukas H. Lundin
Pierre Besuchet

Share listings
TSX Exchange (LUN)

William A. Rand *
Tony O’Reilly Jnr *

Stockholm Stock Exchange, O-list

* Audit Committee

AGM

Auditors

Lundin Mining’s Annual General Meeting is
scheduled for May 31, 2006.

KPMG LLP
Toronto, Ontario, Canada
Company Offices
Vancouver office:
Lundin Mining Corporation
Suite 2101 - 885 West Georgia Street
Vancouver B.C. V6C 3E8, Canada
Telephone: +1 604 689 78 42
Fax: +1 604 689 42 50

Dividend
At the AGM, Lundin Mining’s Board of Directors intends to
recommend that no dividend be paid for 2005.
Next report
The three months interim report for 2006 will be published on May 11, 2006.

Stockholm office:
Lundin Mining AB
Hovslagargatan 5
SE-111 48 Stockholm, Sweden
Telephone: +46 8 545 074 70
Fax: +46 8 545 074 71
Web site: www.lundinmining.com
The corporate number of the Company is 306723-8
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Glossary
Anomaly A chemical or physical irregularity, which may be caused by elevated
content of economic minerals.

LME The London Metal Exchange - international exchange where non-ferrous
metals are traded. The LME also maintains stocks of the metals traded.

Base metals include copper, lead and zinc.

Metal content The amount of metal contained in concentrates.

Cash cost is defined as the sum of direct costs, indirect cash costs
and by-product credits.

Mineralisation A natural occurrence in rocks or soil of one or more metallic minerals.

Concentrate Product that results from the separation of the economically
valuable minerals in an ore from those with no economic value.

Ore grade The average amount of metals in a tonne of ore,
expressed as a percentage for base metals.
Ounce (oz) Troy ounce 31.104 grammes.

Concentrator Industrial plant for grinding and concentrating valuable minerals.
Precious metals include silver, gold, palladium, and platinum.
Concession Area granted by government for prospecting or mining.
Recovery The proportion of contained metal, which can be extracted from the ore.
Exploration license Exclusive right granted by government authority,
to explore for minerals in a defined area.

Smelter Plant in which concentrates are processed to separate
metals from impurities.

Flotation Process used for concentrating valuable minerals using bubbles
of air and chemicals.

Tailings Reject products from a concentrator.

Galvanising A process where zinc is bonded through a metallurgical process
to steel to protect it against corrosion.

Treatment and refining charges The payment smelters receive for
processing concentrates into metals.

Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves – Definitions
A Mineral Resource, as defined by CIM-standards, is a concentration or occurrence of material in the crust of the Earth in such form and quantity that there are
reasonable prospects for eventual economic extraction. The location, quantity,
grade, geological characteristics and continuity of a Mineral Resource are known,
estimated or interpreted from specific geological evidence and knowledge. Mineral Resources are sub-divided, in order of increasing geological confidence, into
Inferred, Indicated and Measured categories.
An Inferred Resource is the part of a Mineral Resource for which tonnage, grade
and mineral content can be estimated with a low level of confidence. It is inferred
from geological evidence and assumed but not verified geological and/or grade
continuity. It is based on information gathered through appropriate techniques
from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes which
may be limited or of uncertain quality and reliability.
An Indicated Resource is that part of a Mineral Resource for which tonnage,
densities, shape, physical characteristics, grade and mineral content can be estimated with reasonable level of confidence. It is based on exploration, sampling
and testing information gathered through appropriate techniques from locations
such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes. The locations are too
widely or inappropriately spaced to confirm geological and/or grade continuity
but are spaced closely enough for continuity to be assumed.
A Measured Resource is that part of a Mineral Resource for which tonnage,
densities, shape, physical characteristics, grade and mineral content can be estimated with a high level of confidence. It is based on detailed and reliable exploration, sampling and testing information gathered through appropriate techniques
from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes. The
locations are spaced closely enough to confirm geological and/or grade continuity.
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A Mineral Reserve, as defined by CIM-standards, is the economically mineable
part of an Indicated or Measured Mineral Resource. It includes diluting materials
(waste) and allowances for losses, which may occur when the material is mined.
Appropriate assessments, which may include feasibility studies, have been carried out, and include consideration of and modification by realistically assumed
mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing, legal, environmental, social and
governmental factors. These assessments demonstrate at the time of reporting
that extraction could reasonably be justified. Reserves are sub-divided in order of
increasing confidence into Probable Reserves and Proven Mineral Reserves.
A Probable Mineral Reserve is the economically mineable part of an Indicated,
and in some circumstances Measured Mineral Resource. It includes diluting
materials and allowances for losses, which may occur when the material is mined.
Appropriate assessments, which may include feasibility studies, have been carried out, and include consideration of and modification by realistically assumed
mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing, legal, environmental, social and governmental factors. These assessments demonstrate at the time of reporting that
extraction could reasonably be justified.
A Proven Mineral Reserve is the economically mineable part of a Measured Mineral Resource. It includes diluting materials and allowances for losses, which may
occur when the material is mined. Appropriate assessments, which may include
feasibility studies, have been carried out, and include consideration of and modifi cation by realistically assumed mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing, legal,
environmental, social and governmental factors. These assessments demonstrate
at the time of reporting that extraction could reasonably be justified.
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